
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Police and Crime Committee 

Date Tuesday 15 October 2019 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Unmesh Desai AM (Chair) 
Steve O'Connell AM (Deputy Chairman) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Sian Berry AM 
Andrew Dismore AM 

Len Duvall AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Peter Whittle AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Monday 7 October 2019 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 6559;  
Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
For media enquiries please contact Aoife Nolan, External Communications Officer,  
Telephone: 020 7983 4067.  Email: aoife.nolan@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about 
individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:aoife.nolan@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Police and Crime Committee 
Tuesday 15 October 2019 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair. 

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests; 

 

(b) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

 

(c) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 84) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meetings of the 

Police and Crime Committee held on 4 September 2019 and 19 September 2019 to be 

signed by the Chair as correct records. 
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 50 and 55 to 84 are attached for Members 

and officers only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee 
 
 

  
 
 

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee


 

4 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 85 - 106) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the completed, ongoing and closed actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee, as listed in the report. 
 
 

5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 107 - 138) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the recent action taken by the Chair under 

delegated authority, following consultation with the party Group Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, namely to agree the Committee’s report on Hate Crime, 

and to note the report as attached at Appendix 1. 
 

 The appendix to the report set out on pages 111 to 138 is attached for Members and officers 

only but is available from the following area of the GLA’s website: www.london.gov.uk/mayor-

assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee 
 
 

6 Question and Answer Session with the Mayor's Office for Policing and 
Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service (Pages 139 - 152) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Phillipa Goffe, phillipa.goffe@london.gov.uk; 020 7084 2929 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the monthly report from the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime, 

attached at Appendix 1 to the report, as background to the question and 

answer session with the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime and 

Metropolitan Police Service; and 

 

(b) Note the report and answers given by the Deputy Mayor for Policing and 

Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service to the questions asked by 

Members. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee
mailto:phillipa.goffe@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

7 Police and Crime Committee Work Programme (Pages 153 - 156) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Janette Roker, janette.roker@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6562 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the progress on its work programme, as set 

out in the report. 
 
 

8 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Wednesday, 30 October 2019 at 10am in 

the Chamber, City Hall. 
 
 

9 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:janette.roker@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Confirmation Hearings Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 15 October 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

E-mail: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



 
 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Police and Crime Committee 
Date: Wednesday 4 September 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee 

  

 
Present: 
 
Unmesh Desai AM (Chair) 
Steve O'Connell AM (Deputy Chairman) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Sian Berry AM 
Len Duvall AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Peter Whittle AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 An apology for absence was received from Andrew Dismore AM. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee


Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Wednesday 4 September 2019 

 

 
 

 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the Police and Crime Committee meeting held on 3 July 2019 

be signed by the Chair as a correct record. 

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 
 

That the ongoing, completed and closed actions arising from the previous meetings 

of the Committee, as listed in the report, be noted. 

 
 
5   Question and Answer Session with the Mayor's Office for Policing and 

Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

the questions and answer session with the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) 

and the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS). 

 

5.2 The Chair welcomed the following guests to the meeting: 

 Sophie Linden, Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime; and 

 Sir Stephen House QPM, Deputy Commissioner, MPS. 

 

5.3 Claire Waxman, the Victims’ Commissioner for London, joined the panel from 11.30am for the 

discussion on the Rape Review. 

 

5.4 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

5.5 During the course of the discussion the Deputy Commissioner, MPS, undertook to: 

 Confirm whether the MPS would publish images of the weapons it had taken off the 

streets during Notting Hill Carnival; 

 Provide a breakdown by age profile of the stop and searches undertaken under 

Section 60 of the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 during Notting Hill 

Carnival; 

 Provide a copy of Sir Richard Henriques’ QC report reviewing Operation Midland with 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Wednesday 4 September 2019 

 

 
 

 

revised redactions; 

 Provide the total cost of Operation Midland with a breakdown of the costs; 

 Look into the number of sexual offences and rape cases that supervisors were 

managing; 

 Provide details and the context of a letter the MPS sent to a third-party legal firm in 

which the MPS rebutted that they were responsible for delays to the investigation of 

the VoteLeave/Leave.EU/BeLeave Campaign; 

 Confirm when the MPS would publish its technical evaluation report on facial 

recognition technology;  

 Write to Sian Berry AM concerning the report that a facial recognition van had been 

observed during the pro-democracy protest in Trafalgar Square and respond to her with 

details on how “watchlists” were compiled. 

 

5.6 In relation to the Rape Review, the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime was requested to: 

 Inform Members when the Justice Matters meeting which would discuss the Rape 

Review would take place; and 

 Provide a copy of the action plan to address the recommendations contained in the Rape 

Review. 

 

5.7 During the course of the discussion, the Victims’ Commissioner for London undertook to 

explain how MOPAC would ensure that the Crown Prosecution Service and the MPS would 

act on the findings of Rape Review. 

 

5.8 At the end of the discussion the Chair thanked the guests for their attendance and helpful 

contributions. 

 

5.9 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the monthly report from the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime, 

attached at Appendix 1 of the report, be noted. 

 

(b) That the report and answers given by the Deputy Mayor for Policing and 

Crime and the MPS to the questions asked by Members be noted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Wednesday 4 September 2019 

 

 
 

 

6   Police and Crime Committee Work Programme (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

6.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the progress on the work programme, as set out in the report, be noted. 

 

(b) That the summary of the site visit to the South West Borough Command Unit 

on 7 August 2019, a set out in paragraphs 4.4 to 4.6 of the report, be noted. 
 

(c) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree an Annual Report 

summarising the work of the Committee over the past year. 

 
 
7   Date of Next Meeting (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The date of the next meeting was scheduled for Thursday, 19 September 2019 at 10am in 

the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
8   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 8) 

 

8.1 There was no other business the Chair considered urgent. 

 
 
9   Close of Meeting 

 

9.1 The meeting ended at 12.40pm.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 6559;  

Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 

Page 8



 

 

 

Appendix 1 

  

London Assembly Police and Crime Committee – Wednesday, 4 September 2019 
 

Transcript of Item 5 – Question and Answer Session with the Mayor’s Office for 
Policing and Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service  

 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  We now move to our main item of business, which is our monthly question and 

answer session with the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) and the Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS).  I would like to welcome our guests, Sophie Linden, Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime, and 

Sir Stephen House, Deputy Commissioner of the MPS.  At 11.00am we will be joined by Claire Waxman, 

Victims’ Commissioner for London.  We have shifted the agenda around to accommodate Claire. 

 

We will start off with questions from me on Notting Hill Carnival.  Deputy Commissioner, could you give me 

your assessment of the success of Carnival this year from a policing perspective and then also your thoughts on 

the Metropolitan Police Federation’s call for a review of Carnival after a number of police officers were 

assaulted during the event.  I will invite you, Deputy Mayor, to come in on that particular point as well, but if I 

can start off with you, Sir Stephen? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Thank you, Chair.  In 

terms of the figures, which is one way of analysing Carnival, these are the definitive figures as we have them at 

this moment in time.  There were 478 offences recorded with a Carnival flag on them, which is down 

significantly on 2018.  We saw, as always, that the highest number of offences were drugs offences at 193 

drugs offences. 

 

One of the reasons the Police Federation is making the call it made is because the next highest category of 

offences was assaults on police.  There were 33 assaults on police, although that is five less than the previous 

year, just to put it into some context, but the fact that it is down by five is not really any excuse in terms of the 

33 officers. 

 

Those injuries range from being spat at in the face, which some people - and I am not suggesting anyone here 

- might feel is not that serious.  Of course, if you are spat at in the face, you have to go through a check to 

make sure that you are not going to be subjected to some viral infection.  That treatment, if it has to be carried 

out, can last weeks and sometimes months and creates a huge amount of anxiety in the officers.  I have spoken 

to many officers who have said quite frankly that if it was a choice between being spat in the face and 

punched, they would rather be punched because, although it might hurt more, it is immediate and you know 

what you are dealing with. 

 

We also had officers who were bitten and headbutted.  One officer was bitten on his calf.  The most serious 

injury was when an officer fell over and lacerated his hand quite badly on broken glass.  Any assault on police 

is unacceptable and I understand why the Federation is asking for that review. 

 

In terms of the number of arrests. there were 354 arrests in total this year and we had 37 arrests for assaults on 

police.  We had 33 offences but I am imagining that is because on several occasions there was more than one 

person assaulting a police officer. 

 

Page 9



 

 

In terms of stop and search, we recorded 1,709 stop and searches.  That number may go up as records are 

submitted, but that would be about the number.  That is less than the previous year and the reason for that 

would be simple, I would suggest.  Last year, as Members will remember, there was a section 60 [of the 

Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994] in place throughout the two days, whereas this year - and it is a 

positive sign - we did not feel the intelligence justified a section 60 on the Sunday, but it did on the Monday 

and so it was put in place for the Monday.  The vast majority of the searches this year, as in most years, were 

under section 60.  There were just over 1,000 section 60 searches and just under 700 searches under The 

Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE). 

 

In terms of how Carnival went, it was as usual, which is a very good atmosphere on the Sunday and the 

Monday morning and afternoon, but towards the evening of Monday the nature and tone of Carnival changes 

somewhat and becomes more confrontational and that is when we get more problems.  That has always been 

the case and it was certainly the case this year. 

 

Heat was a particular issue this year for officers and we had we had many officers suffering with heat 

exhaustion.  Two were taken to hospital with suspected serious medical conditions that actually turned out to 

be heat-induced and luckily not as serious as we first thought.  That was despite huge efforts by our staff to 

get as much water and food out there as possible.  I know that the Mayor and the Deputy Mayor [for Policing 

and Crime] and you, Chair, all observed on a couple of the days and I am sure you saw the efforts that were 

going into getting water out there and keeping the officers well hydrated, but it was, as we know, extremely 

warm.  The equipment they were wearing made it much worse. 

 

In terms of Carnival organisation, there are encouraging signs.  This was the second year of the same 

organisers.  I met with the head of the organising committee a couple of times on the Monday when I was 

there and there were signs of good close working between the organisers and the police.  That is a positive 

development and we hope it will continue. 

 

There were a couple of areas where we still have concerns.  One was with the stewarding, which we feel still 

needs to be more professional.  So some of the stewarding within the arena events is good but the general 

stewarding on the routes still leaves a bit to be desired. 

 

The other issue was float safety.  This year, unusually, we had incidents with two floats, one where one of the 

large sound systems fell off a float and injured a member of the public, which is completely unacceptable, and 

another one where a float got stuck under one of the bridges because it was too high.  That, again, really is 

not acceptable, bearing in mind that it then causes the whole procession to stop.  That causes congestion and 

can be very dangerous.  That is going to have to be looked at for next year by the organisers. 

 

In general, we think it was a further step forward in terms of a safe and secure Carnival, but if I were to be 

asked whether the crowd congestion is at a safe level yet, there is a way to go.  We still worry about crowd 

congestion and that is why we are so concerned about the stewards and so concerned about keeping the 

Carnival procession moving.  I am sure Members know this, but it is probably just worth restating that the 

problems arise the minute the floats stop because the minute the floats stop, the supporters following the float 

stop as well and then the crowd just gathers around the static floats.  It becomes very difficult for crowd 

congestion. 

 

Also, for next year, we need to look at where some of the static sound systems are.  There were too many 

static sound systems grouped in one section of the footprint and that needs to be addressed for next year 

because it caused quite a lot of problems with crowd density that we were concerned about.  We did have to 

Page 10



 

 

take action during Monday to put officers into the crowd to try to relieve some of the pressure on the people 

in the crowds. 

 

It sounds like I have a number of caveats.  I do.  We are still concerned about it.  It is still a massive event.  We 

still deployed something like 15,000 officers across the whole of the footprint on the days, the biggest 

deployment being Monday.  It cannot be acceptable for 30-odd officers to be assaulted and it cannot be 

acceptable that the floats cause injury to members of the public.  There is still progress to be made but we do 

feel we are making progress. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Thank you for that, Sir Stephen.  Deputy Mayor, can I ask you for your 

observations? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Absolutely.  I echo what the Deputy 

Commissioner says around the absolutely unacceptability of any assaults on police officers.  I am grateful for 

those police officers who were out there during the two days of the Carnival.  I was there on Monday and it 

was just unbelievably hot.  I do not know how they managed.  I am surprised there were not more officers with 

heat exhaustion because it was just so hot.  I know you were there on Sunday.  There were really difficult 

temperatures. 

 

The Carnival itself appeared to be really what it should be: a real celebration of diversity and cultural heritage.  

Clearly, there are some issues that we need to look at as a partnership with the MPS, the London boroughs 

involved, Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster, and the Carnival organisers.  As usual, there will be a 

proper and detailed debrief that will take place in the next couple of weeks to really make sure that the lessons 

are learned, any issues around crowding and too many static sound systems can be looked at so that 

appropriate measures can be put in place for next year. 

 

It is, as we all know, an absolutely huge event and a really successful event.  There are still issues, but the 

Carnival and the safety of Carnival has progressed and moved a long way certainly since I was Deputy Mayor.  I 

pay tribute to the new organisers and their professional attitude.  I visited the co-ordination centre at Carnival 

and the Event Liaison Team (ELT).  I do not know if other Assembly Members had the opportunity to do so.  

There has been a significant step forward in terms of proactive partnership working, engagement, really 

understanding what was happening and proactive work with the MPS.  However, clearly, we have to learn the 

lessons and make sure that next year issues around float height, the number of sound systems on floats and 

things like that are properly addressed. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Can I bring in at this stage Assembly Member Hall, who was also there on the 

Sunday? 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes, I was, and I would like to echo the praise for the officers.  It was extremely hot and 

when you think that they were wearing stab vests.  I was with two extremely good officers and when they took 

their stab vests off when we got in the car, they were drenched.  It was so bad.  I would really like to 

compliment all of them. 

 

Last year a lot of the success for bringing things down was put down to the fact that you arrested so many 

people in the weeks leading up to the event.  Firstly, did you do the same again this year?  Secondly, I assume 

you did and, therefore, how many people were visited or spoken to before the event? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  You will be aware that 

what we have done in recent years is, rather than particularly badge our operations in the run-up to the 

Page 11



 

 

Carnival as Carnival-related, it is just part of ongoing work to reduce violence.  In the weeks leading up to 

Carnival we arrested 1,700 people for violence-related and drugs offences.  We carried out several hundred 

search warrants on addresses and we put particular effort and care into making sure that a number of these 

people, if they were released after investigation, were bailed rather than released under investigation (RUI) and 

bailed with conditions to stay away from Carnival so that we would avoid any trouble there.  We believe that 

was successful this year as it has been in recent years. 

 

It is more of an integrated approach now.  Rather than stopping doing all our anti-violence work and just 

concentrating on Carnival, we try to run the two together in a more efficient way so that we are impacting both 

of these issues in the run-up to Carnival.  The arrests and the activity leading up to Carnival do help to provide 

a safe and secure Carnival. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I would agree, but I sometimes think that if you look at those 1,700 people - and clearly 

there is a thought to Carnival on that - it puts more of an emphasis on how dangerous it really could be if you 

were not so proactive such a long time ahead of it.  For those of us who are very concerned about the Carnival 

and concerned about the amount of time it takes the police to deal with the policing of this, it should be put 

into the mix because it is part and parcel of the police doing the very best they can in terrible circumstances.  

Where this Carnival is, it is so difficult to police.  Those figures should go into it because it gives a better view 

of what is actually going on. 

 

There were 34, I read, offensive weapons.  It has been indicated to me that they were not just little knives.  

Some of them were staggeringly awful -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Machetes. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes, machetes.  Are you going to publish what you took off the streets on those days? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I am not sure if that is 

planned or not.  I have certainly seen photographs of a machete that was seized on the Sunday night.  That is 

part of the reason we put section 60 in place on the Monday because of that incident on the Sunday night.  I 

am not sure whether we are going to be publishing as a group, photographs.  I can come back to you on that. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Personally, I think it is a good idea because people need to see what you as a police force are 

up against.  I am glad you mentioned spitting and how absolutely vile it is to be spat at and, therefore, it 

underlines the great amount of pressure we put upon the MPS for the rollout of spit guards, which I will talk to 

the Mayor about at another point. 

 

Do you think it is appropriate to send so many officers into a situation where every single year we can almost 

guarantee that numbers of them will be injured? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I am not sure if I would 

say it is appropriate but that is our duty and so that is what we do.  Officers come to work knowing that they 

are at risk of being assaulted.  If you are suggesting that Carnival is inherently dangerous, 99.9% of the people 

who go to Carnival go to have a good time and most of them do have a good time.  The vast majority of the 

people there enjoyed it and probably did not see any trouble at all. 

 

It is our job to try to make sure that we take out the troublemakers beforehand and, as your question has 

indicated, we do achieve that in a large measure, but we can never achieve it completely.  There is alcohol at 

Carnival and alcohol - particularly with heat - will drive some levels of aggression and violence and officers 

Page 12



 

 

understand that is likely to be the case.  It is a massive event in London and indeed in Europe and it is bound 

to have a level of drink and antisocial behaviour and violence associated with it.  We will do all we can to 

reduce it. 

 

I would love it if no officers were assaulted.  That would be fantastic and that ultimately must be the aim of 

Carnival and the Carnival organisers.  I am sure they join with us in that concern.  All the while Carnival exists, 

and we believe it needs policing - and clearly it does at the moment - we will deploy police officers to it. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes, I do accept your comments completely, but if you are looking at it from a public order 

point of view, do you think it has outgrown the venue, if you like? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Having been involved 

in Carnivals on and off since 2001, I think any debate about whether it has outgrown the location is probably 

redundant.  It is the Notting Hill Carnival.  I know there has been talk in the past about moving it to other 

venues, but if it was moved to another venue it would not be the Notting Hill Carnival.  When you meet the 

organisers and you talk to the people who enjoy Carnival year in and year out, it is associated with that part of 

London. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I know but -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is not my job, 

frankly, to say.  I am giving an opinion but -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  All right.  I will just say to you then that we are sending so many police officers into a 

situation where we know they are going to get injured - some of them over the years very badly - and perhaps 

something should be rethought, but I will leave it at that.  Thank you. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Good morning.  I just wanted to ask a factual question really.  Do you have an estimated 

number of people who attended Carnival?  When is it at its most crowded? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  To be honest with you, 

I have figures on virtually everything, but I am not sure if I have an overall attendance figure.  I can tell you 

when it is at its most crowded and that is on the Monday.  What particular point?  I would suggest  

mid-afternoon on Monday, from my personal observations.  A lot of people start to leave at around 5.00pm or 

6.00pm and either less desirable elements arrive at 5.00pm or 6.00pm or, because everybody else is leaving, 

they are more obvious around that time.  I would say mid-afternoon is peak period on the Monday. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Is it right that the police now for some reason do not issue figures on crowd numbers? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We do not think there 

is any accurate way of recording that.  You have to bear in mind of course - and I know you know this - that 

Carnival is not ticketed.  We do not count people in and count people out.  It is impossible to know really what 

the numbers are.  I am sure you could put a grid square over the crowd and assume a certain density and try to 

come to a total, but you would never get agreement. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  It is very difficult to get an absolutely precise 

figure, but the estimate is about one million people over the course of the weekend.  How accurate that is I do 

not know but that is the figure that I have been given. 

 

Page 13



 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Good morning, Deputy Mayor.  Good morning, Deputy Commissioner. 

 

Just to echo your comments, I agree that Carnival is a cultural event.  It is not an event where the police need 

to be forceful.  It is not a demonstration.  It is not a protest.  It is a range of people coming together to 

celebrate everything that is good about London and the Caribbean community.  Also, this year, we again had 

the 72-second silence to remember the Grenfell [Tower fire] victims. 

 

I just wanted to know from your perspective about the work with the organisers, who have done a lot in terms 

of making sure that this year’s event was a lot more peaceful and a lot more successful.  Is there anything you 

would change in the run-up to next year to try to make sure that again we see a quite peaceful and enjoyable 

event for everyone to enjoy? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  That is a good 

question.  I am not sure I would change anything.  I would say more of the same. 

 

You will probably be aware that we ran a joint planning event at Hendon Training Centre with the organisers 

for a day.  That was very useful and it helped to start to build a team ethos between us and the organisers, 

which worked well on the day.  The Deputy Mayor said she visited the ELT where the organisers worked from.  

So did I.  There were police officers embedded in that and the communication worked well.  Inevitably, with 

the sort of event we are talking about, there are problems.  Floats get delayed or stuck.  People cannot get in 

or out with various vehicles that need to get in or out and that has to be resolved minute by minute.  If you 

have a team spirit there, it does certainly help.  I would just say more co-ordination and more joint training. 

 

I would emphasise - and we have already said it to the organisers and they know it - that the stewarding is still 

a big issue.  It is all very well having loads of stewards, but if they do not feel empowered or are not properly 

trained and directed and led, they are not going to do the work that we need doing and that is when we have 

to deploy police officers to do that.  We really should not have to deploy police officers to do stewarding 

duties, but because of crowd safety it is a necessity at times. 

 

I would echo that that is going in the right direction.  It would be good if we could have conversations with 

them, picking up on the question earlier, specifically about how we reduce the number of assaults on police 

officers and what we can do there.  There are things we could do, I am sure, to do that. 

 

As I said earlier, one of the things that we think works well are the arena events where actually, although you 

are in the footprint of Carnival, you have to gain entry.  Rampage, for example, was very well organised and 

very well stewarded and really takes care of its own footprint very well.  That means we do not have to.  We 

would encourage more and more of those sorts of enterprises within the Carnival footprint. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Yes.  I know that that is something a number of the big promoters and DJs are 

thinking about in terms of their crowds and their audiences that come. 

 

The other thing I just wanted to ask finally was around the figures that you quoted for the arrests.  There were 

1,000 under section 60 and then 700-odd [under PACE].  Do you have a breakdown in terms of -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  They were not arrests.  

They were stops. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Do you have just a rough estimate in terms of a breakdown by age profile? 

 

Page 14



 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not have that at 

the moment, I am afraid.  We would not have had that by this stage but I can get it to you in due course. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  That is fine.  Thank you. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Inevitably it is probably 

going to be fairly young.  I say ‘inevitably’ but maybe not.  I will -- 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  I would assume that on Monday it would have been more older adults as opposed to 

young teenagers. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes.  It might be.  I do 

not know and so I should not talk without the analysis of it. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  That is fine.  Great.  Thank you.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  All right.  I have just two points from my part and then the next section.  I 

attended the ELT onsite and, again, the joint working of all the different agencies, including the representative 

from the Greater London Authority (GLA), was very impressive. 

 

Secondly, it goes without saying that we thank through you all the officers who were on duty over the 

weekend and indeed in the run-up to Carnival for all the work that they did in sometimes very difficult 

circumstances. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes.  This year was a 

particularly difficult year for officers because of the heat.  I know it seems quite a glib thing to say, but it was 

so unbearably hot, particularly on the Monday, and officers were all wearing the protective equipment and the 

vests.  Then we had other officers who were wearing what we call ‘baby grows’.  They are incredibly hot inside 

those.  The officers did an amazing job just carrying out their functions so well in such heat and in some 

extreme circumstances. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Two years ago, this Committee produced a report entitled Making Carnival Safer 

and Better.  Some of the recommendations are still as relevant as ever and there are issues which because of 

time I will not go into now but, Deputy Mayor, I will write to you about the marketing of Carnival, maximising 

Carnival’s potential and so on. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes.  As I said, there will be a proper debrief.  A 

proper partnership debrief will take place with the partnership group and we certainly could look at the report 

to see if there is anything within that that has not been implemented already and what recommendations there 

are that might be useful. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Moving on - I am conscious of the time - we will now move on to 

the issue of violence.  I will ask Assembly Member Whittle to lead on this. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Could I start on the issue of the rise in particular of knife crime?  This is a broad question 

of you both.  We have seen a recent increase in section 60 powers.  How do you anticipate this reducing 

violent crime in the capital?  Could I maybe start by asking you, Deputy Commissioner? 

 

Page 15



 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  The Commissioner has 

made clear her views on stop and search from the time she took over the role of Commissioner, which is that it 

should be used as an effective police tactic, that it should be used professionally by officers and that 

complaints arise when it is not done professionally and we do not explain properly what we are doing. 

 

We have seen stop and search numbers grow month on month over the last 12 months now and we still 

maintain that stop and search is an effective tool.  Section 60, a subset of stop and search, is particularly 

effective and, as you are well aware because we have discussed it before, it is done around either violent 

incidents or the anticipation of violent incidents.  The recent change that the Government has introduced, 

reducing the level back down for authorisation to Inspector, is something that we have taken on board.  We 

have not seen as a result of that a massive increase in the use of section 60 because the MPS always had on 

duty and on call a senior officer whose job it was to authorise section 60s.  The fact that it has now gone to 

Inspector level has not necessarily changed our attitude to the use of it. For instance, after the tragic murder 

last night of a young boy through a stabbing incident, a section 60 was put in place.  We will continue to use it 

as and when we think it is an appropriate measure to use. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  We have had various announcements from the new Government about this subject and 

about the need for stop and search, etc.  I just wondered what effect those public announcements have in the 

awareness of people who might be carrying knives.  As I understand it, there is always a bit of a gap between 

what people think might happen to them and what the reality is.  This was very highly publicised.  Would that 

have filtered down already, as it were? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I suppose my answer to 

that is, regardless of what the Government is saying, people in London are aware that the MPS is doing more 

stop and search.  Communities are aware that there is more stop and search being done. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  They are?  They really are? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  That is greeted 

positively in many areas but is greeted with some concern in others.  Where it is greeted with concern it is our 

job to try to explain why we are doing it and try to make sure that the local communities, particularly the 

advisory groups, are confident that we are using the power appropriately and within professional parameters.  

There is no lack of awareness in Londoners that stop and search has been on the increase.  We talk about it a 

lot and officers are exercising the power increasingly.  We are seeing more officers from territorial units, as 

opposed to specialist units, embracing stop and search, almost relearning the power and using it more 

effectively.  We think that is to the good. 

 

We will continue to monitor our stop and search.  As you know, we have about 20,000 body-worn cameras out 

there with our officers.  In about 90% of our stop and search cases the body-worn video is on and we will 

review that if there are any problems.  Officers turn it on because they know it protects them as much as 

anything else.  That indicates to me that the vast majority of our stop and searches are done properly and are 

done professionally. 

 

However, there is no real need for us to publicise the fact around stop and search.  People know they are going 

to get stopped and searched if there is a reason for it. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  I see.  You already mentioned briefly there a bit about how you engage with stakeholders 

about when a section 60 is going to be in operation.  First of all, I know it must vary from area to area, but who 

would those stakeholders be and how did you go about doing it? 

Page 16



 

 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  All right.  One of the 

things that we are very keen to do is to make sure that, for instance, if we are anticipating violence or there 

has been a violent incident, particularly if there has been a homicide, we are very keen to make sure that what I 

will call our stakeholders for the time being and our partners are aware of what we are doing, are aware of the 

incident and are aware of our response to it. 

 

In one incident that I checked up on, I saw the email that had gone out to our partners explaining that there 

had been a violent incident and that a section 60 was in place.  There were 91 recipients of that email.  I did 

not memorise them, but I can tell you that it would be local authority partners and a number of people in the 

local authority including the Leader and the Chief Executive and working down through the local authority as 

well.  It would be local community groups.  It would be local Members of Parliament.  It would be local 

councillors.  It was to try to spread as widely as possible the knowledge of what had happened and what we 

were doing about it, perhaps putting a section 60 in place. 

 

It will vary from place to place because everyone has a different network of partners.  It is done by email in 

some places.  It is done by texts in others.  I am sure in many other places it is done through informal phone 

calls as well. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Would that include hospitals? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It would do in some 

areas, potentially, yes, but they would not be top of our list.  Our main issue is around local authority partners 

and local public representatives and elected officials. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  I am sorry to be so detailed about it, but it is quite important.  You mentioned your 

example there with the email.  What is the kind of time scale then?  You have an incident, you think, “We have 

to have a section 60”, and then you send out a communication.  Would that be in a period of how many hours? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  When I get told about 

a homicide - and I am usually told by text within, I would say, half an hour to an hour of it happening - the first 

question I will ask often back to the officer reporting it to me is whether local partners have been informed.  

Almost always, the answer is yes, but I need to be clear that it will depend on time of day as to who receives 

the message and at what time they receive it.  If we send an email, people are not going to get that at 3.00am 

in the morning, although we may well send it at 3.00am in the morning.  The Inspector on duty will often be 

charged with contacting local partners.  If that is at 3.00am in the morning, we do not really expect our local 

partners to respond to it straight away, but we do expect them to be aware of it when they open up their 

emails in the morning. 

 

Also, often there are practicalities around it.  If there has been a homicide or a big incident, we will run some 

sort of Gold Group of partners to discuss what has happened and discuss what the implications are.  That 

would probably be set for the following morning or midday or something like that and we would expect 

partners to respond and come to that.  I cannot put a hard-and-fast rule on it because we work 24 hours a day, 

seven days a week. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  No, but it is an important to get an impression of how you work. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Sure. 

 

Page 17



 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Deputy Mayor, could you tell me what the most up-to-date figures are for the reduction 

in injury?  I did read just in the press a while ago - I think in the Sunday Times - that there had been something 

like a 20% or 25% reduction in injury in under-25-year-olds.  Do you have more detail or more up-to-date 

figures?  This must have been about a month ago. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  The reduction in knife crime with injury for 

under-25s over the last year has been just below 20%. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Is that for all age groups? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  No, knife crime with injury for the under-25s.  

Clearly, all knife crime and injury is incredibly important, but that is one of the key figures that we are 

monitoring to give us an idea about what is happening around knife crime that you are asking about.  That is 

the key figure that we have been monitoring.  It is down by nearly 20% over the last year. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  That is over the last year and so, if the new intensification or extension of stop and 

search carries on - and I know it is speculation - you would presumably hope that that would increase that 

decline? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I want to see all knife crime -- 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  No, I am trying to be realistic. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  -- significantly decrease and we would like to see 

that 20% reduction - it sounds strange - increase.  We want a larger reduction, also, clearly, in the number of 

murders that are taking place.  We really want to see a significant reduction in that.  I would hope that the 

level of activity by the MPS at the moment out there not just for the Violent Crime Task Force but across the 

whole of the MPS and their focus on violence will bring those figures down - and as we know, it is not the 

figures but those people and communities that are affected - so that we can start to feel that and the 

community can start to feel the improvements. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  I see.  Deputy Commissioner, if I could just ask you again to go back a little bit, you have 

mentioned it but when you are engaging with people in a local community, has the reaction on the whole been 

that people are in favour of greater stop and search powers?  Are they, in other words, reassured?  Are they 

pleased?  When we have had various witnesses here before us, people might have qualms about some things, 

but on the basic they seem to think it has to be there.  I just wondered what the reaction was amongst 

communities towards it increasing. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  What communities 

want is to be confident that their police service is there to protect them and will use the tools that it is given 

under law to protect the communities.  Quite clearly, some people will see stop and search as intrusive and 

challenging for them.  My personal experience from talking to people across London, including the victims’ 

families, is one where they want more stop and search, but they want quality stop and search and stop and 

search done professionally and where possible - I am being realistic here - with courtesy.  I want my officers, 

and the Commissioner has been very clear that she wants her officers, to act professionally at all times.  They 

do face a lot of difficulties on the streets on occasions.  We know the assault numbers are far too high.  At 

least 70 officers a week are being assaulted across the MPS area.  That is too high.  There is difficulty out there 

and some confrontations, but I believe strongly that the vast majority of the law-abiding public want to see 

Page 18



 

 

crime down and safety up and, if that means more stop and search, they support that so long as it is done by a 

professional organisation, which I believe it is. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  What more can you do, do you think, in the long term to engage and reassure and be 

effective?  What more can you do? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is a simple answer to 

that: if the Government gives us 6,000 extra police officers out of the 20,000 that it promised, then we will put 

more officers onto the street.  We will have a greater police presence on the street.  We can reinforce our 

dedicated ward officers and our local community officers.  Where they are broken - and there are many strong 

community links - and where they have faded through loss of numbers of police officers, we can re-establish 

those.  We can improve the safety on the streets for Londoners, but we need more police officers to do that.  

We need 6,000 more police officers to do that. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  That is a fair point.  I am going to be quite specific here, if I can ask of you both.  The 

Home Office launched a consultation on draft guidance in relation to the operation and application of the new 

knife crime prevention orders.  What are your views on how this approach can steer people away from knife 

crime and serious crime?  What are your views? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is no secret that 

some of our officers had a lot to do with the development of this proposal.  I know the officer personally and I 

know that his pure intention behind the developing of this thinking was as a preventative measure and was 

based on feedback that he was getting from communities.  They were saying, “We know so-and-so is carrying 

a knife or is hanging around with the wrong people.  What do we do about that?  What do we do with that 

information?  We do not want them criminalised.  We do not want them thrown into the criminal justice 

system.  We want them stopped from carrying a knife and we want them stopped from associating with the 

wrong sorts of people and doing activity that is going to drag them into the criminal justice system”.  That is 

where the knife crime prevention order comes from, really.  It is to try to spot that potential early and put 

constraints on the individual’s behaviour and try to guide them away from behaviour that will end up 

criminalising them.  That is where we are at the moment. 

 

We do not see it applying to huge numbers of people, but we do see it as a quality measure that we can be 

optimistic about trying to avoid criminalising youngsters who do not need to be criminalised. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  In that connection, Deputy Mayor, you did a campaign there one or two years ago, 

London needs you alive.  We are talking about ways of tackling knife crime over and above stop and search.  

Do you count that as a success? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  London needs you alive was not a one-off 

campaign.  It is still continuing and I am sure you have seen posters and we still continue working with schools 

around London needs you alive.  It was to a specific group of those who may be on the periphery of carrying 

knives and trying to do some preventative messaging.  We certainly have had a really good reach.  I do not 

have figures in front of me, but we have had very good reach from London needs you alive, with millions of 

people viewing it and seeing the campaign. 

 

Overall, the success of the campaign and the success of all the measures will be seen when we have 

significantly reduced, stabilised and continued to reduce violence in London.  There is absolutely no 

complacency and I am not saying it is because of the London needs you alive campaign.  It is a combination of 

Page 19



 

 

all the police tactics.  It is not just stop and search.  It is all the other tactics that are going in from the MPS to 

suppress violence. 

 

You are absolutely right to ask specific questions.  You have to see this across the piece with everything that 

we are doing, setting up the Violence Reduction Unit, the public health approach.  The London needs you alive 

campaign is a small part of that. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  The public health approach seems to have gone into the shadows a bit. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  It has not here in City Hall.  Certainly, some of 

the pronouncements from the new Government have been very much focusing purely on enforcement and the 

public stance on that.  Here, the public health approach is absolutely alive and well and it always has been.  For 

me, the public health approach is absolutely about enforcement, arresting people and taking those off the 

streets who are going to cause violence, but also putting in place those projects and programmes for early 

intervention and prevention, working with schools, working with communities and working with families.  The 

public health approach is very much making progress here. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Thank you very much.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Before I bring in Assembly Member O’Connell, I should say as a constituent 

Assembly Member that I do get the section 60 advance notices as well.  Yes, Steve? 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  Yes, thank you.  I was going to amplify that.  Your point is a 

good one.  Only yesterday I was on an email chain, probably down towards the bottom of the 70-odd, but it 

reached even down to me.  In Croydon, Sutton and Bromley, it is very effective.  The emails go out, the 

section 60 is considered, it is relayed and then there is a Gold Group meeting as necessary, which is one of my 

points in the question I have here.  Again, we had three serious stabbing events the night before last and then 

a section 60. 

 

I wanted to understand about the resources and the resource implications of granting a section 60 because 

there are more of them.  They are not used sparingly, and I understand that and there is a question around 

that later.  How does a declaration of a section 60 impact on the resources of, say, the Croydon Basic 

Command Unit BCU [the South Area] with more people pulled away, Stephen? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I know we have 

discussed this in the past.  The whole point about a section 60 is to publicise it and to try to dampen down any 

future problems through increased police presence on the street and searching without the suspicion that is 

required for a PACE search, and so it does need extra resourcing.  However, if you think about it, we put a 

section 60 in place in anticipation of or immediately following a violent incident and the violent incident itself 

will attract more resources.  If we are dealing with a homicide, for example, which we are tragically sometimes, 

then we will have immediately deployed into the BCU assets from outside the BCU, typically the Violent Crime 

Task Force and almost certainly the Territorial Support Group.  Officers from the Dog Support Unit, etc, will 

come into the BCU from other parts of London and then they will have the awareness that there is a section 60 

in place and can carry out section 60 stop and searches.  The two go hand-in-glove, really.  If you get a 

section 60, it is because of a violent incident.  If you have a violent incident, you are going to get more 

resources anyway. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  That is fair.  My last point is a brief point and is about the 

engagement with communities.  My experience in my patch has been good, but my concern - shared by others 

Page 20



 

 

- is about the BCUs and the borough mergers and the fact that those very good officers who have specialisms 

around engagement are increasingly spread very thinly.  If we are there to encourage engagement with the 

communities around this issue and others, we need to be cognisant of the fact that they are spread very thinly 

and that is an issue, placing almost to one side the extra 6,000 officers you are going to get, because this is a 

specialism.  There are some very good Chief Inspectors.  I have a very good one down there [in South Area].  

That is something you would need to be aware of to make sure that those communities are engaged.  These 

are evening meetings, going out to meet people, and often they are spread very thinly.  I just wanted to put 

that one down there for you really to think about.  I will probably leave it at that, Chair, if I may. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Thank you.  

 

Len Duvall AM:  Just very quickly, I can recall an engagement with the Commissioner around section 60 and 

in particular when they were issued on a borough-wide basis.  I can understand, as a supporter of effective 

stop and search, why that may happen, but the high numbers and the disproportionate arrangements between 

high-volume, high-crime areas - if I can describe them like that - and your high-incident areas were still an 

issue. 

 

Can you tell us what discussions have gone on about the appropriateness of that?  Let us put the cards on the 

table.  Some of the problems that brought stop and search into disrepute in the past have been lazy ways of 

policing issues.  I am not saying that all section 60s borough-wide or BCU-wide are lazy ways.  They may well 

be an appropriate way considering the incident.  However, if it is a high number, that clearly must indicate, 

“Hold on.  What is going on here?”  Are you, in terms of management, being intrusive and holding people to 

account and saying, “Why is that happening and what were those incidents that led to that borough-wide 

sanction?” 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  

Commander Dave Musker up until very recently - he has swapped roles now - was the lead on stop and search 

and holds a regular meeting that is intrusive into stop and search.  It looks at exactly the issues you have 

raised: how we are doing, where they are being done, how many section 60s are authorised, when, where and 

what area they are covering.  If they are covering a borough or even wider than a borough, is that simply 

because it is easier to write on the authorisation a borough or is there a reason? 

 

As we have discussed in this venue before, sometimes you get very narrow section 60s and people think that 

that is good.  Observers will say, “That is good.  That is being surgical and professional”, and therefore a 

borough-wide section 60 must be lazy.  It is not as easy as that, if I may say so.  I know you are not saying 

that -- 

 

Len Duvall AM:  I am not saying that. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  -- but I just want to 

reinforce that it is not laziness in most cases.  I am not saying in every case.  That is why we have an oversight 

group headed by a Commander to look at it and make sure that we stay on our toes and we stay professional.  

Every time I have asked about why there was a borough-wide one, there has been a reason why there has been 

a borough-wide one.  Some gangs operate in a narrow area and some gangs operate more widely.  Sometimes 

that gang is fighting with that gang and it is the whole borough and sometimes it needs to be cross-borough 

and not defined by a local authority. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Yes, I accept that.  It is a question of the numbers of it.  The last time we looked at those 

numbers, it did look a little bit strange.  I am hoping some work was undertaken in following up that 

Page 21



 

 

conversation that we had in this forum at the time, but I am glad to hear that you are asking those questions 

because that is important to me. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  [Commander] 

Jane Connors will be taking over from [Commander] Dave Musker and I anticipate will take over that role.  I am 

quite confident she will be as intrusive as Dave has been in his time holding the reins. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Thank you. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Fine.  In that case, we will move on to a set of questions around Operation 

Midland to be led by you, Steve. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  Yes, thank you very much.  I have questions initially to 

Sir Stephen.  The background of Operation Midland, I believe, is well known.  I really want to move to initially 

introduced Sir Richard Henriques’ review acknowledging 43 failings in the investigation into the claims, and his 

criticisms around the fact that it should have been abandoned earlier, the claimant was believed for far too 

long, and it should not have been announced at an early stage that he was believed to be a credible and true 

claimant.  Can you explain initially, Sir Stephen, how things could have gone so badly wrong in this?  What is 

your initial response? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I can try to address 

that issue.  I can try to reassure, hopefully.  I have here a spreadsheet of the 25 recommendations from the 

Henriques report and I have a list of the 43 failings that he found.  I would say that you should not add that up 

and create a total out of those two numbers because many of the 43 failings feed into recommendations. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  We are used to that sort of vernacular in this building and so I 

will be asking about the actual recommendations specifically. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  All right.  What you are 

asking, basically, is, “How did it happen?”  How we believe it happened - and we accept the report’s findings - 

is that this was a particular time when there was a large number of complainants coming forward alleging 

historic sexual abuse.  The MPS had come under significant criticism for not taking victims seriously, in many 

cases not taking victims seriously because we found that what they said was inconsistent and that they 

remembered things wrongly.  That was seen historically as a reason to not accept what they said as being true. 

 

Conscious of that, I believe that the inquiry team looked at what the complainant was saying and accepted that 

there were inconsistencies in what the person said, bearing in mind he was going back many years to what he 

professed were hugely traumatic, violent sexual situations.  It was wrong and the Commissioner has admitted 

and said that it was wrong to accept what Nick Beech said as credible and true.  I would say that, therefore, 

there was an overcompensation perhaps by officers into believing what he said and probably less questioning 

and intrusion.  Certainly, Sir Richard Henriques’ report says that the officer should have been far more sceptical 

and intrusive in their questioning of the individual.  Had they been, they may well have come to a conclusion 

that he was lying to them, as indeed he clearly was. 

 

There were reasons why.  It has been looked at by a number of groups.  It has certainly been looked at in depth 

by the police complaints bodies, first the Independent Police Complaints Commission (IPCC) and now the new 

body [the Independent Office for Police Conduct].  They found that, yes, the officers made mistakes but if 

asked whether the officers did anything unprofessional or illegal, the answer is no.  They found that the 

officers have no case to answer in relation to that. 

Page 22



 

 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  I will interrupt you just briefly.  The mistakes that they made 

caused massive emotional suffering to families -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Of course, yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  -- and the MPS is the subject of significant compensation claims 

as a result. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We are, yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  To say, “Yes, mistakes were made and that is it and that is OK”, 

without even interviewing the officers involved -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  With respect, I am not 

saying, “That is it and that is OK”. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  All right.  The Independent Office for Police Conduct (IOPC) may 

have said that.  I am not putting words in your mouth.  Anyway, let us, if we may, continue with it because 

your point was a good one.  It was made in in the context of post-Savile, etc, when there was a lot of criticism 

of the way that there were dealings with previous offences, but is that a reason indeed to go right to the other 

end of the spectrum?  Is that professional to say, “We did not deal with those well and so we should be rather 

more credulous about fresh applications”?  Your quote - and I never believe quotes in newspapers, of course - 

is what you have just said: 

 

“... Operation Midland was carried out against a backdrop of intense scrutiny and allegations that in 

the past the MPS had covered up sensitive allegations about prominent people.” 

 

You took that hit at that time, but surely that is no reason for your officers to then go to the other end of the 

spectrum and say, “We will get ourselves in a place where there is an obligation on innocent people to prove 

themselves not guilty as opposed to, as law and equity dictates, the other way around”.  Do you feel that that 

many officers were bounced into going to completely the wrong end of the spectrum and being far too great 

credulous and believing of accusations? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  That is what I was 

trying to say. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  You accept that?  OK.  Fine. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I accept that because 

of criticism that we had failed to investigate properly, officers may have overcompensated and could have been 

more forensic in their questioning of the complainant when he came forward.  If they had been, then they may 

well have discovered earlier that actually what he was saying was not true.  As you quite rightly pointed out - 

and maybe I was remiss - that ruined the lives of a number of people, for which we have apologised, I have 

apologised and the Commissioner at the time has apologised.  We are in discussion with the three principal 

people that we are talking about to let them see how we are moving forward with the Henriques report and 

how we are dealing with learning lessons from that report.  We are trying to, as well as apologise, make amends 

to the people for the damage we have done to their lives because we know we have. 

 

Page 23



 

 

I am sorry if I do not sound passionate enough.  I can assure you I am.  We made mistakes and it has damaged 

people’s lives, people who have given a huge amount of public service over decades to the United Kingdom 

(UK).  We are uniquely aware of that. I chair a Diamond Group of very senior people who look at this.  We have 

met virtually every week for the past six weeks on this and we have agonised over everything that has been 

done here.  The MPS made mistakes. 

 

However, I have also had to say to you that I have met the officers involved in the investigation and I do have 

to maintain the line that, yes, mistakes were made.  They made mistakes.  They acknowledge that they made 

mistakes, but they did not do it maliciously and they did not do it in any way, I believe, criminally. The IOPC, 

having looked at it, comes to the same conclusion. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  OK.  Going on, we mentioned the review with 

25 recommendations and you say that these are the subject of your Diamond Group.  I hear that you are 

looking at - and perhaps you will clarify that - changing the way that the MPS will deal with these sorts of 

cases.  I would like to hear your thoughts around that. 

 

What would be rather good is that bodies like ours will be able to scrutinise you and how you are proceeding 

with acting on these recommendations.  That is a bit difficult because the Commissioner has refused to publish 

the redacted report.  Why -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Sorry, that is not true.  

We have already published a redacted report and we will in due course publish another report with even fewer 

redactions, but the report that we will publish in due course will have redactions based on a very few number 

of things.  One will be that the content is graphic and grossly sexually offensive and disturbing and we will not 

publish that sort of language. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  I understand. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We will not publish 

details of addresses that will impact people who live in those addresses who have nothing to do with this. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  Yes, that is obvious.  I get that, but the recommendations would 

not be specific about individuals.  They will be about how you will be changing the way the organisation deals 

with -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  What I am trying to 

explain is what we are redacting.  We are redacting grossly offensive language.  We are redacting addresses.  

We will redact a very small number of other details about people who do not need to be known to the public.  

Apart from that, the whole report will be published. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  It will be published?  It will be out there soon with the full 

recommendations? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  I understand completely about the redacted detail.  That is a 

given.  We get that, but we would want to see what the recommendations are and how you are getting on with 

proceeding with them so that this will not be repeated.  That will be me for the moment, Chair. 

 

Page 24



 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Yes.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Initially, I would like to ask about the redactions of you first, Deputy Mayor.  In  

November [2016] when this was raised with the Mayor immediately after the report was published, the Mayor 

said that he had not read the whole report, but you had read the whole report at that time.  Firstly, I 

understand that you read the report which was entirely as it had been written by Sir Richard.  Did you think 

there should be substantial redactions when you read it? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I remember being questioned about this by you 

at the Police and Crime Committee quite soon afterwards.  I did read it and the advice I was given was that the 

redactions were ones that were necessary at that time.  It was two years ago that that happened.  Now we have 

got through the trial of Carl Beech.  That is why the MPS is now going through the report to see what 

redactions can now be unredacted.  I know that the stance that is being taken now is that everything should be 

published unless there is a very good reason not to.  Clearly, two years ago, there were still ongoing 

investigations and there was still the trial of Carl Beech and I was given advice that those reductions were 

necessary. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  You see, I have the comments in front of me made by Sir Richard Henriques at the end of 

last month when he said: 

 

“I am racking my brains trying to think of what possible covert methodology they are referring to.  

There were no secret bugs or undercover officers.  If you consider the length of time between the 

alleged offences and the investigations, which is more than 30 years, what possible covert tactics could 

they be talking about?” 

 

Are you saying, Sir Steve, that those things are going to be published that Sir Richard says you have refused to 

publish? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We are going to not 

publish graphic sexual violence in detail when it is horrific, we are not going to publish some addresses or 

identify locations that have nothing to do with the situation and we are not going to publish some names of 

people who have nothing to do with the case.  Apart from that everything will be published. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I am pleased to hear that.  You have effectively said that the IPCC or its successor has 

pretty much cleared your officers, saying they were not malicious and so on.  What I want to put to you is that 

maybe they were incompetent.  For example, Lord Bramall and Lord Brittan at the time of these alleged 

offences were in public life.  Chances are they were under surveillance by police, security officers and that kind 

as former Home Secretary and former Chief of the General Staff. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  That is a stretch, if I 

may say so. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  All right but let me progress.  Whatever, they were in public life.  They would have had full 

diaries; not, “It rained this morning” but would have been hour by hour and place by place.  It has been shown 

in the report that dates and places produced by the man [Carl] Beech could easily have been refuted if these 

diaries had been referred to immediately. 

 

Page 25



 

 

I would have thought, and I suggest to you, that at a very elementary level those sorts of things could be 

checked, irrespective of false memory and things of that kind that you have already referred to.  Do you not 

think that showed a lack of competence? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Again, I do not want to 

appear glib, but it is difficult to get past that mistakes were made in the investigation.  We should have been 

more questioning of the allegations that were made.  There were inconsistencies in what Carl Beech said, and 

all that has been pointed out by [Sir Richard] Henriques and accepted by the MPS, and as a result the lives of a 

number of important and very dedicated public servants were very badly damaged.  However, a number of 

people looked at the investigation as it was progressing.  I believe if they had thought the investigation was 

incompetent it would have been stopped at an earlier point.   

 

I do have to go back to the fact that we were working in a particular time.  I said in reference to previous 

questioning:  was there an overcompensation as a result of previous errors?  I think that is a fairly good way of 

looking at it.  Were his allegations believed straightaway and not questioned?  Yes, they were believed and 

they should have been questioned more.  However, I am not convinced ‘incompetent’ is the word I would use 

to describe what the officers did. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I put it to you, Deputy Commissioner- of course, hindsight is a wonderful thing but I 

imagine these officers who looked at this had been to Hendon [Police College], had done all the police work 

and so on - that very elementary things were not done like, for example, interviewing the principals at a very 

early stage and interrogating things like diaries, official lists of engagements and things of that sort.  Had that 

ordinary pedestrian police work, which I would have imagined would have been done at a very low level, been 

carried out the thing would have been knocked on the head straightaway.  That is why I put the charge of 

incompetence to you.  Are you not willing to accept that at all? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not accept that 

the officers were incompetent.  

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I am not saying they were incompetent; I am saying what they did was incompetent. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  OK, I am not sure I see 

the difference. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  It is angels dancing on the head of a pin. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is a bit. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  You see what I want to do, Deputy Commissioner, is link it with the fact that in the 

MOPAC report that has just been published, which we have just seen a summary of, public overall satisfaction 

with policing is at its lowest level.  I want to suggest to you that one of the reasons might possibly be the 

things that have emerged since the publication of the Henriques Report that does appear to show a very high 

level - which is why I am using the word “incompetence” - of incompetence in policing.   

 

I do not want to say it has made you a laughing stock but some of the things that police apparently did not do, 

which ordinary members of the public might think ought to have been done and would have been very 

sensible, were not done and that there was clearly very limited oversight of this.  Do you think there might 

possibly be a link of the kind that I have drawn between the public perception of policing and the way that this 

matter has been handled? 

Page 26



 

 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Inevitably public 

confidence is driven by a number of different things, sometimes by people’s personal experience and 

sometimes by what they read in the media and see on television.  Therefore, I think undeniably what you say 

will have an element of truth in it, that officers seen to be acting in this way - making mistakes, inquiries being 

criticised so heavily and doing damage to public who should not have been damaged - is bound to make 

people have some sort of thought about that. 

 

Equally when we have events such as the terrorist attacks in 2017 where officers responded so brilliantly and 

professionally; when officers are injured on duty regularly trying to protect the public; when officers are killed 

on duty trying to protect the public; when we run events like Notting Hill Carnival, which frankly is one of the 

biggest policing operations in the UK and almost certainly in Europe and around the world; when we run 

events like the visit of Donald Trump [President, United States of America] - I know you are shaking your head 

- the reality is they are also influenced by the professionalism, bravery and dedication of the 40,000 people in 

the MPS.  To say that an incident like this will damage it, of course it has an impact but lots of things have an 

impact. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Deputy Commissioner, this was a very egregious incident.  I am old enough to remember - 

although I do not remember them myself - people talking about the Keystone Cops.  The way this thing has 

been dealt with does appear to be like that.  We expect police to show the kind of devotion that they have 

shown in the incidents that you have just related to us to happen as an everyday event as part of the high 

standards of the MPS.  In this particular incident the standards have fallen very low indeed.  I know you have 

accepted that, I have your statement here and so on.  It has had this knock-on effect. 

 

I want to relate this to another thing.  The MPS pursued this case very rigorously over a very long period of 

time.  It was pursued very publicly indeed on what has emerged to have been absolutely no real evidence at all.  

I wonder whether or not there is a different standard of evidence used in this kind of matter than shall we say, 

for example, the allegations that have been made about the conduct of events in Tower Hamlets where I saw 

that this week you have decided not to pursue many of the allegations, or rather the City of London Police 

have decided not to pursue many of the allegations that have been made through the MPS.  I would like to 

suggest to you there is infinitely more evidence in these matters that have been raised at Tower Hamlets than 

were ever raised here, yet one thing was pursued extremely rigorously with these terrible outcomes and the 

other appears not to have been done very rigorously.   

 

Does the MPS take a view on how it is going to pursue cases, with what rigour it is going to do it and whether 

or not it is going to do it in the public glare that this matter was dealt with? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I am not really sure 

what you are asking, if I am honest with you.  I do not want to volunteer an answer. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  What I am suggesting is that the MPS is selective in the level of evidence that it is going 

to take on board before it pursues an investigation rigorously.  I am suggesting that in this case, so far as we 

can tell, there was no evidence and I am suggesting that common sense might have told you that there was 

little evidence, whereas for example in Tower Hamlets there has been mountains - to us as laypeople, we do 

not investigate these matters - of evidence and the thing has not been pursued. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is very difficult to 

compare one investigation to another.   

 

Page 27



 

 

Let me just go back to say yes, I have accepted that mistakes were made in the investigation in Operation 

Midland.  However, I go back to that the allegations that were made were of the most serious order imaginable 

of years of sexual abuse, including homicide.  These are allegations that had to be looked at, they had to be 

taken seriously and they had to have an investigation around them and that is what has happened.   

 

You have raised something there: why did the officers not sit down with the complainant at an early stage?  

That is because we do not do that.  You carry out the investigation and gather the evidence.  When you have 

sufficient evidence that is when you go to speak to the alleged perpetrators of the offence.  You do not 

interview them early on to ask them what their views are, in most cases that comes towards the back end of it.   

 

I do not think you can take one set of cases and compare it to another.  There was oversight of Operation 

Midland.  There were reviews of Operation Midland to look at what was being done and why it was being 

done.  The investigation did last a long time.  The allegations were incredibly serious.  We had, we know, 

dropped the ball on allegations as serious previously and let people down that way, so we decided we would 

pursue this to make sure we followed what we thought was a genuine complainant.  Did we get that wrong?  

Yes, we did.  However, you cannot link that to another investigation and ask is there some sort of relationship 

going on. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I am a representative of the public and I wonder why you take this line of action in one 

case where there appears to be no evidence.  You say they were serious allegations.  I think many people would 

say they were so preposterous -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  There appears to be no 

evidence now.  There did not appear to be no evidence then.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  The phrase ‘common sense’ as well.  There is just one final thing -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  The phrase ‘hindsight’ 

is coming to my mind. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  -- in relation to this and this is the cost, this is the financial cost to the MPS and to the 

public purse.  The figure that has been published is that it has cost £2.5 million.  Does that include all of the 

legal costs?  Does that include the compensation that Mr Beech received?  In other words, is this the total cost 

that is going to be attributed to the public purse - I am not talking about the cost of this man being in prison 

or anything like that - in bringing the case?  Is the £2.5 million the final figure? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not know what it 

includes, I would have to away and write to you about that.  When you say the compensation to [Carl] Beech, 

do you mean the criminal injury compensation? 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  That is right. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  That is not coming 

from our budget. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  But it did fall on the public purse, of course. 

 

Page 28



 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  That was about 

£23,000.  That does not come from our budget, it comes from another budget.  I am happy to write to you and 

tell you what is in there. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Thank you.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  I will just finish on that; it was a point I was going to try help you 

finish on because it will be good if you can write to us.  There is the published £2.5 million cost to the MPS but 

apparently what Northumbria Police carried out cost £900,000-plus that was charged to the MPS as a result, 

which was another £1 million on it.  You have paid out money already on compensation and there is a very 

significant claim heading down the way.  Therefore, it is a very significant cost that is as a result of, in your 

words, mistakes made early on.  What could that have paid for?  You aspired earlier for 6,000 extra police.  

This could rise to whatever figure you write to us about - £4 million upwards, who knows - and we will hear 

about that.   

 

No one here is a greater champion of officers than the people around this horseshoe and particularly myself.  

However, if you were in another organisation and you made clear mistakes that cost that organisation millions 

of pounds, and also had a reputational effect on that organisation.  The MPS is the most professional and 

wonderful police service in the world but this has had a reputational effect on the MPS.  Is it right that those 

officers were able to then be told they made a mistake and that was the end of it?  I am not asking for 

scapegoats and I am not asking for anything unreasonable, but it does seem that the balance of sanction 

against those significant mistakes seems to have been put to one side.  Do you want to comment on that, 

Steve? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Only to say that 

Sir Richard did his report and he said one of the main issues was that it needed to be referred to the IOPC.  It 

was referred to the IOPC, which is responsible for the investigation of the things we are talking about.  It came 

back and said the officers acted in good faith; got things wrong, badly wrong, with horrible implications for 

people but they acted in good faith.  It is therefore difficult for our organisation with the code of ethics we 

have for our people, which is that when they make mistakes but do so in good faith they will be supported.  If 

they make mistakes and it is malicious or they do something malicious then we will deal with them and they 

will be dealt with either by ourselves or the IOPC.  However, this falls into a category of people who were 

trying to do their job but they made mistakes and they got things wrong.  To say they are responsible for the 

millions of pounds of published expenses is difficult.  They are cogs in a machine and an investigation of this 

size costs money. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  I have great sympathy for those officers at that level doing so.  

However, they are not just cogs in a machine, they are in a very hierarchical organisation that properly bears 

not pressure from above but there are more senior officers reflecting on [Jimmy] Savile and reflecting that, 

“We need to do more”.  It is not necessarily those officers below.  It is better I just leave it there, Chair. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  That is the point.  We should not leave it there.  We are concentrating on the people on the 

frontline doing a difficult job and making judgement calls in terms of very complex cases.  The whole issue 

around Henriques - and I did ask the question of the former Commissioner [Sir Bernard Hogan-Howe QPM]- 

was that I thought the gaps in the report were more interesting than what it was worth.  I do think there is a 

problem within the MPS about who is doing the checking in that hierarchical situation.  Who is being intrusive 

enough?  Who has that additional experience to say, “That is not going anywhere” or, “When I have read that 

it does not correspond to that”?  That was the bit that was missing.  [Sir Richard] Henriques avoids that 

Page 29



 

 

completely.  He does not look at the people that were overseeing the investigation and then we get to this real 

problem.   

 

I hope the learning lessons in the hierarchical situation will be:  when should senior officers intervene in 

someone’s investigation to say, “You need to look at that and you need to do that”?  The whole issue of 

supervision was somewhat, I thought, lacking.  It got to a point where the Commissioner was brought into 

disrepute because he must have been briefed by somebody to go onto the public airwaves to defend a crucial 

aspect of the investigation when it was quite clear - we know today, it is great with hindsight - there were 

concerns about the evidence you had, “This is all going hunky-dory and going in the right direction”.   

 

In the learning lessons is there an honest conversation and a clarity of the checkers overseeing the people who 

are doing the frontline work and saying, “This does not feel right here.  We need you to either go back on 

that” or, “It is not your call.  We think you have done enough and this is where it has gone, it is not going any 

further”?  I thought that was missing in the report. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I have read the 

Henriques report several times now. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  There were some limbs missing. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  There is frequent 

reference to Deputy Assistant Commissioners. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  I was thinking a bit higher.  There were names missing, I wonder what they were there for.  I 

know what they should be doing in terms of how it works in your hierarchy, but they were not included in that 

report. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Let me say that in the 

MPS of today, under Cressida [Dick CBE QPM, Commissioner, MPS] the focus is on operations and 

performance.  With her background in investigation, both serious crime and counterterrorism, and her record of 

command she emphasises to us a very hands-on intrusive style of leadership that I think is the right approach.  

I believe I am an effective part of that.  I think all the Management Board takes their responsibilities to be 

intrusive and to lead very seriously.  There are many things with hindsight - because we all use hindsight - that 

would not happen today that happened in relation to Operation Midland.  That is because we learned lessons 

from Operation Midland, not because we are better than the people who were there then.  It is simply because 

we have the benefit of their experience and we have the benefit of hindsight. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Chair, finally, I think that is what people need to understand in terms of how those learning 

lessons are put into practice.  I do believe you can learn from hindsight about some of those situations and I do 

get the issues around the new victims in this case that were dealt with.   

 

There is an issue in other places where the MPS has made mistakes and usually it is no further action.  We are 

quite clear that the evidence was led that these individuals were not party to this, so I think there are some 

issues and I am conscious of that. 

 

In terms of the Management Board, I am quite clear that you are clear in terms of what the Commissioner’s 

lead approach is but is the rest of the organisation and that hierarchy there?  All too often I am not saying we 

have Operation Midland mistake type errors because that seems to be on a mega scale, but often you see a 

lack of intrusive management or a lack of proper supervision in certain circumstances and that does not lead to 

Page 30



 

 

effective policing.  How do we keep that throughout the MPS?  How do people understand that their different 

roles in terms of that supervision is not about, “You people getting on with that because I am at this level and I 

do not need to do that” and, “I do not want to interfere in what you are doing”.  There is a right to interfere.  I 

want to be clear that is throughout the organisation and not just at the top. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  The different opinion I 

have from you, Len, is that it has to start at the top -- 

 

Len Duvall AM:  It does, yes.  No difference there. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  -- otherwise it does not 

work at all.  I can assure you it does exist at the top of the organisation and I do believe it filters through the 

rest of the organisation.  Is it true everywhere?  Is it true in every operation and every incident?  No, it is not.  

Do we get to some things later than we want to?  Yes, we do.  Do we sometimes miss things?  Inevitably with a 

city this size, with its population and its business we do miss things.  However, I genuinely believe that the 

approach taken by the Commissioner, by the Management Board and by the people who work so closely with 

us is one of intrusion, is one of leadership and is one of, “I am not saying this is wrong but prove to me we are 

doing this right and that we are taking into account everything we should be taking into account.  What are 

the views of the community?  Are we looking after the victims properly?”, etc.  That is the meat and drink of 

our day job, Len. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  If the Victims’ Commissioner [for London], Claire Waxman, would like to come 

to join the panel?  We will move on to the next set of questions, which is around rape and sexual offences.  

Before I hand over, can I thank you, Claire, for writing to us and offering to come to this Committee?  It is 

much appreciated, thank you.  Caroline. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you very much.  Maybe I should start with the Victims’ Commissioner.  

Claire, thank you so much for coming along today.  The London Rape Review was published at the end of July.  

Do you want to talk us through your reaction to that and the set of recommendations that you have made 

from that? 

 

Claire Waxman (Victims’ Commissioner for London):  To give it some context, I felt we needed to do a 

real deep dive into rape cases in London.  From listening to victims and survivors many were struggling to 

access justice and support and we were seeing a real drop in charges and conviction rates, so it was really to 

get a better picture as to what was happening in London.  This has been one of the most comprehensive 

reviews to date.  I know the Government is doing its own end-to-end review but we have done an incredibly 

comprehensive review for London that has given the clearest picture to date of how rape victims are treated 

through the justice process. 

 

The research team went back to April 2016 and took that month, when there were over 500 allegations of rape 

to the police, and then tracked those cases through the system to really see what was driving attrition, reasons 

why victims might be withdrawing from the system or why we were not getting the charging and conviction 

rates we had hoped.  There were over 146 different variables coded for that research covering the entire case 

progression.  Of that 501, 84% were classed as crimes.   

 

I want to briefly, if I may, pick up from the last conversation.  What this review showed us is that false 

allegations are rare.  There were only 14 cases out of that 501 that were seen to be false allegations.  I just 

wanted to put that out there. 

 

Page 31



 

 

What we then saw was 58%, a very high rate, of victims and survivors withdrawing from the process.  That is 

incredibly troubling and something we need to look at to understand more fully what is driving that, which is 

what this review did in understanding why victims were feeling they had to come out of the system.  That is 

around not feeling they were given, first of all, up-to-date information.  That reflects a lot of the findings from 

the Victims’ Code of Practice review that I did earlier this year, about not getting regular updates and 

information.  When you are in a state of trauma and going through that it is really important to be kept 

updated otherwise people will give up and leave the system.  Accessing support is absolutely vital for victims 

and especially for rape victims, feeling they were not accessing the right type of support.  There were waiting 

lists obviously for getting in for Independent Sexual Violence Advocates (ISVAs) or getting into counselling 

and being deterred from counselling as well, which is a critical issue.   

 

If we look at how long these cases are taking, the review showed from time of report to the outcome of court 

was on average 18 months.  That is April 2016, I can assure you that figure will be much worse now post 

Liam Allan and all the issues around disclosure.  If you can imagine a victim not being able to access 

counselling or therapeutic services, or being dissuaded from doing so, it is a very long time to stay in limbo, to 

stay in a state of trauma and to not get the right treatment for that.  That is another reason why victims felt 

they had to choose at the end about whether they prioritised their emotional wellbeing or whether they 

prioritised justice.   

 

Obviously, disclosure and around looking at third party material - it did not pick up so much on phones 

because it was April 2016 - police often have to ask for social services records, medical records and school 

records and there is a delay in getting that from councils and social services that causes a huge delay in the 

system.  That is another reason why victims come out of the system, as a result of that. 

 

There were a number of very complex but interrelated issues as to why victims felt they had to withdraw.  What 

this review has done is change the misconception that I have heard from police and the Crown Prosecution 

Service (CPS) of, “Victims do not support the investigation”, or, “They do not support the prosecution”.  There 

are real reasons as to why they are coming out.  It is not necessarily a case of not supporting the investigation 

or the prosecution, there are critical issues as to why they feel they need to withdraw from the process.  I made 

a number of recommendations to try to tackle that area in particular that would involve the MPS and the CPS, 

and recommendations to the Government as well.   

 

Then there is an area around no further action (NFA) with 29% NFA.  Very interestingly what we have been 

able to identify amongst that was that police were seeing inconsistencies in the victim’s account and would 

NFA on the back of that.  What this research has really pushed forward is some leading research from Canada 

about the neurobiological impact of trauma on memory, so there is actual evidence to show why victims and 

survivors could present in this way with inconsistencies.  It is not a case necessarily that they are lying and they 

are not credible, it is the impact of trauma.  However, this makes the job incredibly complex because - again, 

picking up on the last discussion - how do police then identify who is a genuine victim and who is not.  I do 

not envy how difficult that job is but the recommendations around pushing this research and this 

trauma-informed understanding in the way the police are questioning victims, interviewing them, and even the 

way they are getting support is absolutely critical.  I know the MPS is very supportive of this recommendation, 

as is the CPS.  The CPS has admitted that in its charging decisions it too will look at the inconsistencies and 

based on that will not charge.  It is for them also and it has agreed to do training to understand more fully this 

impact of trauma on the memory and how it presents in victims.  It is very, very complex and difficult work to 

do but I think this review has really pushed that forward more than anything else ever before, to really put a 

context around why victims have inconsistencies in their accounts and how best to support them to get the 

right evidence.   

 

Page 32



 

 

It also talked about procedure, things where we could make improvements, around video recorded interview 

(VRI).  We see that less victims withdraw and less cases fall if there is a VRI so, again, it is making sure those 

are offered.  We were seeing victims not take those VRIs.  Through talking to victims, they said they really did 

not understand what the process was and they did not feel they had the right support in that environment.  

That is quite, I hope, easy to address so the police have the right people doing it.  It takes skilled people doing 

those interviews.  Making the victims understand that process and that they have the right support in that 

process as well would make a big difference.   

 

Unfortunately, as I say, the charging rates have dropped, only 6% proceeded to trial and only 3% resulted in 

conviction.  It is a pretty bleak picture.  Although having said that London is better than the rest of the 

country, it is only 1% nationally.  Even so it is not great and that is why the Government is doing its 

end-to-end review.   

 

On a positive, the Government has reached out to us.  We are talking to it about this review and the research 

team will be going in to go through the framework on how this research was done.  The National Victims’ 

Commissioner [Dame Vera Baird] has come forward in full support and is writing to all the Police and Crime 

Commissioners (PCCs) on this research, hoping to get all police forces to do similar research so we can start to 

get a full national picture as well.   

 

It is a superb piece of work.  I know the findings are not too positive but there is a lot that has come out that I 

feel we can really work on to drive some change, but it is tricky work. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you.  There was one thing in there that I noticed around the issue of 

mental health, was it 41% of rape victims report mental health issues?  Was it a surprise to you that that came 

out and what have you specifically recommended around that? 

 

Claire Waxman (Victims’ Commissioner for London):  That came out and was indicated in police NFA’ing 

as well around mental health.  It is not a surprise.  We do know those with mental health issues are far more 

vulnerable to victimisation.  We also know there is a cycle, so we are seeing repeat victims.  There are victims 

within that 41% who are suffering from previous victimisation and therefore are victimised again.  It is almost a 

vicious circle for them.  They have been a victim, a rape victim, and did not get justice or support, have been 

victimised again and then their mental health is used against them to push them out, so they are filtered out of 

the justice process. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Have you made any recommendations around mental health? 

 

Claire Waxman (Victims’ Commissioner for London):  Yes, again it is around training with police, 

trauma-informed training would pick that up as well.  The Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime has agreed to 

do Justice Matters next month because taking on some of these recommendations needs partners around the 

table to work a bit further and dig deeper into what these findings have shown.  Vulnerability and mental 

health will be discussed at Justice Matters as well to really understand how best to address that. 

 

It is all around identifying those needs and making sure victims are getting the right support for these complex 

needs, which is not happening as best as it should and that is the issue. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime, how are you responding to this review 

and the recommendations that Claire has put forward?  What are you doing with the MPS now to take this 

further forward? 

 

Page 33



 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  To reiterate, it is a superb piece of work and 

analysis.  It is an important piece of work in taking forward - everyone knew there was a serious problem - real 

understanding about where along the system some of the problems were.   

 

Obviously, very few of the recommendations are for MOPAC but there are significant recommendations for 

every bit of the criminal justice service.  In terms of taking forward the recommendations, as Claire says we are 

going to have Justice Matters in a month’s time so that we have all partners around the table to really discuss 

the recommendations and how they might be taken forward.  We certainly had discussions via the London 

Crime Reduction Board and the sub-Board below that which myself and [Sir] Steve House QPM chair around 

what these recommendations mean, how we can take them forward and what needs to be done. 

 

In terms of the commissioning of services for victims, it is incredibly important.  We have taken on board, 

before the publication of the report through Claire’s work reviewing the Victims’ Code of Practice, what was 

needed in terms of victim services.  The new Integrated Victim and Witness Service has services within it 

specifically for sexual violence.  The extra money the Mayor has put in, £15 million for funding across the piece 

of Violence Against Women and Girls, has extra money in there for ISVAs.  I am not suggesting we are bridging 

the gap of what is needed but we are beginning to provide extra services.  Of course, there is the extra money 

that has been put forward and has already gone out the door for rape crisis centres and the Sexual Assault 

Referral Centres as well.  As Claire has already said, it is about the support that victims and survivors are 

getting so we are doing our bit there.  There is just a difficulty in demand and in terms of the money that is 

going in.  Finally, we also commissioned Safer London for young women and girls to have young people’s 

advocates to give them that support as well and one-to-one counselling advice.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Will there be an action plan that comes out from your Justice Matters so it is 

very clear how every agency is going to try to take forward these recommendations?  I am particularly thinking 

of how you are going to ensure the CPS acts on the findings of this review. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I hope we will have some clear actions and 

agreements as to how it is taken forward from different agencies.  That is a question of convening, influencing 

and working together, not that I have the ability to make them do an action plan.  Certainly, all partners 

around the table are absolutely aware of the recommendations and want to do their bit in making -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You can hold the ring, which is part of the role of this place.   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Absolutely and that is what we will do but we are 

not pushing against a shut door, all the partners want to make a difference here.  The question is how and the 

best way of doing so. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  In terms of the MPS’s response, Deputy Commissioner, how are you responding 

to this?  Do you have an action plan?  It seems things like the VRI, some simple things like that, hopefully 

could help to lead to higher conviction rates. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We think the report is a 

good piece of work.  We have accepted it.  Mark Simmons [Assistant Commissioner, MPS] has written back to 

Claire in those terms, particularly interested in the trauma training that she has mentioned in detail in the 

report and here today.  It highlights some of the issues we have been talking about earlier today in terms of 

victims’ experiences.   

 

Page 34



 

 

Frankly, cutting to the chase, if we can get the best possible position for our officers who interview the victims 

and get as definitive as we can around what has happened and what we can take forward into the criminal 

justice system then we are all in a far better place.  We are very strongly in favour of that and look forward to 

working on it. 

 

We are doing a lot in this area.  One figure that Claire mentions, which shows the difficulty of it, is that 6% 

who come forward go to court and 3% achieve convictions.  As you will know, one of the terms of the CPS 

guidance is there has to be better than a 50% chance of conviction.  It is getting 50%, it is far higher in other 

crime activities.  All the way through the criminal justice system we see challenges with this.  It is exacerbated 

for us by two things at the moment that we have discussed, one at length here, which is the digital issue.  

Much of the 18-month-plus delay is around digital interrogation.  Again, we are in the midst of a quite 

passionate debate about levels of intrusion.  I have heard previous Attorneys General talk about how there is a 

balance between privacy and the needs of justice.  The needs of justice will always outweigh privacy, in the 

words of a previous Attorney General.  That gives you an indication of where the Government was, it may not 

be where the Government is now.  This is an ongoing dynamic in the country at the moment in terms of how 

far back you go.   

 

I acknowledge, because it is in the report, we clearly need to look again at how specific we are in our analysis, 

not just and most importantly, to avoid overly distressing victims but also in terms of efficiency and 

effectiveness, if we have an 18-month-plus delay and it is because we are asking for that much forensic history 

from digital devices and we only need that much.  Do not forget it is not just us as the police who will be 

asking, it will also be the CPS and the defence, possibly.  It is not simply a case where we are just going, “Give 

us all of it”, there may be other pressures in there as well.  However, it is something we need to focus on.   

 

The other one is the third-party material and the fact that takes a long time to come back.  Again, we need to 

be more specific in what we are asking for and be certain in every case that we are asking for what is required 

and no more.  However, of course, CPS and the defence may be asking for much broader.  There are lots of 

complexities within the criminal justice system that come to play here to elongate the process and elongating 

the process, as we know, makes the decision for people around, “Getting on with my life and trying to recover 

from this”, or justice.  Too many feel that because of the length of the whole process and the ordeal they are 

having to go through again it is just not worth it so they are not getting justice.  There is a lot that needs to be 

looked and there are no quick fixes for a lot of those things.   

 

However, in terms of activity, we are engaged with the national work.  We have our own work that is being led 

by [Detective Superintendent] Sian Thomas looking at how the BCUs interact with the CPS to make sure we 

are working as effectively as we can.  We have set up a team to improve the quality of our files, mainly around 

disclosure to try to make sure we are not overburdening people with disclosure.  We have a Rape Governance 

Board in place, which is led by the Head of Profession - Safeguarding.  Rape performance is a standing item, 

[Commander] Sue Williams has a monthly meeting on safeguarding to try to push up our figures that are 

horribly low, far too low and we acknowledge that.  We acknowledge we are not in the right place right now 

and we are very pleased to adopt the review and the recommendations.   

 

We look forward perhaps to some movement on one of the recommendations from the Government around the 

bail situation and RUI.  Again, there is a complication.  I have looked into that.  Why is it that so many suspects 

for serious sexual offences are RUI’d?  The answer is because it is taking 18 months plus to get through the 

investigation.  Remand in custody and bail is far more challenging for that length of time than it would be if it 

was three months.  We are looking again at the guidance we are giving our own custody staff to say, “You 

need to be very careful”.  If there is a significant safeguarding concern, as it says in your recommendation, for 

Page 35



 

 

the victim from the offender then we have to be seriously considering how we process that offender.  RUI, 

particularly in relation to a domestic-abuse-based rape is not a good option to keep people safe. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you very much for that.  It is good to hear that you are looking to move 

forward on all of this.  We obviously have been looking at the merged BCUs, which clearly has happened since 

this report that looked at cases from April 2016.  Would you accept, Deputy Commissioner, that you have lost 

considerable experienced officers as a result of these borough mergers from this specialist area, that some of 

your detectives and investigators have gone off to other forces as a result of these mergers? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  There has been 

significant change, as you know, moving to the new Unit and bringing people together into the Safeguarding 

Unit.  We have done it for the right reasons.  You know this, in the previous model we had artificial division 

between rape, domestic abuse and child abuse investigations.  The more we learned the more we realised this 

all needs to be coming together into a multidisciplinary unit that will work effectively across these crime-type 

boundaries that are artificial.  That is why we have done it.  It is the right thing to do.  As in any change there 

has been dislocation and we have lost some people, often it is to do with travelling distances and things like 

that.  It is not disagreement particularly with the concept, it is just it makes life more difficult for them, so it is 

easier to travel to somewhere else.  However, we are seeing, as we know, an increase in recruiting into the 

MPS.  We do know where we have gaps in relation to these units and we are trying to plug those gaps as fast 

as we can, bearing in mind we have demand across the organisation and gaps across the organisation. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  On a recent site visit that myself and Assembly Members Arbour and Hall did in 

the summer to one of your BCUs it was quite clear they had lost a lot of experienced detectives.  Yes, they may 

have some new police officers in but they lack that experience that you perhaps need.  We also had the CPS at 

our site visit who said, “We are just not getting the number of referrals at all”.  Partly you have an issue with 

digital forensics, partly you have this issue with one of your - I do not know what the term is - forensic 

suppliers that had been compromised, which has now been resolved. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It has been resolved. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  There is still this huge backlog for digital and other forensics.  Are you 

concerned you do not have the right levels of staff and the right experience in there and therefore we may 

actually see these figures get worse going forward rather than better? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I can give you the 

figures overall for the MPS.  In terms of how many people do we want in our Safeguarding Units across the 

whole of the MPS the answer is just under 2,400 and we have just under 2,200 at this moment in time. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  What you will not have in those figures is how many of those 2,200 are perhaps 

on maternity leave and therefore you have vacancies that effectively you are carrying -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes, of course. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  -- which is always a particular problem in the safeguarding arena rather than in 

other areas. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is sometimes more 

exacerbated in that Unit than elsewhere, which is why we are working so hard - I am sure you know - on our 

policies around maternity leave and returners from maternity leave.  We have a really strong programme to 

Page 36



 

 

encourage people to come back, and to make sure when they come back they come back effective and fully up 

to speed with new legislation and new training.  We are working hard to encourage people to come back.  We 

know that we lose quite a high number of women officers four years plus not usually because of the first child 

but the second child is usually the problem.  We have been running events to bring those people back into the 

organisation and for those who are on maternity leave.  Yes, that is a problem, but we are trying to address 

that problem and we are trying to increase numbers across the board.   

 

I do not want to go back to it artificially but if we get more officers then some of those officers will go into 

safeguarding. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  What really concerned me, we have done a couple of these BCU visits, is the 

workload, the strain the officers are under and the hours they are having to work.  I can see why some people 

would leave, particularly if they have caring responsibilities.  The fact is that these managers who are 

supervising, which goes back to some of the points that Assembly Member Duvall was making earlier, cannot 

cope with what they are supposed to supervise.  There are far fewer supervisors in place.  They are managing 

hundreds of cases at any one time.  It does not feel to me that the model you have put in place is right at the 

moment.  Are you going to review that and make some adjustments, maybe on the basis of this Rape Review 

and the recommendations from the Victims’ Commissioner and also from talking to frontline staff who are 

saying it is not really working at the moment? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I challenge that officers 

are carrying hundreds of cases, they are not. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  The supervisors are I think from the evidence.  I realise, having brought my 

notebooks with notes in that it was in my previous one so I do not have the figures down here but that is what 

I picked up at our site visit. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  The sort of figures I am 

looking at in terms of workload are ranging - it is a big spreadsheet - roughly from six files through to I think I 

saw one about 16, which was the highest.  To be covering hundreds of files a supervisor would have to be 

covering an awful lot of officers.  I am not sure I would go along with the “hundreds”, if I am honest.  We do 

keep a measure of what officers’ caseloads look like.  That is supervised and it is up to the supervisors to make 

sure it stays equitable across the officers.  I do not deny that these officers are working with a very heavy 

workload with some very traumatic material that they are dealing with.  On the one hand we are saying we are 

not putting enough work through, and on the other we are saying our officers are working very hard.  They are 

trying to put files through, but they are up against the things I have talked about, which is that there is a huge 

blockage in time due to digital and due to the third-party information issues.   

 

I think we have a model that will work.  It is under constant review.  Amanda Pearson [Commander, MPS], who 

leads on the BCUs, is constantly doing reviews of all aspects of the BCUs and the work.  We are not in any way 

complacent about the model.  We have not put the model in place and “That’s it, it’s done now”.  It is under 

continual review.  We are looking at it very regularly to make sure we can try to make it as effective as possible.   

 

These officers are under pressure.  It is a very high-pressure area.  If we had more then we could alleviate that 

but we need experienced officers, as you have indicated.  We do not want to lose experience as well.  I am not 

saying this is a perfect situation, far from it.  We know we need to do more.  We know we need to improve our 

training around the trauma-informed situation.  However, a lot of it is down to the digital stuff causing huge 

delays, the disclosure situation being so challenging for officers and the way the court process works does not 

assist the officers in putting files together quickly and moving it through the system. 

Page 37



 

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you.  We are seeing some of the issues that we have raised before.  

Sophie, perhaps you could let us know when this Justice Matters meeting is.  They are open for us to sit in, are 

they not? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Sorry, yes, absolutely. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  If you could let us know about that and we could then see the follow-up action 

plan so we can keep a note on this.  Likewise, Claire, anything you are doing in this area, which I know the 

Committee is particularly interested in. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Without wanting to prolong it any further, in 

terms of reviewing the BCU restructure that is something I meet with Mark Simmons [Assistant Commissioner, 

MPS] and Amanda Pearson [Commander, MPS] regularly to look at in terms of continuing to make sure there 

are any tweaks that are needed. 

 

The thing about the case files, I also have visited the BCUs to talk about what is happening with safeguarding 

and talk to officers.  What has happened as well is that there is much greater visibility and there is the 

Safeguarding Dashboard that supervisors can now go into and absolutely see how many cases are in.  I do not 

know if you saw that when you were visiting.  There have been improvements but, as Steve says, it does have 

to be kept under review and we do have to make sure it is doing what it is expected to do. 

 

I do also get reports back and we can see from some of the Office for Standards in Education, Children’s 

Services and Skills reports coming back that safeguarding has improved and the restructure has been part of 

that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Perhaps you might want to look at the number of cases supervisors are 

managing and so on because that is certainly one of the many things I picked up on these visits.  Thank you. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Thank you, Caroline.  We are moving on to the next set of questions on 

preparation for a no-deal European Union (EU) exit and implications for policing in London.  Len. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  The last time we asked questions around this you were here, Steve.  I wonder if you can give 

us a general statement updating where we are on those preparations and the assessments you have been asked 

to undertake? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  The one thing that has 

changed, probably simply due to the politics and the shifting timescales, is the public order situation in relation 

to this which goes up and down in terms of tension based on, frankly, the politics and where we are in the 

process.  We are anticipating a fair level of demonstrations in London over the next few weeks and months in 

relation to Brexit.  Everything else really is as it was the last time I spoke with you.   

 

I chair a very regular Brexit meeting of all parts of the organisation to look at our readiness for Brexit.  It is 

going to be a topic at the next Commissioner senior leadership event so people are up to speed with what is 

going on and we can pick up any ideas that they may have on any threats to our business continuity. 

 

We cover all areas from our commercial contracts through to operational readiness for demonstrations and 

operational readiness on the BCUs in terms of any issues that may arise on BCUs, particularly working closely 

with the local councils to make sure we have joined-up plans around any issues that might occur. 

Page 38



 

 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Let us hone in to some specifics around some of the issues.  In terms of the additional 

operation pressures on potential deployment issues, are we envisaging cancelling leave, what is the thinking 

about that if no deal occurs? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Again, that is a bit 

fluid.  We are anticipating, if it is 31 October and we leave with no deal at that point, that may be a day we 

have to cancel leave.  It may be important to have as many officers available as possible.  However, as we can 

see from events in Parliament, we are certainly not in control of the situation and therefore it has to remain 

quite fluid for us.  We are well aware that we have far more cancelled leave days this year than in previous 

years.  It is approaching 15 days so far designated as ‘Red Days’ and normally ‘Red Days’ are around about 

four or five, therefore we are putting an awful lot of demand on our officers because of the elongation of this.   

 

Len Duvall AM:  Those demands on officers would be not just be cancelling some of their leave arrangements 

but also internal redeployment of officers, is that part of the planning regime or not? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We are not looking at 

massive internal redeployment at this moment in time because we do not know where the pressures are going 

to arise.  It may be it is a public order pressure in and around central London.  It may be that it is actually other 

issues on BCUs and we just need more officers on duty to deal with them and provide public reassurance on 

the BCUs.  At the moment we are not anticipating a large amount of mutual aid to other forces from the MPS.  

That is not something we are being asked to provide in any big numbers at this moment in time. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  The big numbers, let us go on to that, in terms of mutual aid.  I think the last time we 

discussed this we were talking about Northern Ireland.  We have already seen Police Scotland and its 

commitment.  If asked by the Police Service of Northern Ireland (PSNI) our commitment would be 150 officers, 

is that still the case?  When we were talking you were just about to send them on their training that is mostly 

around public order. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes.  Some of these 

would also be specialist officers rather than simply public order officers in sheer numbers.  That is what we 

have trained up in public order tactics for Northern Ireland, yes. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  If that request came what sort of deployment period would we be looking for, for them to 

relocate to Northern Ireland? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  In terms of how long 

would it take? 

 

Len Duvall AM:  No, the period of time.  What would be the minimum?   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  There would be no 

point in them going for a single day.  We would expect them to be going for two or three days, probably up to 

a week but not much more than that. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  That is what you would be looking at in terms of managing those numbers? 

 

Page 39



 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes, because we have 

150 who are trained obviously we may not send all of those at any one time.  If it is going to be an ongoing 

commitment then it would be pointless sending them all one week and not having any the next week. 

 

It is important to say here we have not had any request from PSNI for any mutual aid so far.  If we get one we 

will look at it, we have not had a request yet. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  It is something you keep constantly under review and you have to be on standby to deliver if 

that request is made? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Sure, we have to be on 

standby to deliver mutual aid to a number of forces nationally if it is required. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  It is slightly different from being deployed down into Kent to help them out marshalling 

lorries or maybe some civil disorder there to being redeployed to Northern Ireland.  There is slightly a different 

context. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  That is acknowledged 

because the tactics are different and that is why they had the extra training, yes. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  In terms of other issues, some of the stuff that has either been leaked or Government has 

put into the public domain, and planning for the resilience of these issues and around that, one of the missing 

bits is the gap about people’s behaviour.  The police have done lots of work around public order issues, 

behaviour and what happens in certain circumstances, learning lessons from the past and all the rest of it.   

 

In terms of some of the other deployment issues, there has been talk in Yellowhammer about fuel shortages 

and issues with food distribution.  We are told it is not the worst-case scenario; these are possible scenarios in 

terms of no deal.  What would be the role of the police in those circumstances, making sure that the right 

goods get through if there are issues around human behaviour that necessitate you taking action?  What is the 

thinking around that? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Your phrase ‘human 

behaviour’ is the one I would focus on.  We will respond to outbreaks of disorder and we will respond to 

criminality.  We will not be providing any sort of assistance with the distribution chain short of that.  If there 

are fuel shortages - and I have no idea whether that is going to be the scenario or not - and they are properly 

managed by the companies and by the petrol stations, the police will not be involved in that.  If there is 

disorder - as there would be for any other reason, as there would be for disorder at a football match or 

anywhere else - then the police will engage. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Let us look at the other side of leaving the EU, whether it is no deal or not, and some of the 

arrangements we have had with the EU that will cease at some stage.  How are those negotiations going?  Of 

course the MPS is in a special position because of its locus and other issues with our European partners.  We 

are sitting at the table in these debates but presuming we believe nationally that they have been dealt with, 

where are we on some of those programmes that I think have been raised with you before?  If we leave, we 

cannot keep those programmes - they have to be different - but clearly there are arrangements to try to 

maintain some semblance of co-operation with those on the European mainland around dealing with 

criminality.  Where are we on that? 

 

Page 40



 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is a UK approach to 

this.  It is being led by one of our officers, a Deputy Assistant Commissioner (DAC), Richard Martin, but he is 

leading on behalf of the UK.  The unit that he has set up is the International Crime Coordination Centre.  It is 

based in London but it has single points of contact across all the forces in the UK.  What they are doing is 

putting in place a network so that forces can as easily as possible access the replacement arrangements that 

will be in place in the event of the existing arrangements not being in place.   

 

Len Duvall AM:  Are they temporary arrangements?  Do you envisage a period where we can renegotiate 

those to increase their capabilities?  From the Committee’s point of view, the arrangements in place are not the 

same as what they were in the past but are there opportunities in the future, do you envisage, for maybe new 

treaties or new negotiations once things have settled down, if and when? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is probably not that 

dissimilar to trade arrangements in many respects, in that given time we will be able to enter into agreements 

with countries.  There is a question as to whether or not we can do that bilaterally or whether we have to do it 

with the EU as a group.  That has to be bottomed out.  As time goes on, we may well be able to put in place 

more effective alternative arrangements.  What we are going to go to in the event of us leaving is, in many 

respects, the predecessor or what was in place before the EU came along.  They are in existence but they are 

often not as effective as what is in place right now.   

 

Len Duvall AM:  Long-term, the MPS has a good record of international cooperation that extends to more 

than just protocols and processes.  Will it lead to further international deployment of embedded officers in 

some locations, if it warranted that, on behalf of UK police? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  That is a role that has 

really been taken over by the National Crime Agency (NCA). 

 

Len Duvall AM:  They would do that rather than yourselves? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  They would facilitate any handling and liaison type roles that might occur? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Is there a pattern around the sorts of criminality that we have been dealing with?  We must 

have some history now of how those processes have worked on our behalf.  Is there a pattern of where it might 

be appropriate to focus?  I do not want to criminalise so I do not want to name the countries, but is there a 

pattern where you would focus in a certain region where it may well be to our advantage to have that sort of 

liaison by the NCA? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I think it is common 

sense, Len.  If you look at where the NCA has liaison officers based, they are based where there is business, to 

put it crudely.  They are not based where there is no business. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  It is already in existence. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Page 41



 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Can I just add a couple of things in terms of 

that?  Obviously your questions about leaving depend on whether there is a deal or no deal because if we leave 

with no deal there will be nothing.  If there is a deal, there are some transitional arrangements and then it is 

what happens after that.  Even with a deal, we will not be part of Eurojust, we will not be part of Europol, we 

will not be sitting at the strategic table having an influence over strategic decisions and we will not have joint 

investigation teams.  You may be able to put some bilateral arrangements in place but we will lose significant 

influence over crime and security in Europe and that is incredibly important.   

 

Then there is of course the issue around extradition.  Some countries will not extradite to another country if 

they are not part of the EU, Germany being one, and it is in their constitution.  I cannot see there being an 

easy path to having bilateral agreements with Germany when they will have to have a referendum on their 

constitution.  It is not a good place.  An even worse place is no deal but even leaving Europe with a deal will be 

very difficult in some areas. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Thank you for that intervention.  Is this high on the agenda of Police and Crime 

Commissioners (PCCs) across England and Wales and are they lobbying the Home Office to say, “OK, whatever 

happens here, we have to do more.  Regardless of what the statements are, what are you doing, UK 

Government, around this?” 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  It is.  We have regular meetings of all the PCCs 

and we have had discussions around Brexit.  We have a lead PCC for Brexit, Lord Willy Bach, who is the PCC for 

Leicestershire.  He is the lead on this in terms of lobbying the Government. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Thank you for that.  Chair, just moving on, forgive me, Deputy Commissioner, my office was 

in contact with someone in the police preparing your briefing today and gave notice that I would be asking 

some questions around some issues that I raised with the Commissioner.  I understand that you do not think 

that is in your briefing note.  It is regarding the investigation into Leave.EU in terms of two allegations.   

 

Back in May this year, the Commissioner was at this meeting.  The meeting was also joined by the Electoral 

Commission.  In fact the day before, the MPS signed a very unique protocol with them about how they would 

do any future investigations arising on it.  The trouble was, in terms of the Commissioner, it was quite clear she 

was expecting some results in weeks.  I do not want to go into details of the investigation; I am not asking 

about that.  It is now three months later and people are becoming concerned about how this investigation has 

proceeded.  There are parallels to other investigations in the past.  Again, if it is not in your briefing notes, can 

you give any indication of when there might well be some news about what is, I think, an important 

investigation regarding democracy and some of those issues?  There are parallels, I think we can say, with what 

happened in Tower Hamlets, but I do not want to go into the Tower Hamlets issue.  Could you give us any 

updates? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  The update I can give 

you is that, as we know, we are dealing with three specific individuals or cases.  One case is with the CPS for 

their consideration and we are proceeding with the other two cases but they are not yet with the CPS.  We 

expect they will be. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Inevitably one does not want to put pressure on, but is there an expectation of a time aspect 

to those last two?  It has been some period.  The allegations previously were in 2018. 

 

Page 42



 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  The case that is with 

the CPS was referred early last month [August 2019].  I do not have a timescale for the other two cases but I 

do not expect it to be a very long period of time.  I cannot do better than that, I am afraid.   

 

Len Duvall AM:  OK.  Now, on the other issues, I do not want to quote the Commissioner verbatim about the 

Electoral Commission but I think we could safely say that both sides said some very good words about each 

other.  Literally in the space of May to July we see some very uncomplimentary things said about the Electoral 

Commission that they did not recognise, which came in an exchange of letters that became public.  I do not 

believe the Commissioner misled this Committee. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not believe she did 

either. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  I do not believe she misled this Committee over what she said.  I do not understand how that 

can be in the space of that period of time, commenting over a period preceding what the Commissioner was 

reporting to this Committee and saying to this Committee, what happened?  What was this about?  It is 

certainly not something this Committee would recognise from the meeting in May.  Somehow that deteriorated 

into this exchange from the MPS blaming another agency for their supposed failings. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I spoke to Alex Murray, 

who is the Commander leading this investigation, yesterday.  What he was keen for me to stress is that he has 

a very good working relationship with the Electoral Commission.  On a day-to-day basis they have differences 

of opinions about things but in general the relationship is a good working relationship.  We believe we have all 

the information and data that we need to carry out the investigation from the Electoral Commission and are in 

a position to proceed with it.  Relationships, as I say, are good.  We are trying to work with them on a 

memorandum of understanding to put it on a more official footing but he is happy with the working 

relationship.  I do not really have the detail to go into why it looked different in print. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Do you want to write to me then, and copy it to this Committee? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I can do, sure. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  It is such a damning exchange by your legal officers within the MPS in terms of the Electoral 

Commission.  Presumably they are commissioned by somebody else.  Someone must have given them that 

information for them to write to the Electoral Commission in that way, and/or, almost certainly, who put it into 

the public domain.  It would not be the Electoral Commission who put it into the public domain.  It can only 

have come from one other source.  We presume it is tight.  It is either the MPS or the Electoral Commission.  I 

would not want, if I was in the Electoral Commission, to put what was said about me into the public domain.  I 

am only leading to the view that someone in the MPS sought to put that into the public domain to defend 

their position of why they had not proceeded with the cases in, from my point of view, a timely manner.   

 

I made a flippant remark saying that every time I seemed to write a letter to, as I think it was then Commander 

[Neil] Jerome, something happened incrementally.  Of course it just appears like that.  I just think someone 

needs to ask some other questions about how long this has taken and why.  It does go back to an earlier 

conversation that is so unusual in terms of the MPS.  It is either the ‘too difficult’ box or a sensitive issue, or it 

is about rich and powerful people and the police not being willing to go into those difficult and complex areas.  

I am very grateful for you telling me that we have got to the CPS.   

 

Page 43



 

 

It just seems to me it is a matter of whether the law has been broken or it has not.  I am not going to come 

looking for you if you come back and tell me it has not, to be honest, but the length of time it takes just gives 

a further doubt that the MPS is either a) not taking it seriously, or b) does not want to proceed with it because 

it is in that ‘too difficult’ box.  It is not just me saying that, there are other commentators, and I do think it 

goes back then to some of the original things raised earlier on about reputational damage that is unnecessary 

around how we pick and choose which investigations we are going to do.   

 

I know that you personally, Deputy Commissioner, do not pick and choose crimes.  You go and chase the 

evidence, if there is evidence, and you bring people to court, but there is something about these particular 

issues the MPS has problems with and I just do not understand.  I know they are complex and I know it does 

take time sometimes but in terms of what has been presented to me, exchanges of letters and issues saying, 

“We are going to do this and that”, and then to see subsequently this exchange in the press, a leaked letter 

challenging another agency about their failings, it does make me feel uncomfortable with this approach. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  OK. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  I am pleased with what you are telling me today but maybe you could write to us. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I can write, but can I 

just take a quick stab at the letter business?   

 

Len Duvall AM:  Yes. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Effectively, the MPS 

wrote a letter to a solicitors’ company who were criticising us for the delay and we rebutted the allegation that 

we were causing the delay.  That was a letter from us back to the solicitors.  That is the letter that was made 

public.   

 

Len Duvall AM:  Ah, right, OK.   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is not my view that 

we made it public but I do not know who did make it public. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  OK.  All right, I get that.  I understand that. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It was not a letter 

direct from the Commissioner back to the Electoral Commission. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  No, I know it was from your legal department. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes, sorry.  It was not a 

letter from us to the Electoral Commission. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  It was to a third party. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It was to a third party. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  All right, I get that.  I understand the third party is considering legal action against the MPS 

over this issue or the failure of the progress in terms of this issue. 

Page 44



 

 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  OK, I get that and I am glad to be corrected that there is another potential source of those 

issues.  I stand by that the content of the letter is still not the same and I do not believe, and I do not believe 

any of these Members  [believe], because there has been no occasion that I can ever go back to of you, 

Cressida [Dick] or even her predecessors at this level, the senior management board, ever misleading this 

Committee.  What the Commissioner was telling me was the truth as she was told it and where it was.  I am 

very glad that you have repeated that today in terms of the officer that is overseeing the investigation at the 

moment.  There is still a problem here of why this occurred. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  We would like to hear in a bit more detail about how you could do that. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  OK.  Susan. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  All right.  I am very aware that we are short of time -- 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  No.  You have been patient.  Have your say. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  If I could just go back to the Brexit planning and just make a comment, when we leave the 

EU on 31 October [2019], can we make sure that there is planning in place for dancing in the street, street 

parties and joyous exuberance from millions of us?  Thank you. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  On that note, we will move to the last set of questions, on facial recognition.  

Sian, you have been waiting patiently also. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you very much, Chair.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  We moved this item over from the last meeting, did we not?  Carry on. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  At the last meeting we were awaiting the publication of the valuation by Essex University.  

We thought we would revisit it again today and it turns out that it is also quite timely. 

 

The first question I have for you, Deputy Commissioner, is: have you now released your technical evaluation 

report on your trial of facial recognition technology? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  No, we have not 

released it yet. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  When will you release it? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not know, but I 

see no reason why it should not be released.  I do not know why it has not been released but maybe it is simply 

ongoing and we are still working on it.  I can find out.  No, we have not released it yet.  I asked that question.  

I do not know the date when it is to be released. 

 

Page 45



 

 

Sian Berry AM:  OK.  We were expecting it at the same time as the Essex one, originally.  If they are not 

coming out together, then we would expect to see it quite soon.  The second question is: in the course of 

publishing the Essex University review, you did not exercise your right of reply on the report.  What is your 

view of the report? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not have a 

personal view of the report. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  You are speaking on behalf of the MPS, I guess, today. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Obviously, you know 

there was the ethics report from the Mayor’s [Policing] Ethics Panel.  Then we commissioned the Essex report 

to give us differing views on facial recognition and I guess we have differing views on facial recognition 

because the Mayor’s Panel report seemed generally positive, so long as it was constrained and proportionate, 

and the Essex report took a different tack, I think.  It is useful to get different views and we await the judicial 

review from South Wales to see what that brings us as well in terms of a different view. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I asked at the 3 July [2019] meeting here whether the MPS would again use facial 

recognition technology now that the trial had finished.  Mark Simmons, the Assistant Commissioner, said: 

 

“We have stopped current work on facial recognition in terms of active operational use of it so that we 

can take stock of where we are.” 

 

The Deputy Mayor said: 

 

“We have been clear that there should be no further use of any of the technology until the five 

recommendations [of the London Policing Ethics Panel] have been addressed, and that does also 

include a review of the two reports.” 

 

The second report she was referring to was the technical evaluation.   

 

Can you confirm you are not using it currently on the streets?  I have eye-witness reports of facial recognition 

marked vans out on the weekend at the pro-democracy protest that took place after the prorogation of 

Parliament.   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We do not have vans 

marked ‘facial recognition’ and we are not deploying facial recognition in the streets. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I am quite well aware of what a facial recognition van looks like and I have had the van 

described to me that passed through Trafalgar Square.  Can you confirm it was not used at that pro-democracy 

protest? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We have not used and 

are not using facial recognition.  It was a pilot.  It was used on 10 occasions.  The last one was in Romford 

many months ago and we are not using it. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Can you just try to track down and confirm what that van was that people saw there? 

 

Page 46



 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Sorry, if you want to 

write to me with the details, I can have it looked at. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Sorry, Steve, just to be clear, it did say ‘facial recognition’ on it.  That is the report that we 

have had.  No one was inventing that.  I will endeavour to get you some evidence of what people saw and if 

you can explain that evidence to me that would be very useful. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I may not be able to 

explain it to you, but I am telling you that we are not using facial recognition on the streets of London. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  OK.  That is good to know. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We stopped when I 

said we would stop.  Romford was the last one we did. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That was the final trial that you did.  OK, that is good to know but obviously it is very 

worrying to have heard these reports from Saturday. 

 

At the 14 May [2019] Police and Crime Committee meeting, the Commissioner was asked about the potential 

compilation of facial recognition watchlists based on protests and protester images captured on the streets and 

asked whether anything other than custody images were being used to compile watchlists for automated facial 

recognition.  She, like you did just now, expressed some kind of surprise that I should even ask this but she did 

promise to write with more information and I have not had any reply to that yet.  Can I chase that up via you 

today?  If you have any information, you can give it to us. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Sure.  I will make a 

note of that.  I apologise you have not had that. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  OK, great.  My final question is that the judgment has now come out on the judicial review 

(JR) of South Wales police trials of facial recognition.  This concludes these trials were possible under the law 

as it stands, based on the fact that they were used for a limited time and for specific and limited purposes in 

each case, as a trial.  This judgment is being appealed by Liberty.  The JR against your own MPS trials is 

currently under a stay because you are not using it.  That is why I was so interested in whether or not you have 

used it again on the streets.   

 

Can we expect, though, in light of the judgment today, that you might start redeploying it, or will you wait, as 

promised at the last meeting, for the full evaluation to take place of the two reports? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  What we are waiting 

for is first the JR from South Wales, which we are interested in.  I do not have the information you have so I did 

not know that.  We are waiting for a full evaluation of the reports we are talking about.  Most importantly, we 

are waiting to make sure that Management Board has a proper discussion about how, where, when and if we 

will deploy facial recognition on the streets of London.   

 

I have to say - and it is appropriate to say because we do not want to be hiding anything from you - that my 

view is that facial recognition should be deployed on the streets of London so long as it is done within a legal 

framework.  The JR may be saying that there is a legal framework, and I have not seen it so I do not honestly 

know.  We have approached the Home Secretary to say that if it is not clear, we would like clarity on facial 

recognition.  The Commissioner has said that on many occasions around the legislation or use of it.   

Page 47



 

 

 

We would also pay a great deal of attention to and be bound by what the sample of 1,000 Londoners said.  Of 

those, 83% or 84% were happy that it be used for serious crime but increasingly less so for minor offences.  

That is pretty much where we are in that proportionate use we think is the right thing to do.  To ignore a 

technology like this is not only folly but probably pointless.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, it definitely needs regulation and oversight.   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We completely agree. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Potentially, as ethical tests are very hard to meet, particularly for serious crimes where the 

consequences of misidentification - and we await your technical report - are much more serious. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We accept that. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Those two sets of balances are in conflict with each other. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I accept that entirely.  I 

would say though, just for the interest of Members, we have a strong view that the levels of accuracy reflected 

in media reports, including the pilots we have used, have not been accurate themselves.  The accuracy is 

significantly higher than has been reported. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Obviously the Essex [University] report challenged effectively the denominator of your 

accuracy figures, so there are conflicting views there as well. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I have a number of 

scientists who disagree with that, but there we are. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Turning to the Deputy Mayor, I do not know if you have any further comment to make.  Your 

comments last time were quite clear.  We still do not have the two reports.  The Commissioner is reported 

today in as saying in Sydney, I think yesterday, that we do need to be careful that we do not sleepwalk into 

what she described as “a ghastly Orwellian omniscient police state”.  It essentially seems to be crying out for 

some regulatory, ethical political direction on all of this.  Are you and the Mayor preparing to offer her that, 

bearing all the evidence that we have seen in mind? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  That is why we asked the Ethics Panel to have a 

look at this.  I absolutely agree with Steve in terms of having to look at the technical report and the evaluation 

of that but we have also agreed with the Mayor that there will not be any further use of facial recognition until 

the recommendations of the Ethics Panel have been addressed.  On top of that, the Mayor has already written 

to the Government to ask for legislation, regulation or proper standards around the use of facial recognition 

and will continue to lobby for that.  I have not seen the JR either and I will have to take a look at it, but we will 

still need a really clear framework.  I think that is what the Commissioner was asking for in her comments there. 

 

When the Biometrics Commissioner produced their report last year, he or she - I cannot remember who it was - 

said that there needed to be clear standards around the use of live facial recognition, and the Home Office 

agreed with that and said they would work to put those guidelines in place.  They are not there and so we will 

continue to lobby for that. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  OK.  Thank you.   

Page 48



 

 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Chair, can I just be 

clear on one thing, though?  Our view is that there should be clear national guidance, whether it is legislation 

or some other form, around the use of facial recognition live-time by the police service.  We are completely up 

for that but once that is in place the view the Commissioner has, which I want to echo here, is that it is an 

operational tool and will be deployed on view of the Commissioner, so long as the guidance is there.  We are 

taking baby steps here at the moment.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  You have been quite clear today that while we have not finished our evaluation it will not be 

used and that will be reassuring for some people to hear. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  No, sorry, I need to be 

clear here.  If the JR - and I have no idea what it says - is saying, “Actually, you can go ahead”, then that is a 

different matter because if the Home Office refuse or say, “You do not need more guidance, you do not need 

more legislation”, then we will be faced with a situation of having to go ahead.  We would prefer guidance. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  With respect, the assurances we were given last time were based on the publication of the 

evaluation of the two reports -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes, I accept that. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  -- which we still do not have, and the ethical tests, not on any other legal case.  Hopefully 

those assurances do stand given the conditions that the MPS set at the last meeting. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I was probably trying to 

offer you more assurance.  What I am saying is that if the JR says that the legislation currently is OK and we go 

through the test you have just talked about, then we will feel free to go ahead if we think that is the right 

thing to do.  We just need to wait and see how the Home Office responds in terms of whether there is clarity 

right now or not. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  OK.  We will be keeping a very close eye on anything that occurs on our streets.   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I am sure you will. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Fine.  On that note, can I thank our guests for attending today and for their 

answers to our questions? 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



 
 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Police and Crime Committee 
Date: Thursday 19 September 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee 

  

 
Present: 
 
Unmesh Desai AM (Chair) 
Steve O'Connell AM (Deputy Chairman) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Sian Berry AM 
Andrew Dismore AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Peter Whittle AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Len Duvall AM and Susan Hall AM. 

 

1.2 Andrew Boff AM attended the meeting and in accordance with Standing Order 8.2 A, 

participated in the meeting with the consent of the Chair. 

 

1.3 On behalf of the Committee, the Chair congratulated Cressida Dick DBE QPM, Commissioner 

of Police of the Metropolis, who following the announcement in relation to Honours 

conferred by Her Majesty the Queen, had been made a Dame Commander of the British 

Empire in recognition of her public service. 

 

1.4 During the discussion on Modern Slavery (Agenda Item 4), the Chair welcomed a Bahraini 

youth group who were observing the meeting from the public gallery. 

 

Page 51

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee


Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 
Thursday 19 September 2019 

 

 
 

 

2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 
 
3   Summary List of Actions (Item 3) 

 

3.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

3.2 Resolved: 
 

That the outstanding and completed actions arising from the previous meetings of 

the Committee, as listed in the report, be noted. 

 
 
4   Modern Slavery (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat, as background to 

putting questions to invited guests on modern slavery in London. 

 

4.2 The Chair welcomed the following guests: 

 Paul Wylie, Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime;  

 Tamara Barnett, Head of Office, the Human Trafficking Foundation;  

 Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer, Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities 
Unit, Metropolitan Police Service; and 

 Marissa Begonia, Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers. 

 

4.3 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

4.4 At the end of the discussion, the Chair thanked the guests for their attendance and very 

helpful contributions. 

 

4.5 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the report and discussion be noted. 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the party 

Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree any output 

from the discussion. 

Page 52



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 
Thursday 19 September 2019 

 

 
 

 

 
5   Police and Crime Committee Work Programme (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

5.2 Resolved: 

 

That the work programme, as set out in the report, be noted. 

 
 
6   Date of Next Meeting (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The date of the next meeting was scheduled for Thursday, 3 October 2019 at 10am in the 

Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
7   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 7) 

 

7.1 There was no other business the Chair considered urgent. 

 
 
8   Close of Meeting 

 

8.1 The meeting ended at 11.52am. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 6559;  

Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54



 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 

Police and Crime Committee – Thursday, 19 September 2019 
 

Transcript of Item 4 – Modern Slavery 
 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  We now move on to our main item of business, which is a discussion with our 

invited guests on modern slavery.  First, I would like to welcome our guests and ask you to briefly introduce 

yourselves.  We will start with you, Paul. 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime):  Good morning.  My name is 

Paul Wylie and I am the Director of Strategy at the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC).  I am also 

the Co-Chair of the London Modern Slavery Partnership Board. 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  My name is Tamara Barnett and 

I am the Head of Office at the Human Trafficking Foundation. 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, 

Metropolitan Police Service (MPS)):  Good morning.  Phil Brewer, Detective Superintendent.  I have 

responsibility for the MPS (MPS) Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit.  I am also the lead responsible 

officer for modern slavery within the MPS. 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  I am Marissa Begonia.  I am a 

domestic worker myself and a co-ordinator of the Voice of Domestic Workers, a self-help group run by and for 

migrant domestic workers campaigning for our rights and welfare. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Thank you.  We have a number of questions under specific sections to ask of 

you.  If I can start off with setting the scene, so to speak, the background to this issue, the Archbishop of 

Westminster, some two years ago, in the Evening Standard, which did a major investigation into this subject, 

described modern slavery as the “dark underbelly” of London society.   

 

This is a question I will ask all of you.  London has some of the highest numbers of modern slavery victims in 

the United Kingdom (UK).  From your experience, what types of modern slavery are most prominent in the 

capital?  If I can start off with you, Paul, and then move across [to the other guests]. 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime):  Of course.  What we have 

tried to do with the London Modern Slavery Partnership Board is bring together the police, first and foremost, 

including MOPAC’s oversight role, but to convene third sector and statutory partners to effectively answer that 

question.  What we have found through our many conversations is that by bringing the MPS’s intelligence to 

the meeting, we can then compare that with colleagues such as Tamara [Barnett] and others to get some  

real-time feedback about what they are experiencing.  We all know this is a crime that, unless you go to look 

for it or ask for it, does not necessarily get reported to you.  It is very important that the MPS has incredibly 

good stakeholder and partner links and that is what the Partnership Board seeks to achieve. 

 

In answer to your question, what type of offences we are most commonly coming across, it is interesting to see 

the journey from when the MPS and National Crime Agency (NCA) started this properly around 2015 and 

2016, when they were identifying areas that they were coming across anyway, particularly sexual trafficking.  

Page 55



 

 
 

The statistics and the approach is moving far more into looking at a much wider grouping, particularly forced 

labour.  About one-third of the statistics coming through are in that regard now and then other issues that are, 

again, more hidden, including domestic servitude and hospitality.  There is always an industrial link to some 

extent.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Tamara, from your experiences? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  I think the data is very 

unreliable in this area.  One of the challenges is that we tend to find what we are looking for.  Historically, as 

Paul said, the MPS looked for sex trafficking and sexual exploitation.  We broadly recognise now that labour 

trafficking is almost certainly a larger group, partly because the sorts of the trafficking in labour involve larger 

groups of people.  So the data is very unreliable.   

 

I would say I really welcome MOPAC focusing on labour and domestic servitude because that has historically 

been ignored, but in terms of the data it is also thinking about what is not really being reported.  Now we are 

beginning to recognise, for example, criminal exploitation of young British children.  We used to only focus 

really on, for example, Vietnamese children being exploited.  It is looking at what we are not really recognising.  

Now we recognise the exploitation of British girls, for example, but we still have a bit of a blind spot around 

the exploitation sexually of British boys and there are other types of areas, like sham marriages and these kinds 

of other areas, which we have not really explored.  Domestic servitude is one that I know MOPAC is looking at, 

but it is incredibly hidden, partly because it is not organised and the police historically have always focused on 

organised crime.  These domestic servitude cases are very, very hard to uncover. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Thank you.  We are coming to you, Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer, and 

thank you for sending us some information yesterday. 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  

That is fine.  I am sorry it was last minute. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  No, no.  It all helps. 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  

Just leading on from what Tamara says, and I think it is a really important point, I will run through the statistics 

in a minute as to what has been reported but we all know how hidden this crime is and the fact is that the 

more vulnerable you are, the less likely you are to report it to us.  It does give a bit of a distorted picture.   

 

That said, just to give you a little bit of a potted history.  I took over the Unit from Kevin Hyland [OBE] in 

2014.  As Tamara said, it was very much focused around sexual exploitation.  In terms of labour allegations, 

reports of forced labour, we had seven in 2014.  The reason I make a point of that is that when you look at the 

statistics from the National Referral Mechanism (NRM) for this financial year, for forced labour we have had 

513 NRM referrals.  Forced criminality - and this is the first time we have counted this as a standalone, 

separate from forced labour - is 408.  Sexual exploitation: 305.  It puts into context how things have changed.   

 

A lot of that is to do with some of the work that we have done with our non-governmental organisation (NGO) 

partners and with local authorities.  The whole Government agenda throughout from about 2016, in raising 

awareness, has given people an understanding that they are being exploited and to report those allegations.  It 

has resulted in a complete change in terms of landscape. 

 

Page 56



 

 
 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Right.  Finally, Marissa? 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  We have been working with 

migrant domestic workers for the last 10 years.  The difficulties we have with the current system at the 

moment is the absence of prevention, which is giving the domestic workers enough time to be able to adjust, 

to adapt and to understand the system we have at the moment.   

 

Previously, it was easier for us to help and support domestic workers who are coming here.  We basically do 

rescue operations.  We go to households where they work, if they reported being abused, and take them out of 

that household, but taking them to the police is harder now.  Before it was easier because we knew they could 

renew their visa.  Even if they were near expiry, we knew they could renew their visa.  Now it is hard because 

they cannot renew the visa and most of them have no documents so we could not tell if they have a visa or 

not.  It is harder to take them to the police because we do not know if they have visas and they are also very 

scared.   

 

In our experience as well, in many cases that we have, let us say if the employer reported them missing to the 

police, mostly they have my number and I become the suspect, so I would immediately take them to the police 

station to say that they actually ran away, they have escaped and that they are not coming back.  Now it is 

harder for me to go to the police and take them immediately.  It is the absence of, sometimes -- 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  

Documents. 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  Yes, documents.  Also, we recently 

talked to Phil Brewer about what happened with the incident in Camden before.  I talked to them later. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  We will be asking you questions about referral services, the response of the 

police and so on, but very specifically in terms of the types of modern slavery, you mentioned domestic 

servitude.  Is there anything else that concerns you, any other type of modern slavery? 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  Referring them to the NRM, is 

that what -- 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  No, no, the types of modern slavery.  We talked about domestic situations. 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  When we are talking about abuse 

of domestic workers, it is the physical abuse.  They have been beaten.  There is sexual harassment.  There is 

rape as well.  We do rescue them immediately if they talk about being molested by the male employer, we do 

that quickly, but the problem we have with the NRM is that you need evidence, you need witnesses, and 

domestic workers who are working in private households cannot produce that evidence.  The problem is there 

and it has to be taken forward. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  OK.  Just moving on, you have given us some statistics, Detective 

Superintendent Brewer, and thank you for that, but we know that modern slavery is a hidden crime which is 

under-reported.  If you were going to estimate the true scale of the problem, how many victims of modern-day 

slavery do you think there are in London?  I will put the same question to Tamara [Barnett] as well. 

 

Page 57



 

 
 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  It is 

where you set the scale, that point as to what you consider to be modern slavery.  We always talk about 

modern slavery, we have spoken about modern slavery for years, but in terms of exploitation that is a very 

small part of what we see.  If you asked me to put a figure on it, I would say there are thousands of people 

within London who are exploited.  That may be in, say, an example of car washes, where the issue of holding 

someone might not be there but the fact is you have someone who is working for £3.50 an hour, living in 

extremely poor conditions.  That is exploitation.  It is really where you set the bar in terms of what you consider 

to be modern slavery and what you do not. 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  We did have many failed cases on 

the NRM.  We did have many members with failed cases on NRM because if they said they did not receive a 

salary and they did not have days off, they could not produce evidence of that.  To me, the way the NRM 

system works is that they needed to be raped, to be beaten, to be starved to death, to access protection.  

There is a big difference.  We should properly differentiate.  Workers are workers, victims are victims.  That is 

why I said the prevention side on domestic workers is really very important.  Not all of them are really victims 

of modern slavery or trafficking.  I am not sure about the definition, but it seems that domestic workers do not 

fit in there.   

 

As I have said with the referrals, there are only a few who pass but that is only on the basis of the first ground.  

What is that called, the first ground? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  Reasonable grounds. 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  

Reasonable grounds. 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  Reasonable grounds.  They pass 

the reasonable grounds but the conclusive ground is even harder to pass.  We only have a few pass.   

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  I would echo both of the points 

they have made, Phil and Marissa.  The challenge is that we do not know the numbers but what we see in the 

data are increases by about 30% or even 50% each year, which suggests that if we keep on putting the focus 

and the spotlight on it we are going to find tens of thousands in the next few years.   

 

The challenge, as Marissa has highlighted, if you look at the Government data, is that they boast a lot about 

the fact that they have had this increase in referrals but if you look at the other end, which is how many 

victims then get recognised by the Government system of support, it has actually stayed pretty low.  I think it 

is 12% or 15%.  It has been a fairly low number and it has stayed the same for the last six or so years.  What 

that suggests is that, yes, the people on the front line are identifying more victims and more victims are  

self-identifying, but the system has such a stringent level of what abuse amounts to -- is it one hit?  Is it rape?  

At what point is an exploited domestic worker recognised as a victim of trafficking?   

 

The challenge is at the other end of the Government system.  Most victims of trafficking are not being 

identified but we would consider that exploitation.  It is just what that term means for different people. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  I am very pleased that most of the guests have mentioned sexual trafficking.  There seems 

to have been a change of view about trafficking for sexual purposes.  Do you think the MPS’s attitude has 

changed recently?  Back in 2016 there was a thing called Operation Lanhydrock, which was intended to find 

Page 58



 

 
 

victims of sexual trafficking.  About 100 officers were used to carry out that operation and the operation was 

carried out in premises used by sex workers by Soho.  It was a glorified immigration raid and nothing else.  

There were no victims of trafficking found.  Are we going to see that happen again from the MPS, or have they 

learnt? 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  

Andrew, I would put hand on heart and say I hope it never happens again.  I absolutely understand the issues 

of that.  I think there is, slowly but surely, a change of attitude generally around these crime types.  When I 

look at how the MPS dealt with brothels maybe when I first started, it was very much about an antisocial 

behaviour issue.  The response was: we get an order, we throw a load of vulnerable people out onto the streets 

and make them more vulnerable, and we close the premises, which cannot be right.  It cannot be right.   

 

I will name two organisations that have been absolutely fantastic for us: Rahab in Kensington and Chelsea, and 

Tamar in Westminster.  We do joint brothel visits and the whole point of that is that both organisations offer 

outreach work for sex workers.  We have the scenario where we go into premises and you will have a 

conversation with predominantly women in those premises who will tell us, “We are happy to be here, this is a 

lifestyle choice”, and we all know what the “lifestyle choice” may be for those women but sometimes there is 

very little we can do from a policing perspective.  Working with those NGOs, it means that we do not just leave 

them and walk away.  They are able to build up a rapport.  In fact, I met with Rahab last week and they told me 

about a woman that they first engaged with seven years ago, who had been adamant that she was not a victim 

of exploitation.  The fact is that now she is beginning to disclose.   

 

There has been a change.  We need to make sure that it is not just the specialist units that have that mindset.  

We have definitely seen a difference and a move towards more of an approach to tackle vulnerability at Basic 

Command Unit (BCU) level as well.   

 

Andrew Boff AM:  A dialogue between the authorities and the sex workers is better, possibly, than shutting 

down their -- 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  

Absolutely.  It is a complex crime.  I do not think there are many sex workers that -- I am sure there are some, 

but there are many that did not make that choice because they wanted to make the choice to do that.  There is 

a story behind every individual that we come into contact with.  There is a story, a complex story.  Working 

together, we need to understand those stories so that we can take the right approach and make sure that we 

are doing the right thing by them. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Does the Mayor recognise that that subtle change in policing tactics is more likely to 

produce a good result? 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime):  Absolutely.  The Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime and I chaired the first of our Partnership Boards back in June 2017 and we took a 

very conscious decision, with Phil [Brewer] and the partners around the table, to actively look not at the areas 

or the issues that were already coming at us in terms of sexual trafficking and sexual abuse, but look at areas 

that are receiving less attention.  It is only because you cast a light on them that they become more of an 

issue.   

 

In response to your direct question, the Mayor has been very clear that immigration has no place in this type of 

law enforcement.  These people are victims first and foremost.  He has written to the Home Secretary with the 

Page 59



 

 
 

backing of the Victims’ Commissioner for London, Claire Waxman, to make that very clear because we had a 

few incidents about 18 months ago where that was not happening.  He has been very clear with the MPS and 

with the Home Office that the victims come first. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Thank you.  Thank you very much. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Following on from that, can I ask you what work is being done at the present 

moment to encourage victims to come forward and report, and what more can be done?  From your 

perspective, Paul, and then if I move to Tamara, Phil and Marissa.  What work is being done currently, if you 

can be specific, and then what more can be done? 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime):  What we have tried to do 

with the Partnership Board is effectively three phases of work.   

 

The first is around getting our own house in order in terms of City Hall and being a beacon of excellence to 

encourage corporations to remove some of this from their supply chains.  The second is around building 

intelligence, supporting the MPS and encouraging our partners to feed into that so that we can broaden the 

intelligence picture and the problem profile beyond what is coming at us already into those other victims’ 

services.  Then, thirdly, to identify from the victims that have been identified what services we can provide and 

what services can be identified through the Mayor’s Victim and Witness Service, which is £22 million, 

commissioned each year.   

 

It is also about where we can collectively amplify messages to increase awareness of things like domestic 

servitude, how we can work together to get greater cut-through.  The Evening Standard’s work was excellent 

for that, but actually I think we all agree that it needs very targeted work, particularly at the statutory agency 

level, because most people would not be able to identify the difference between a person who is here without 

leave to remain and victims in their own right.  On that spectrum, as Phil [Brewer] says, who is actually modern 

slavery.  It is all about identifying, within the statutory and the third sector, what we should be looking for, and 

making sure the victims’ services are there. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  I think last year the Mayor in his budget set aside a specific sum. 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime):  For a campaign? 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  My understanding is that it was meant to help set up an advice line.  Can you 

tell us more about that and how it has been spent? 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime):  Absolutely.  A lot of that was 

from good advice from you, Chair, and the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime’s conversations.  What we 

actually did was to take that sum of money - it was £600,000 for all of violence against women and girls 

(VAWG), female genital mutilation and modern slavery - was we took the modern slavery element of that, 

which was £125,000, to the Partnership Board at the back end of last year and had an entire workshop based 

on feedback from the MPS about, “This is what the intelligence picture is telling us”, broadening it out beyond 

sexual trafficking.  We workshopped what area most needs amplifying in this campaign and the decision was 

domestic servitude.   

 

An agency called Kantar has been appointed and they are doing fieldwork right now to develop behavioural 

questionnaires and impact assessments in terms of how we can encourage communities to recognise that 

Page 60



 

 
 

domestic servitude can be a problem in their area, how we can change that behaviour, and how we can then 

prove and evaluate it so that we can make the case for even greater investment.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  I will move to you, Tamara.  What is being done to encourage victims to come 

forward and what more can be done? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  There is a huge amount that 

needs to be done and there are a huge amount of elephants in the room in terms of the fact that it is a  

multi-agency approach.  The Board is really important, but it cannot just be the police, it cannot just be the 

local authorities, it cannot just be the National Health Service (NHS) and communities; it has to be everyone 

working together.  That is a real challenge going forward.   

 

Obviously, there are some real challenges in terms of Government policies, whether it is around immigration or 

around funding for social care, but I think the two big challenges around policing are, first, improving training 

and improving identification.  The MPS’s Trafficking Unit is very good now but on a borough level it is a lot 

more hit and miss, I think we can say.  There is some good practice and there is some quite concerning 

practice.  As a result of that, we are seeing some victims of trafficking being criminalised.   

 

Obviously, there has been a lot about the ‘county lines’ type cases and there is much more awareness, for 

example, of British children and their vulnerabilities and why maybe they should not always be criminalised, but 

there was a case last week.  There are vulnerable people whose houses are often taken over, so-called 

‘cuckooed’, by the gangs, and what we found in the case last week was that that individual was imprisoned 

with the rest of the gang.  Those individuals are victims, for example.  Their houses have been taken over.  

They are often physically or even sexually abused.  We are seeing a lot of types of vulnerable people still being 

criminalised in the system. 

 

In terms of support that is the other big area of concern, certainly for our sector and our organisation.  There 

are three areas where the sector is weak.  There is pre-NRM.  The Government provides short-term support, 

called the NRM, but before a victim of trafficking enters the reasonable grounds decision that 

Marissa [Begonia] mentioned, it does not provide support or housing.  We know police, for example, have 

identified a whole range.  They entered a nail bar and found 10 individuals who were potential victims of 

trafficking but even the police and local authorities are struggling to get emergency accommodation and some 

of those victims might get lost before they even enter the NRM.   

 

Then within the NRM itself, I think a lot of people assume that everyone just goes into it, gets support and 

gets a roof over their head but actually only 20% of victims of trafficking in the NRM get housed.  A few years 

ago, about 40% - I do not know what the data is now - went into asylum accommodation, which is completely 

inappropriate in most cases.  It is very unsafe.  You have entire families in one room with no access to cooking 

and sometimes young babies.  Or they might also go into local authority housing, which can sometimes work 

but there is a lot of bad practice.   

 

There was a case that had a [Safeguarding Adults} Case Review in the last year.  It was called Drina.  You can 

find it online.  It was in Barking and Dagenham.  The woman was a very vulnerable young woman with severe 

mental health and learning difficulties.  They needed accommodation and they did not have anything, so they 

put her in a dementia care home, which put the people in the dementia care home at risk and also the woman 

herself.   

 

Page 61



 

 
 

Then the final piece of the puzzle is when a victim of trafficking exits support.  Let us say that has all gone 

well, they have managed to be housed pre-NRM and during the NRM or had the right outreach support, but 

when they exit the NRM they actually have access to nothing.  Being recognised as trafficked does not give 

you access to anything, necessarily, and so what we have heard from actual police officers, particularly with 

male victims who often struggle to access support - there are fewer support services for them in the NGO 

sector - is that they get re-trafficked.  We have had a police officer tell us he referred the same man into the 

NRM multiple times, three times, because each time he entered the NRM he was exited.  Although the 

Government says, “Yes, we have identified 7,000 victims,” we have no idea what has happened to any of the 

7,000 victims when they exit.  There is no data on it and the anecdotal evidence is very concerning. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  We will come to you, Phil. 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  I 

will start off with probably the easier question.  There is a lot that can be done, absolutely.  Just going over 

some of the points that Tamara has already made, training is absolutely part of it.  In terms of the training that 

police get at the moment, it is an online package that is put together by the College of Policing.  That is a 45-

minute input for something that is complex, and I would suggest, having watched that, you probably end up 

with more questions than you had answers.   

 

There is some work that we have done.  Some of the things that have worked well, and I say they have worked 

well because we have seen an increase in the number of referrals that police officers have made, have been 

things such as the multi-agency training that was delivered a couple of years ago.  That worked really well on 

two points.  I think it was appropriate in terms of giving people the knowledge that they needed.  Secondly, it 

brought different people from different organisations together in the same room to talk about some of their 

experiences.  That worked really well, and hopefully we have some funding to roll out the ‘train the trainer’ 

process again to local authorities. 

 

One bit that Tamara said is really, really key.  When we first meet a victim of crime, any crime, particularly this 

crime, it is absolutely important that we gain their trust.  If we do not, we end up with that scenario of 

someone deciding that it is probably better for them to stay with their exploiters than it is to go into the 

system, hoping that police and the authorities will support them properly.   

 

Again, as Tamara said, one of the big issues, just given the example, is probably around labour exploitation.  In 

my experience, male victims have come to the UK - if they are from outside the UK - for one sole purpose, and 

that is to earn money to provide for their families back home.  What they do not want to happen is to be 

picked up from somewhere they may have a small community network, say in east London, where they may 

have an opportunity of getting some work, picked up and then be moved to, say, Manchester, where they have 

no community ties whatsoever and absolutely no chance of work.  This should be a process that is about giving 

people their confidence back, making them feel like a real person, and unfortunately the processes that we 

have at the moment do not do that.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Right.  Can I ask a specific question before we move to Marissa?  Two years ago, 

the Mayor talked about modern slavery ambassadors for each of the London boroughs.  My understanding at 

the time was that it would be a local civic figure - you talked about action at the boroughwide level, Tamara - 

but I was subsequently told by the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime that it was going to be a police 

officer.  What has happened to these ambassadors?  I certainly have never heard of any of them in the patch 

that I represent in the Assembly, east London.  Do they exist?  If they do, what do they do? 

 

Page 62



 

 
 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  

They are out there.  We have kept it quite simple.  We are just about to refresh the whole process because, in 

true MPS style, you train one person one day and in two years they have moved on.  If we are lucky, two years.  

We are just about to refresh that.   

 

They have effectively had an enhanced briefing.  We have got them in a room for two or three hours and we 

have given them some of the complexities around modern slavery.  When they leave, I only ask one thing of 

them and that is, when they are working with colleagues, when they are out on patrol within their day jobs, if 

they recognise something they think is modern slavery and are not sure, then to contact us and we can talk 

them through that.   

 

I think it has worked - going back to looking at the number of referrals that the MPS have made, when we 

introduced the ambassadors there was a marked increase in the number of referrals by MPS officers and staff - 

but it is a continuous process and it needs to be refreshed. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  If you can give us further information about the statistics in terms of how the 

referrals have increased and so on -- 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  I 

will do.  If you want to ask another question my laptop has closed down, so I will just have to reboot it.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Right.  Marissa, can I move to you in terms of, very specifically, what more can 

be done to encourage victims to come forward? 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  While I know that so many things 

have been done already, it is really easy to say and in practice it is not happening.  There is a domestic worker 

who complained of not having a salary for many months.  She was beaten up very badly by the employer and 

called the police.  She was hit in the head.  The police brought her to immigration, to the airport for 

deportation.  It is always about immigration, it is not about the abuse.  If this could be improved. I know they 

keep on saying, “It is totally different.  It is separate.  It should be separate,” but in practice what is happening 

is always about immigration and not about the ability for the domestic worker to fight for her unpaid wages.  

She is now in a safehouse in Birmingham but in terms of her pay that is still unclear. 

 

I also received an early-morning call on Sunday from someone I do not know.  She told me that there is a 

domestic worker on the train and they had to wait in King’s Cross for her.  She is on board, on the train, 

begging.  I think she begged them not to take her back to her employer because her employer will take her 

back to Qatar and surely she will die there, so she begged for her life.  The people put her on the train, but she 

was stopped in the middle of the train station, one of the stations, where the police took her out of the train 

and called immigration to check her immigration status.  This always has to be about immigration status.  

Clearly, she is running away for her life.  If police are being trained, they should know what to do to deal with 

these domestic workers.   

 

We also brought to the police station one domestic worker with bruises on her body.  It is a clear physical 

assault with evidence, but nothing has been done until now to find the employer who assaulted her.  Is this a 

case of modern slavery?  Trafficking?  We do not know at the moment.   

 

Trust, as you mentioned, is really important.  I remember taking one domestic worker to the police station.  She 

was interrogated for one hour and after that they let us go, but what surprised me - because she changed her 

Page 63



 

 
 

number - was that I complained of harassment from [her] employers who called and texted me non-stop asking 

her to go back.  My phone also had this set of automatic calls from police, non-stop, even in the middle -- 

3 o’clock, 4 o’clock.  That is why I encourage the domestic workers that the only way to solve this problem of 

harassment from your employer is to step forward.  “I will take you to the police”.  I say, “Do not worry, I will 

speak to a lawyer if you are scared”.  I managed to take her there and at the end of that [only for] the police to 

give her number to the employer again because we changed her number.  I think that is a breach of trust.  Who 

will step forward if this [trust] is broken? 

 

We have been doing a lot of raising awareness.  I am grateful for the police coming to the Voice of Domestic 

Workers to raise awareness.  That also helps them [victims] to be more comfortable with the police, but again, 

the cases that I have mentioned are very recent and they [the victims] have been hearing these.  It is really 

difficult for us to encourage them to step forward and report abuse.   

 

The problem we have at the moment is in terms of immigration status because if you are a migrant it is always 

about your immigration status check.  The policy that we have at the moment automatically criminalises 

domestic workers after losing their six-month visa, not allowing them to renew their visa.  It is making them 

more exposed to vulnerability and exploitation.  The right to renew their visa is really important, that change in 

the policy, if we are concerned about preventing this very serious crime.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Thank you.   

 

Andrew Boff AM:  Very quickly on those incentives to come forward, surely one of the biggest incentives is 

going to be giving that domestic worker or trafficked worker the right to remain.  Yet between 2015 and 2017, 

four in 10 non-European victims of trafficking were denied the right to remain.  How can we provide an 

incentive for people to come forward if by coming forward you are going to be told you are going to be sent 

back home? 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  I 

can only agree with you.  It just seems crazy that you have someone who makes that massive choice to come 

forward - and you cannot underestimate what they must be going through to do that - who then finds 

themselves, particularly as a non-European Union (EU) national when they enter that asylum system, straight 

away denied the right to work.  So the only way you could work is by doing something under the radar, which 

again puts you in a really vulnerable situation.  I cannot --  

 

Andrew Boff AM:  That is not so much the issue about being unable to work; it is the fact that there is no 

incentive to come forward if you are going to be told to go back to the place you fled from. 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  

This is one of the conflicts of Government policy that we have wrestled with over the years in terms of modern 

slavery.  On the one hand, a non-EU national comes forward because they have been exploited, and then they 

find themselves as part of that assessment for asylum and for remaining within the UK, and they have just not 

worked. 

 

Andrew Boff AM:  The Mayor has spent a lot of money just recently on giving advice to EU citizens about 

their status.  Is it not time he gave advice to non-EU citizens about remaining in the country? 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime):  In terms of your sentiment, 

the Mayor agrees entirely with you.  The Victims’ Commissioner [for London] convened two roundtables on 

Page 64



 

 
 

this very subject and we identified a series of reforms that the Mayor then wrote to the Home Secretary setting 

out, including things like reinstating legal aid for immigration cases.  You are absolutely right that in many 

ways there are imaginary handcuffs on an individual who feels trapped because they can neither tell the police, 

because they fear immigration, nor tell anyone else in their community because of stigma and other things.  

These individuals are trapped on that spectrum. 

 

There are opportunities.  There is the Government’s Domestic Abuse Bill, which was in the Parliament that has 

just been prorogued.  There are opportunities to make changes in that.  Unfortunately, it was not in the first 

draft that has gone through second reading but if and when the Bill does come back we have opportunities in 

Committee stage.  Certainly, the Mayor is working hard to lobby and make sure that his changes are at least 

considered because that would help as well.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  A final question on my part and then I will hand over to Assembly Member 

[Steve] O’Connell.  Can we just know a little bit about the perpetrators of modern slavery?  We have talked 

about the victims.  The question is to all of you.  Very briefly, an idea of who the perpetrators are. 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime):  We have the MPS bringing 

its intelligence picture to the Partnership Board and then us having those roundtable discussions to feed into 

that.  In many ways, the perpetrators are as varied as the offences.  You will have domestic servitude being 

either people deliberately abusing them because they can, or in some cases, in some communities, it is felt like 

they are actually helping the individual to have a different life in London.  That is the sort of attitude that must 

be broken because it is just fundamentally wrong. 

 

In other things, in terms of sexual trafficking, which we have discussed already, often it is an entirely criminal 

enterprise, organised criminal gangs.  With construction, for example, which we have looked at in detail, it is 

almost certainly again criminal in terms of the gang that convenes these individuals.  They prey on the 

immigration status that we have already described. 

 

To answer your point, there is no single perpetrator of all modern slavery.  They are as varied as the offence. 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  I would absolutely echo that.  It 

is essentially a range of people.   

 

I think one of the challenges particularly with some cases like domestic servitude, what we have heard 

anecdotally is that often the police are confronted by a very vulnerable individual who is a victim of domestic 

servitude, who is often very poor and might not have the language skills.  A lot of the perpetrators, if you 

follow the cases in the papers, work in the NHS or they are lawyers.  They are often very high-profile people.  

They speak fluent English, if they are not  British.  There is a real challenge often because the power imbalance 

does unfortunately impact on the outcomes.  If you look at the data, for example, around compensation, I 

think only about 1% of all victims access compensation.  If you are a trafficker, it is a very safe crime to commit 

because you are likely to make quite a lot of money and unlikely to ever have to pay it back. 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  I 

do not want to avoid the last question, which I did not answer.  Just in relation to MPS referrals, in 2016 the 

MPS made 93 referrals.  In 2017, 177 [referrals].  Last year, 263 [referrals].  We are on course for around 300 

this year, just looking at the first two quarters’ data. 

 

I have seen a wide range of perpetrators of modern slavery.  I have seen extremely well played out,  

Page 65



 

 
 

well-organised criminal groups that are able to work internationally.  I have seen chaotic groups that effectively 

take the opportunity to exploit someone who is in a vulnerable position, whether that is through labour or 

sexual exploitation.  I have also seen, from a domestic servitude setting, one family exploiting one individual.  

So, it is extremely wide and varied.   

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  Last year we rescued 83 domestic 

workers from different parts of the UK, as far as Scotland.  Only five of them managed to pass the reasonable 

grounds [requirement for the NRM].   

 

There are also many complaints from domestic workers who sometimes could not attend all these interviews 

that they need to go to because they need to work.  Especially employers do not allow to them to attend, to 

go, so there was nothing that could be done.   

 

There is a very messy NRM at the moment also.  There is a big problem with the current system we have, with 

the NRM.  Sometimes if they cannot attend, they are being reported as missing, and that is not helpful 

because the more they will be scared and the more they will hide again.  In terms of passing the conclusive 

ground, there is also a lack of evidence and witnesses that they could not produce.   

 

I am not sure if this is helpful but even the Government would not provide counselling to help them recover 

from trauma.  We managed to find some funding, not for everyone but at least that helped them a bit.   

 

There is really a big question mark on the importance of each and every one doing their part.  We are doing our 

part but for 80 of them, we do not know where to take them.  It seems everything is just in limbo. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Before I hand over to Assembly Member O’Connell, we have a Bahraini youth 

group here who have come to observe British political institutions in practice.  I think Assembly Member 

[Andrew] Dismore and myself are meeting them later but in the meantime, welcome.  We are talking about 

modern slavery. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you, Chair.  Under the Chair’s guidance, I am conscious of 

time as well.  I have some questions about subjects that have been touched upon already, which are county 

lines and cuckooing.  It has been touched upon and I want to ask some questions around that.  This is a 

subject that this Committee has talked about and asked questions about for some time but only this week that 

must-read periodical The Guardian had a spread and a particularly good article about that.  I want to talk about 

that, particularly with a London context. 

 

The first question.  Do you agree that there has been an increase in county lines?  I want your feelings about 

the impact of import/export of the issue regarding London.  Are we a main exporter of that issue out to the 

provinces?  I had a conversation with a head of constabulary in the West Country who bemoaned that subject.  

Or is it an imported issue affecting Londoners?  Then we can hear about your opinions around cuckooing and 

about the victims in respect of that.  We will probably go down the line.  Paul, you were nodding furiously.  

What are your thoughts about those two subjects? 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime):  It is worth saying that in the 

Partnership Board we deliberately chose not to look at county lines.  I am not dodging the question.  I will talk 

about it in a minute. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  No, no, of course not. 

Page 66



 

 
 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime):  The reason for that was, as I 

said before, we wanted to identify issues that were not being picked up by other groups.  The Mayor’s Police 

and Crime Plan has it in there firmly and it is a regular subject that we discussed at the Mayor’s London Crime 

Reduction Board Delivery Group, which sits below that, and the Violence Reduction Board. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  You are sighted on that work? 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime):  Absolutely.  As you say, The 

Guardian has done a series of very good articles this week.  The Mayor has also put out some statistics this 

morning which show just how prevalent this issue is.   

 

In answer to your question, yes, London is definitely the exporter in this issue, exporting, unfortunately, the 

serious violence that you see in some parts of London to the provinces.  What we have tried to do, working 

with national Government and working with Devon and Cornwall, who are the lead National Police Chiefs' 

Council (NPCC) force, is set up that response and rescue service.  Those are the statistics that were coming out 

this morning.  It is a very serious issue.  It is, again, an issue that unless you go looking for, you do not find.  

These are scratching the surface but it is very significant.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  I want to look at it through the context of trafficking because 

many of those young people who are being exported by criminals are being abused and trafficked in that 

context.  Tamara, would you agree with that analysis? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  Yes, there is a huge amount of 

exploitation.  There is a grey area - we see this in other areas of trafficking - where the victim, as they get 

older, might become the perpetrator or some part of the perpetrator network.  That is a real challenge, I know, 

for the police.  Certainly, it has increased but broadly, as you are saying, it is something that has been around 

for decades.  It is the same with child sexual exploitation (CSE) or domestic violence.  Our mindsets about what 

a victim is has completely dramatically changed compared to several decades ago, let alone a decade, and I 

think we are beginning to finally, as I said we did with Vietnamese children, somehow recognise their 

vulnerability.  We have struggled, I think, to recognise British children as vulnerable.  There is a whole 

philosophical issue behind that of why that might be.   

 

Essentially it has been around for decades, but it certainly has increased.  There are market reasons, probably, 

for that, but the exploitation is complex and the victim-perpetrator line is complex.  As I mentioned, the people 

whose houses are being cuckooed are definitely a victim group that seem to be, partly because they are often 

adults, completely ignored, but we know that they are incredibly vulnerable and really should not be being 

criminalised. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  I will come back on cuckooing in a minute.  Phil, your thoughts 

from the MPS point of view? 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  I 

pretty much agree.  We know it is something that has increased because of the number of London children 

that we are finding outside of London.  Looking at it in its bare bones, we know it is a model that the gangs 

have identified as a big money earner and relatively safe for the main organisers because it puts those children 

in the place selling the drugs so they are the ones who are likely to get picked up.  Whether it is a code of not 

Page 67



 

 
 

snitching or whether it is through fear, there is unlikely to be any comeback to the individuals who are running 

that criminal enterprise. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  And often the profile of those victims who are being used they 

are targeted because they may not be of a high suspect range in those towns and cities. 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  

Absolutely.  A safeguard for someone who is running children is that even when you look at the section 45 

defence within the Modern Slavery Act, if you know that that person you are exploiting or is selling drugs on 

your behalf can claim that they are a victim of modern slavery, it probably means less chance of you finding 

yourself being identified as the person who had organised it.  It is such a complex method because, as we have 

already said, some of our victims are not what we would recognise as traditional victims.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  Indeed. 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  

Their backgrounds have an impact on why what has happened to them has happened, whether they have 

gravitated towards the wrong people within their community because the parents are not around or for 

whatever reason.  The loyalties are probably somewhat in the wrong place. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  I will ask Marissa in a minute for her thoughts, but my last point 

is on cuckooing, which is again sometimes misinterpreted by communities.  This will be a house that will be 

taken over by people, and the person in that house or with ownership of that house is often seen as part of the 

problem by the community, but [that person] is actually a victim.  That was your point earlier, was it, Tamara? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  Yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  That is difficult, isn’t it? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  There is a real challenge with 

the Drugs Misuse Act [1971] and the Modern Slavery Act [2015] because when the police have both in their 

hands, the Drugs Misuse Act always overshadows the statutory [section] 45 defence.  What we are finding is 

that it is easier for the police to see someone who seems to be involved in the drugs gang because it is in his or 

her house.  It might be someone taking drugs themselves.  They usually have addictions, which is one of their 

vulnerabilities.  Yes, they tend to be criminalised because of the weight of the law and the different types of 

legislation out there. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  Marissa, on this specific subject did you want to bring in any 

comment? 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  In terms of? 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  We are talking about county lines and cuckooing.  It may not be 

so relevant to your field.  No. 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  In terms of the statistics, in 2012 

the incoming domestic workers were 15,000 to 16,000 but we recently asked and it is now 22,000 visas issued 

to domestic workers.   

Page 68



 

 
 

 

It is hard to follow them up.  It is supposed to be that the Home Office should deliver an information meeting 

that will make it easier for us to follow what is happening to domestic workers, but I think it is not going to do 

it for the reason that they have not announced it publicly.  It is hard to follow up also on how many of them 

stay and how many of them go back to their respective country or to their employers who brought them here.  

It is really hard to find that, but the 85 domestic workers we rescued last year is a big one.  Now we already 

have, in July this year, 25 domestic workers.  We are counting again for this year.   

 

To follow up the cases is hard because they are moving.  If they move from one household to another 

household, it is hard to follow what is happening to them.  In terms of the NRM, I think not many domestic 

workers really understand or recognise that they themselves are victims of trafficking.  For them it is very 

simple or they just want to work. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  Yes, we understand that.  Thank you.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  We will move on to the next section because I am conscious of the time.  I keep 

repeating myself.  It is the effectiveness of the impact of the London Modern Slavery Partnership Board.  

Caroline is to lead off. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, that is right, and I want to focus my first batch of questions to you, Paul, 

to understand this.  You have all covered a bit this morning and Tamara talked about the Board being so 

important in bringing everyone together.  You said earlier, Paul, that the work of the Board is focused on 

things that are not picked up by other groups.  What I want to understand is it was set up in June 2017, you 

have had eight meetings so far: what have you actually delivered in that time? 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  Fair question.  The minutes 

are all online.  I will point to three areas.  The first is ensuring that City Hall is a role model to be followed.  We 

have actively fed into the Mayor’s Good Work Standard.  Colleagues from the Greater London Authority (GLA) 

and business attend many of our meetings.  Groups like Focus on Labour Exploitation (FLEX) helped them 

develop the three tiers of the Good Work Standard that relates to modern slavery, which is really promising.  

Also, in terms of the ethical procurement approach that City Hall has, our buying power through the 

GLA Group - the MPS, the [London] Fire Brigade, etc - is huge.  We are ensuring that our supply chains are 

excellent and therefore can be role-modelled to others. 

 

Second, as I mentioned before, is the arrangement of getting a greater group of people to feed into the MPS’s 

intelligence and problem profile.  Phil [Brewer] and I have discussed this a lot.  It has definitely moved the 

manner in which the police can have someone focus, because if you have good colleagues from the charity 

sector, etc, telling you that something is going on, it allows Phil to change his tasking arrangements to go and 

look for it. 

 

Thirdly, convening, particularly around victim services.  Claire Waxman, the Victims’ Commissioner for London, 

has attended many of our meetings in terms of her role advocating for the Victims’ Code of Practice and also 

the immigration issue that we have discussed before, ensuring they are live issues.  We are taking them from 

colleagues with real-world experience and playing it into the lobbying the Mayor does. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I can see a practical thing you have done is City Hall as a role model, the 

GLA Group.  That is very concrete and you have stuff in place.  The other stuff feels a bit softer with making 

sure it is on the agenda.  It has not delivered yet, has it? 

Page 69



 

 
 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  We took a decision - and 

again it is in the minutes - at the very early stages that this would not be an executive board.  Colleagues 

around the table are either there in a voluntary capacity or they are feeding into the operational colleagues.  

Phil [Brewer] has tasking arrangements.  He is well tied into the NCA’s work through Operation Aidant, which 

is an NCA lead.  You can already convene all of the enforcement agencies.  We are very deliberately moving 

away from that to be more of a ‘convene and communicate’ body, so that we can amplify the good work that 

colleagues in the charitable sector are doing and make sure it is influencing, in a good way, what the MPS is 

doing. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  From what you are talking about, it is a whole-systems approach.  That is one 

of your purposes of the Board.  Can you give me a practical example of what you have achieved through 

having this whole-systems approach? 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  Sure.  Looking at an area 

such as domestic servitude, when we had our initial problem profile and intelligence picture from the MPS, 

there were really good assessments of what they were seeing in terms of the types of crimes.  As I mentioned 

before, it was largely in sexual trafficking.   

 

We have moved as a result of these conversations, and I want to pay tribute especially to Tamara [Bennett] 

and the two groups that she chairs outside of this Board.  There has been real movement to understand 

different types of offences.  Domestic servitude was not on that radar in any significant way before.  Now it is.  

As a result of that, we were able to identify that the money that we have for the modern slavery campaign 

should be targeted at that group, which is why we commissioned Kantar to do the behavioural analysis of that 

community and understand what creative campaigns would have the most effect.  As I said, they are doing the 

fieldwork right now.  By the start of the New Year they will be doing creative campaigns in those communities.  

 

What we were keen to do was to build in the evaluation, so it is a whole-systems [approach].  At the end of the 

process, through controlled trials, we will know whether we have had any impact on behaviour.  If you can do 

that with good evaluation, you can then feed it into victim services and buy something even better next time. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That is great, thank you.  Then looking forward, what are the desired outcomes 

you have for the Board and what long-term impact are you intending to make on this problem of modern 

slavery in the capital? 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  In February [2019] we had 

most of the session dedicated to a review of what we had done and what was working.  We [put] post-its [on] 

boards [as to] what was working, what had not worked so well and specifically what we wanted to do for the 

next 18 months.  One of those questions was, “Should we disband the Board?” because you should always, I 

think, in these sorts of boards, check whether it has just become a talking shop. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Is it fit for purpose, yes. 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  There was unanimous 

agreement we wanted to continue but we wanted to adapt it.  Rather than, in those first two phases, be about 

other groups coming to us to seek the advice of colleagues around the table, we were actually going to do 

some workshops around problem areas that we know are not being resourced properly.  We identified three 

areas: housing and homelessness, which we had in May [2019], I think; in July we had a workshop on 

Page 70



 

 
 

hospitality; and then we have scheduled for the back end of the year one on CSE because it had been a while 

since we had looked at that.   

 

In those we used design modelling, design work.  We were getting a colleague with expertise to present to the 

group on what they were aware of already, taking that information to then innovate and come up with as many 

good ideas as possible in terms of volume.  We will filter that down to the ones that would be any good in 

practice and apply a convene and communicate filter, because we are all very conscious that what we are not 

talking about here is commissioning entirely new services or asking the MPS to do something entirely different.  

This is about how we amplify those works.  Homelessness, hospitality and CSE is the next area of work. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That sounds like interesting work you are doing, and you were trying to look at, 

as a Board, how effective you were, looking at whether you were even needed any more.  Do you have anyone 

independent coming in?  Clearly, the campaign you are doing you are assessing.  Do you have anyone 

independently measure your effectiveness and your impact or is that something you might consider? 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  No, we do not and, yes, I 

think that is a good idea, particularly as we reach the end of this phase.  I want to keep asking the question, 

“Are we adding value?” which is our number one ambition, because this is an incredibly complex national 

arrangement.  Regardless of what you think of Theresa May MP, she has driven a lot of this from the Home 

Office and then as Prime Minister, which means that a lot of law enforcement is actively looking at this space 

now.  However, we have to make sure that we are adding value to the good work that other people are doing 

rather than just duplicating, which is the real danger in this space. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Finally, I want to widen it out to the panel.  Should London have a specific 

place-based plan to tackle modern slavery as it does, for example, for VAWG and knife crime? 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  It is a very good question.  It 

is one that we have considered, both at the start but also in February.  What we have determined, though, is 

that for the first time this was a serious part of this Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan, which is what the MPS take 

as its lead.  It is therefore in The Met’s Direction for 2025 and also in its business plan, which is a real objective.   

 

In terms of, “Should it have a bespoke additional strategy over and above what the Police and Crime Plan is 

seeking to achieve?”, there are very few examples of us producing a separate strategy because of the complex 

or very serious nature of it.  You have the Knife Crime Strategy and the VAWG Strategy, as you say, but there 

are not any more than that. 

 

It is worth saying in the January 2018 VAWG Strategy modern slavery is a key part of that throughout.  There 

is that intersectionality of issues, be it immigration, domestic abuse or sexual abuse.  Individuals who are 

subject to modern slavery are going to be addressed through those victims’ work too. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you.  Phil, can I come to you next?  You perhaps could answer the 

question about a place-based plan to tackle modern slavery, and also a little bit on how you find the 

Partnership, whether it is working and whether there are areas where you would like to see more focus. 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  In 

answer to your first question, I am always going to say yes anyway.  This is something that I am absolutely 

passionate about, as you probably know.  I think within policing, there needs to be a culture change on so 

many levels.  That is that interaction.  One of the things that I always think about with this is that we are very 

Page 71



 

 
 

good at asking our victims and witnesses how things have happened, but we do not always ask our suspects.  

That is where sometimes we miss that victim-suspect area.  Just as an example of where we need to change 

the culture of how we deal with things. 

 

As Paul [Wylie] has already said, this is a really complex matter.  If you strip it apart to its key components, you 

have a lot of different crime types that are encapsulated into modern slavery and they completely vary in terms 

of offending and victim profiles, etc.   

 

In terms of considering it as modern slavery impacting on London, we account for a third of all NRM referrals.  

We take the lion’s share of all those allegations of crime.  Although not all of those have been committed 

within London, it does make up a significant number of crimes.  I would expect we will see over, I would say, 

around 3,800 referrals this year.   

 

In terms of that, even if it had a focused approach for a relatively short period of time, I think it would set us 

on the right road in terms of what we need to do to have the right policies in place and ensure that we have 

the right partners around the table to work with us, because, as we have said several times, this is not just a 

policing issue.  If you are going to look at tackling modern slavery properly, you need that coherent approach 

across so many different sectors.  That is probably where the co-ordination is most needed. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Lovely.  That is very helpful, thank you.  Tamara and Marissa, do you want to 

add about whether you think there should be this place-based plan and any other comments you have on the 

Partnership? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  I do agree in the sense that, as 

Paul [Wylie] said, it does cover so many areas.  There is a complexity about it because it is already or should 

already be in any VAWG, it should be in any CSE, it should be in any county lines criminal child exploitation 

documents, it should be covered in all other strategies; but at the same time I am going to echo what 

Phil [Brewer] also says, which is that obviously we would welcome some sort of strategy.  We often say in our 

sector that we are where domestic violence was 25 years ago.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, quite right. 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  We are now at the cusp where it 

is not quite understood and not quite recognised for the terrible heinous crime it is.  Therefore, I think a 

strategy could be very useful. 

 

We have quite a lot of challenges.  There is some very good practice.  Phil has done some great work in terms 

of a collaborative multiagency approach, but at a borough level I think there are some serious challenges.  I am 

sure you as individual Assembly Members probably see some of these cases in your casework.   

 

In terms of the data, of all cases of trafficking investigated by the police - across the UK, not just London - I 

think only 7% are referred to the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS).  Some of that is because a lot of 

exploitation happens abroad.  There are lots of reasons why that might be, but it is also clearly a slightly 

worrying bit of data that probably needs to be investigated further.  

 

If you compare like for like for some countries, there was a report by Nusrat Uddin [solicitor] particularly 

looking at conviction and prosecution rates between the UK versus some other countries where there is more 

support provided, which is something I talked about earlier.  Comparing 2016 data between the UK and the 

Page 72



 

 
 

Netherlands, the UK had 98 prosecutions and 39 convictions where the Netherlands had 311 prosecutions and 

109 convictions.  It really shows that wraparound support.  It is very hard for the police to do their work if they 

do not have, for example, that emergency accommodation in place and that long-term holistic support.  All 

those pieces of the puzzle need to be dealt with. 

 

There are things that can be done.  When we talked about homelessness, we talked about the gap around  

pre- and post-NRM and what the Mayor could potentially do around that.  Police and Crime Commissioners 

(PCCs), for example, in West Mercia and Thames Valley, have funded, for example, pre-emergency 

accommodation and other things.  I am aware the Mayor, not through MOPAC but through some other 

organisations, funds advocacy for the East European Resource Centre (EERC) and Shpresa Programme, which 

is an Albanian NGO.  Those are the kinds of things that are really, really important and they really do add value 

because, as I have shown with the conviction and the prosecutions, it is expensive short-term but long-term, 

for the police and everyone, it is worth the value. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you.  Marissa, have you anything to add? 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  In terms of convictions of 

employers from outside, there are only a few.  Even when they apply in the NRM, if they pass they do have this 

letter.  Those who have visas and they pass, they have this right to work, but those who did not have visas 

anymore and passed the NRM, they could not work. 

 

For someone who passed, I am dealing with a current domestic worker who has not received a salary from April 

to June.  I wrote a termination letter to help her.  They have difficulties in writing, so I helped her write and put 

everything in the letter, just to create some evidence that she has not been paid.  I wrote two letters and I said, 

“You need to get out of that already because I do not think that employer will ever pay you.  Don’t worry, we 

will get a solicitor to take this case to the tribunal.”  This employer is not responding at all and I asked the 

solicitor, “Can we make this case high-profile to shame this employer?”  Again, that is a big question.  If the 

perpetrator is British, is there such a thing as internal trafficking?  That is hard.  We did have one member 

before whose employer was a British abuser and they did not get past the reasonable grounds because the 

Home Office says it is not a form of trafficking.   

 

Those domestic workers who did not have the right to work under an NRM, of course, could not fight because 

many employers do not understand or they simply do not want to understand, whatever it is.  They could not 

fight their case because they do not have the right to work, so they could not step forward. 

 

There are also many who did not apply and are now undocumented.  We know they are being abused but of 

course cannot step forward.  There are so many perpetrators that we cannot take on because of this problem.  

Those who did not have the right to work, of course, should not be working, but internally they are working 

because they need to work.  They need to support their family.  There is a big problem on that side, I think. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That is something you would want in a strategy if there was one? 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  Yes.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I think just because of time, Chair, thank you. 

 

Page 73



 

 
 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I am going to talk about support for victims and we have covered a lot of that ground 

already.  I do not want to go back over subjects that we have looked at already but there are one or two things 

of detail.   

 

We talked about the processes that are in place, but I want to ask Paul a bit about the money.  You have 

already talked about the £125,000 for domestic servitude awareness-raising, which that Chair asked you about 

at the beginning.  I want to ask you about a couple of other pots of cash.  The Victims’ Commissioner [for 

London] has £47 million for investment in services for victims of crime over three years.  How much of that is 

being invested directly in services for victims of modern slavery? 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  Which pot?  £1 million, did 

you say? 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  The £47 million for services for victims of crime. 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  Sorry. Yes.  It goes back to 

the intersectionality points.  For modern slavery, victims might come across in terms of the Lighthouse child 

sexual abuse arrangements.  You have sexual assault referral centres, London Survivors’ Gateway, and 

children’s, victims’ and witness support services.  More widely, what the Victim and Witness Service [for 

London] provides is an end-to-end arrangement.  As soon as an individual is identified as a potential victim, 

they receive that victim support contact person and he or she is taken through it throughout the course of the 

journey.  We have a good colleague from Victim Support who attends our Partnership Board and -- 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  How much of the £47 million is spent on victims of modern slavery? 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  I cannot give you a figure in 

terms of how much is earmarked for modern slavery because it is not cut that way.  It is all about providing a 

seamless service for victims more generally and then specialist services where domestic abuse or sexual services 

applies. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  You do not know the answer or you cannot find the answer, or there is not an answer. 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  There is not an answer to a 

specific question around what is for modern slavery.  It is important, as we said before.  The offences are so 

varied that it is all about the victims. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Along the same lines, perhaps you could tell us this, although from what you are 

saying you probably cannot.  The Mayor has committed £70 million in services supporting victims of VAWG.  

How much of that has been spent on supporting women and girls who are victims of modern slavery? 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  It is the same answer.  That 

pot provides services for a range of symptoms of victims.  We do not cut it in terms of identifying it for certain 

types of modern slavery, because modern slavery, as we said before, is a catch-all term for many different 

types.  Sexual victims and sexual trafficking, for example, have access to rape crisis centres and access to 

sexual assault referral centres.  A domestic servitude victim might have access to the domestic abuse side of 

things. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Basically, you cannot answer how much is being spent on it? 

Page 74



 

 
 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  Sorry, maybe we are talking 

at cross-purposes.  That is not the point. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  What you are saying is that these victims have access to generic services rather than 

specific targeted services. 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  In addition to the generic 

services, as we have touched on already, we have not gone into any details regarding the NRM, it is the 

Government’s responsibility to provide bespoke human-trafficking victim services to that individual.  There are 

serious problems with the NRM, as we have already discussed, and the Mayor has been very clear about that 

with the Government.  In that pre-NRM stage, it is the responsibility of the Salvation Army.  In the post-NRM 

stage, it is commissioned services that the Home Office provide. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  We got all that from your previous answers.  I am just asking about how much money 

is being spent and you cannot answer that. 

 

Can I go on to Tamara and Marissa?  Again, some of this we have covered already, the key problems facing 

victims and where the gaps are.  We have particularly covered, I think, support in terms of accommodation and 

also problems involving the immigration service.  Is there anything else? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  There are a whole range of 

things.  Mental health.  That is not just for our sector, of course, but it is very hard for victims of trafficking, 

even with very high needs, to access mental health support.  That can be used against them, for example if 

they have an immigration claim, because they are told they are not accessing mental health but in fact the 

queue is so long that they cannot access it.  Compensation, as I have mentioned, is another huge area of 

challenge.  Translators.  It is very hard across the UK, let alone in London as well, surprisingly, to access 

adequate translators.  These are all services that our sector really struggles with. 

 

In terms of housing, it is not just the housing but it is the advocacy.  I appreciate that in London housing is a 

huge gap.  There are some good services and it does make a difference.  [Caritas] Bakhita House, for example, 

is outside the Government system.  It is funded, I think, by the Catholic Church.  Their data shows that a lot of 

victims they support do not agree to go into the NRM but after six weeks 60% do agree to go into the NRM.  

It shows how valuable that housing part is. 

 

If you also look at organisations that just offer advocacy - they fight for the housing and all those kinds of 

holistic areas - Hope for Justice is an organisation that provides advocate support.  Of the victims they 

support, 73% will agree to work with the police.  It is much, much higher than the average. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Taking advocacy, how much of the demand is met?  To what extent is there a shortfall 

in the availability of advocacy? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  There is not enough.  I am sure 

Marissa [Begonia] can talk about this as well.  For example, there is an organisation called Kalayaan that does 

some advocacy work for victims of domestic servitude, but Marissa has managed to find, literally 

singlehandedly, about 83 in the last year and Kalayaan is a very small organisation.  It does not have enough 

services for that.   

 

Page 75



 

 
 

There is a huge gap in advocacy.  Obviously, in other areas like domestic violence we have independent 

domestic violence adviser (IDVAs) and independent sexual violence advocates (ISVAs).  We would really, really 

like some independent modern slavery advocates (IMSAs) to support victims of trafficking.  It would help the 

police because, as I said, they might be more likely to work with the police. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Can you try to quantify what the gap is?  Is it half the victims do not get advocacy, a 

quarter do not get advocacy? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  I would say it is more than half.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  More than half. 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  The majority of victims 

unfortunately fall through the gaps.  That is what we are seeing.  We really need more.  We really need 

advocates, not ‘more’; we hardly have any.  There are very few organisations like Kalayaan or [Caritas] Bakhita 

House out there, unfortunately. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  On Monday the charity Unseen, that runs the UK modern slavery helpline, said it was 

at risk of closure because it is funded by donations that have dried up.  Who should be funding that service? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  Everyone is a bit surprised the 

Home Office is not funding that service.  I think some police authorities do fund it.  I do not know if MOPAC 

does as well.  It was historically funded initially by Google.  The Home Office has led on the awareness side of 

it, but we feel the Home Office should deal with that funding. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  We have already covered what happens to victims before and after they enter the 

NRM.  The big issue there when they come out is immigration control.  What is in place to support male victims 

of modern slavery? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  Can I say it is not just 

immigration?  That is a huge part but a lot of victims of trafficking are British.  I have worked with some 

families who are British and have amazing families around them and everything still goes wrong.  It takes years 

to get housing, it takes years to get safeguarding.  Even when you are British, unfortunately the system does 

not work, just to highlight that.  Sorry, what was your exact question? 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Before you go on, of the people you come across who are victims, what proportion are 

British and what proportion are overseas nationals? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  Increasingly British is one of the 

largest groups now. 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer MPS):  It is number one, UK nationals, now. 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  That is probably also linked to 

the fact that, as Marissa [Begonia] has talked about, a lot of the victims of trafficking who do not have that 

immigration status are going to be worried to go into the system.  Now that we are finally recognising British 

victims as victims, we are going to see those numbers be higher.  We know a huge number of British people are 

still undercover, as it were. 

Page 76



 

 
 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I was asking you about support for male victims. 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  Yes.  I would say that is a huge 

gap.  If you look at Kalayaan, for example, it supports victims of domestic servitude, who tend to be all female.  

Bakhita House is a brilliant organisation with the 60% data that I mentioned, but it only supports single 

females.  Therefore, there is a huge gap in terms of male victims.  The multiple referrals, where victims of 

trafficking go into the NRM multiple times, anecdotally one hears that they almost always are male because 

the men leave the safe-house support, then become destitute and then another trafficker targets them.  I think 

that is a huge gap and that is something where not just advocacy, but housing does need to be funded around 

that. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Going back to the immigration issue, I recall when I was looking at this when I was in 

Parliament, which is about 14 or 15 years ago, when we did a report on people trafficking, one of the big 

issues was that when people were removed, either voluntarily or less than voluntarily, there was a huge risk of 

re-trafficking if there were no support networks in the home country.  To what extent is that still a problem?  

Maybe it is a matter for Phil [Brewer] to comment on as well as Tamara.  To what extent is that still a problem?  

Do we find people who go back to their home country, Albania or wherever it happens to be, and then 

suddenly reappear shortly afterwards? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  We did a report with the 

Romanian Parliamentary Group last year about the experience of victims returning to Romania.  Romania is 

seen as much more organised than countries like Albania, for example, so a lot more Romanian victims are 

probably likely to be made to return. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  That was certainly something we picked up 15 years ago. 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  What was shocking was it was 

much worse than I thought.  Some of the NGOs within the Government system have supported victims who are 

being returned.  They tended to find that when victims return to them, they then get re-trafficked five times 

on average, which is much worse than I could even imagine.  Unfortunately, it is not a very good system in 

terms of returns.  A lot of the complexities are not dealt by the NGOs that are around internationally. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I may be wrong on this but I vaguely recall a United Nations convention saying that 

people should not be returned unless there were support mechanisms for them in their home countries.  Am I 

right about that? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  Yes.  All these countries will say 

they have support mechanisms.  Romania does.  What one finds in practice is it is a very complex problem and 

a lot of the NGOs -- for example, the access to mental health services.  It is not good here but if it is not good 

here it is even worse in a lot of countries, particularly in the poorer parts of Eastern Europe.  What you are 

finding is that they are not able to offer that holistic support that is required in these countries of origin. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  There is a risk of being disowned by their families? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  That too, but often their 

families are involved, potentially, in exploitation.  What you find is they return to the area where they were 

exploited because they have links there and these are a lot of the vulnerable circles that they were in initially.  

Page 77



 

 
 

However, if they are not returned to their families, they are completely isolated.  You have a challenge of: 

should we return them to that at-risk community or should we isolate them and try to build a new community 

for them?  Does the NGO that you return them to have the access to build that community for them, which A 

lot of them do not. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Do you want to comment on that? 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  

Yes.  Tamara has stolen all the best bits, to be honest!  To give you an example, since 2015 we have had a 

seconded Romanian officer within our team, which has worked brilliantly and in some respects has dispelled 

the myth that Romanian nationals whom we come into contact with are scared of the police, because it has 

had the opposite effect.  When you are talking to someone from your own country who understands your 

background, they are more likely to come forward asking for care and support. 

 

It is a complex system.  If our victims want to return home, through our police officer, through the embassy, we 

are usually able to arrange someone to meet them.  Exactly as Tamara said, one of the big issues, particularly 

from the Romanian Roma community, is that our victims will gravitate back to their towns and villages that 

they grew up in, which is where they were recruited and exploited by their neighbours, family members, etc.  It 

becomes quite difficult to actually break that cycle of exploitation.  It has been our experience as well.  We will 

see highly vulnerable people not accessing the right support when they return home because it is not available, 

and subsequently they return to the UK or they are exploited in-country. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  You say you have a Romanian officer seconded to you.  Do you have other countries 

seconding officers to your section? 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  

Within the MPS at the moment we have officers from Poland as well, although our number of Polish exploited 

victims that we see is relatively low, so they are involved in other areas of work.  I think we have four Romanian 

officers at the moment, one who has a background in modern slavery.  She is permanently attached to our 

team at the moment, which is fantastic.  The others are supporting the other BCUs across London. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Thanks.  A last question for Tamara.  How does the support differ between adults and 

children victims? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  Currently the Government 

system is only for adults.  It is assumed that all support for children will fall under local authorities.  As a result, 

unfortunately, we know children are not getting any type of specialist care in many cases.  The Government 

has an Independent Child Trafficking Advocates (ICTA) scheme but it has not been spread yet to all of London.  

Only Croydon at the moment has the ICTA scheme.  As a result, a lot of children are not getting the specialist 

care that they need.  We know some children, particularly, for example, Vietnamese children, are very likely to 

go missing after they are identified.  Unless you have that specialist training around foster carers, for example, 

they will not know the right things to do, like removing their mobile phones and all these kinds of things.  That 

extra awareness with trafficking victims is often not there in the childcare system.  We have some concerns that 

children are often missed out because the Government’s focus - in terms of support, anyway - is around adults. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  The problem with children has been around a long time.  I know for Vietnamese kids 

the problem was always using them to grow cannabis farms and that sort of thing.  Is that still the problem? 

 

Page 78



 

 
 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  Cannabis farms and obviously 

nail bars are the two main areas that we know for Vietnamese children. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  OK, thanks. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Anyone else?  No.  Moving on to the next section then, resources 

and training, and the MPS response.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  We touched on this briefly.  One of the things we are looking at is if this Unit is 

properly funded.  Coming on to the first part of the section, looking at the MPS response to slavery over the 

years, I just wanted to get your views on that, Detective Superintendent and Paul [Wylie].  Do you feel that the 

focus has changed? 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  I 

think there has been more focus on modern slavery.  I still wish we had more of a -- I say ‘business as usual’ 

and I do not mean to be flippant with that, but that more of our cops were going out and recognising modern 

slavery within their day-to-day business.  I do not think we are quite there yet.  In terms of training there are a 

number of options but at the moment it is competing against other areas that also require additional training 

etc. 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  I would add that it is now in 

The Met’s Direction, which is a forward-look strategy but also a business plan.  What you have seen more 

generally is a move in policing away from just identifying crimes to actively seeking crimes.  That catchall term 

of ‘safeguarding’ has grown considerably within the MPS.  In particular, it is an area that the Deputy Mayor for 

Policing and Crime focuses on again and again.  It is, as she would say if she was sat here, hampered by the 

amount of resources available.  If and when the Government is clear that there is an increase in police officers, 

this is clearly an area where hopefully there will be extra work. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  In the MPS’s Business Plan 2019/22 and 2018/25 [strategy] it does highlight 

modern slavery and exploitation and its efforts to combat it, but one of the things we found is that there are 

no actual concrete plans beyond launching these hubs and some of the information and access points for 

young people.  Notwithstanding some of the figures we touched on earlier, do you know, Detective 

Superintendent, how many officers you have in the Specialist Crime and Vulnerability Unit who are specifically 

dealing with modern day slavery? 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  

Yes, I do.  On paper, 189.  We are running at around about a 34% vacancy rate at the moment.  That will 

improve to a 27% vacancy rate in November [2019].   

 

To give the Committee some idea, it is split into two teams.  We have an Investigations Team that looks at 

modern slavery and CSE where clearly there is an organised element or it such a large investigation it is beyond 

the capability of a borough.  We also have a Vulnerability Assessment and Partnership Team looking at 

improving those links.  We have hopefully some good ideas in terms of getting that better join-up between all 

the agencies, both statutory, non-statutory and third sector and having more of a joined-up approach. 

 

It is early days yet.  The Unit was set up in June but in terms of what we are seeing, I think the whole new 

approach is ensuring that the MPS looks at vulnerability as a whole rather than as we have done, certainly 

throughout my career, where we have small specialist units dealing with CSE, missing, etc.  This is opening 

Page 79



 

 
 

people’s eyes to the fact that a lot of the drivers and a lot of the ways that we can stop victims becoming 

victims in the first place play out across a number of different crime types where vulnerability is a big issue. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  I appreciate that you may not be able to answer this, but speaking from your 

professional judgment, do you feel that that is enough officers for that Unit, bearing in mind the scale of the 

problem? 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  I 

would obviously say no but the reality is I do not think this crime type should ever have a specialist unit, if I am 

being brutally honest, because everyone should understand modern slavery, and should all be capable of 

dealing with it.  However, we are where we are and some of the modern slavery crimes are extremely complex.  

Some of the cases that we have entering their arrest phase now are on the back of over two years’ worth of 

work that has been international.  When it comes to capability, we will need a specialist unit to deal with that. 

 

I think where there are some reasonably quick wins is ensuring that people have a proper understanding of the 

complexities of modern slavery throughout the organisation.  As I say, going back to an earlier answer I gave, 

even if it is for a colleague who might be usually walking up and down Southwark high street, who recognises a 

beggar who may be a victim of modern slavery, that they do no more than call us.  We can then talk them 

through the action to take.  There is always more we can do, yes, absolutely. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Those vacancy rates you quoted are quite high. 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  

Yes. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Is this because of the sheer caseload that officers are dealing with or the fact that 

this is coming across the radar of more officers so there is more reporting and more work being generated from 

this? 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  The 

investigation teams are all detective ranks and it comes back to some of the challenges that we already face in 

terms of a lack of detectives.  That has been the main driver.  When we start to see that uplift in officers into 

the MPS, hopefully we will be in a better position.  It has been on the back of a lot of change across both local 

policing and specialist crimes that we have ended up –  

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  The BCUs and everything.   

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  -- 

with the vacancy rates that we have. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Obviously, the Unit is quite new, you said, during this year.  What, briefly, are the 

priorities that you are looking at for this year? 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  The 

priorities.  In terms of modern slavery, we have continued what we have already been doing since I took up the 

reins of the Modern Slavery and Kidnap Unit.  There are the same crime types in relation to targeting.   

 

Page 80



 

 
 

What has changed is the type of crimes that we are dealing with.  When I first took it up, most of our work was 

sexual exploitation.  Now we have a mix of labour exploitation and criminal exploitation as well as sexual 

exploitation.  Going forward, it is ensuring that we have a more joined-up approach; looking at CSE, which I 

think in terms of the modern slavery perspective is quite often not looked at or not looked at as much; and 

ensuring that the same focus and the same techniques we take in our serious and organised crime group, when 

we are dealing with drugs and guns, are used when we are looking at modern slavery and CSE as well. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  One of the things we have been looking at from the Assembly perspective is the 

impact of Brexit on London.  We have also questioned the Commissioner and a number of the Deputy 

Commissioners around the impact of a no-deal Brexit on policing.  What impact do you think a no-deal Brexit 

will have on the MPS’s ability to address this issue of modern slavery in London? 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  

You could get me in all sorts of trouble with the Commissioner now!  One thing I would mention to the 

Committee is that we at the moment have ten Joint Investigation Teams (JITs).  They are a mechanism that we 

are able to enter under Eurojust, which allows us to work jointly with other European countries.  The majority 

are with Romania, but we also have JITs with the Czech Republic, Bulgaria and I think Hungary as well.  It is a 

brilliant mechanism.  We will still be able to be part of JITs. 

 

Where it starts to get a little bit complex are some of the other tools and things such as funding.  At the 

moment we can lead and request funding from Eurojust.  If we leave the EU, we will no longer have access to 

the system to apply for funding so we will rely on the other country that we are working with to do that on our 

behalf.   

 

Some of how we share intelligence will certainly have a negative impact.  Europol has a system called SIENA 

[Secure Information Exchange Network Application], which allows us to easily share information between the 

member states and third countries.  Without any agreement in place, that will effectively cease overnight until 

we renegotiate our membership of Europol. 

 

Yes, the basics are there.  The worry is, in the background, without a plan in terms of what our membership 

looks like, some of those really important systems - and some that do those automated checks that probably 

our officers on the street are not aware are happening across Europe - will not be available to us in the short 

term. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Do you have concerns about that from your perspective, Tamara? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  Certainly, in terms of Brexit the 

two large concerns we have are first around rights.  We use the European legislation around the Directive on 

Human Trafficking for a lot of cases that I am sure Marissa [Begonia] and others have dealt with, the legal 

systems to access rights for victims.  They often have to use European legislation.  Obviously, there is still the 

Council of Europe Convention legislation but the EU legislation is critical, so we are concerned what is going to 

happen post-Brexit.  Are we going to adopt the Directive in full or are we not?  There is a fear we might not. 

 

The other area is that at the moment European nationals can generally be proven to show that they have 

worked and therefore have access to their treaty rights so they are able to get, potentially, housing and 

benefits.  Most victims of trafficking not in the EU are wedged into the asylum system, whether it is 

appropriate or not.  The problem is that after Brexit, Europeans will join all the non-EU nationals but it will be 

Page 81



 

 
 

very hard for most Europeans to access the asylum system.  If someone is from Poland it is not going to have 

the same weight as someone from certain countries where there are different rules and things. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Something for us to look at.   

 

A broad question to everyone in terms of the Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue 

Services (HMICFRS) assessment that the identification of victims is often inconsistent and sometimes 

ineffective and needs significant improvement.  In your experience, is this the case in London? 

 

Paul Wylie (Director of Strategy, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  Absolutely.  The HMICFRS 

reports looked at all forces.  As we mentioned before, it is very difficult to identify where on that spectrum a 

person is, from someone who could arguably be complicit into a modern slavery definition.  It is a very difficult 

determination for people who are trained in it, let alone the average person.  Even when you have identified 

them as potentially being in modern slavery, for then more than half of them to fall out of the NRM shows that 

it is incredibly complex and probably the wrong judgments are being made. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Tamara? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  The reports highlighted a lot of 

the issues around criminalisation, which we have already discussed.  We touched on training, the ‘train the 

trainer’ model that Phil [Brewer] spoke about, and I know we are in discussions with MOPAC about whether 

that could be continued.  That is something that we are keen to carry on.  Local authorities are not being given 

any funding at all.  With the police it is pretty limited in terms of the training aspects, so it would really add 

value. 

 

There are certain areas also of complete ignorance.  I have just mentioned civil orders.  In layman’s terms it is 

like anti-social behaviour orders that keep traffickers away from vulnerable people, but the number used since 

they were introduced quite a few years ago is very, very low.  That is partly because most police and local 

authorities and others have no idea they even exist.  That kind of stuff is key for training but more broadly in 

terms of awareness. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Phil, you wanted to add something? 

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  I 

would pretty much echo that.  Someone once said that the only thing we are consistent at is being inconsistent 

and I think that is a fair comment!  It is.  Unfortunately, I have seen examples where two victims, within days of 

each other, have approached police within the same borough.  One was treated brilliantly with a first-class 

response and the other was not.  That cannot be right. 

 

It is looking at things in terms of raising that awareness a little bit differently to how we have done before.  We 

have spoken a lot about working together.  I have worked closely with Tamara [Bennett] and Paul [Wylie] over 

the last few years and that needs to feed down.  At a local level, where we are talking about training, it makes 

so much sense to deliver that within the same multi-agency partnerships that you would be working with 

anyway to ensure that a victim of modern slavery is safeguarded.  It is thinking a little bit more innovatively, 

pooling our resources and ensuring that that training is not only delivered but it is delivered with those other 

agencies that you would be working with anyway. 

 

Page 82



 

 
 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  This is something we really want in 

the Voice of Domestic Workers’ community, because they are with us and we fail to provide these kinds of 

services to them.  While Kalayaan is there, it could not take them all.  We go through the Salvation Army.  I 

referred in February [2019] one domestic worker because I wanted to try it, even through the phone.  It is an 

emergency so I used the phone to refer her but from January until now there is no result of this NRM 

assessment, so that person, of course, could not move forward.  They are stuck.  That is why after we tried to 

work with the police and we started to invite them to make the community feel comfortable with the police.  

This is one thing that we are looking forward to using because it is faster and we get the result. 

 

Also, is this something that the Voice of Domestic Workers needs to do already, to be a first respondent?  

Because if we are not getting these services right, then we have to take this on.  To do it, I do not have a clue 

yet.  I have been dealing with this problem every day, 24 hours.  It is a problem that we all have to solve.  It is 

urgent, of course, that it needs to be done. 

 

I think for us to really work closely together is really important because otherwise we are failing these workers, 

victims of trafficking.  I would be very specific with the absence of the right to work, the right to change 

employer, the right to renew a visa, the right to citizenship.  The Government removed all these rights in 2012.  

Yes, in 2015, the Modern Slavery Act, it reinstated the right to change employer, but with the absence of the 

right to renew a visa that is no use.  I want to make clear that the Modern Slavery Act trafficking law is not a 

replacement for the employment rights for this group of workers who are very, very vulnerable.  I think we 

should acknowledge that. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Thank you.  Finally, from me, Chair, to Tamara and you, Marissa, what more do you 

feel the Mayor of London and the MPS could be doing to help tackle the issue of modern slavery in London? 

 

Tamara Barnett (Head of Office, The Human Trafficking Foundation):  It is identification and support.  

In terms of increasing identification, it is about training.  In terms of the support side, inevitably every sector 

wants money and I appreciate the pot is small.  In, fact, housing in London is obviously the most expensive in 

the UK.  I am aware that, as I said, it has funded some various advocacy services, not I think from MOPAC, but 

the EERC and Shpresa Programme in the past were funded and they provide advocacy with particular diaspora 

communities.  We would be pushing for maybe modern slavery advocates to be funded.  Obviously, there is the 

gap that was mentioned by Andrew Dismore around male victims particularly, and there is a bit of a gap.  There 

is Olallo House [St John of God Hospitaller Services] for male victims of trafficking but there is definitely a gap 

in terms of housing and broader support for men in particular. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Thank you.  Marissa, you touched on employment.  Is there anything more that you 

think the Mayor could be doing and anything more you would want the Mayor of London and the MPS to be 

doing to address some of the issues you have highlighted? 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  I know we have been in and out of 

this building and we have done raising awareness together.  We are grateful for that and there needs to be 

something like raising awareness everywhere.  I think for the police to be more -- is there a caring side of the 

police?  They have to be very caring.   

 

Detective Superintendent Phil Brewer (Head of Specialist Crime and Vulnerabilities Unit, MPS):  I 

care, Marissa. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon AM:  Phil does. 

Page 83



 

 
 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  That soft side, you know, so that 

they feel comfortable. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Yes, the human side for dealing with the victims.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That is a very good point. 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  The reason why the domestic 

workers behave that way to the police is because most employers use the police to frighten them, so they do 

not go to the police, they do not talk to anyone.  If they talk to anyone they will be arrested by the police. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  There is a perception of the police already. 

 

Marissa Begonia (Co-ordinator for the Voice of Domestic Workers):  Yes, so they use it as a threat.  

That is why it is important for the police that when we go there -- it is not that they are being chased away, 

that they are being interrogated.  Yes, I think there will be an interrogation but there must be another way so 

that it encourages them more. 

 

When I first met with Phil and colleagues, we talked more about this, the police coming to us, talking to 

domestic workers, but when we invited the police I did not even tell them that the police are coming.  I said 

they do not wear a uniform, so it was fine.  I think after that session they did ask, they did interact with the 

police during the discussion.  We also asked the question, “Are you going to agree now that if we go to the 

police you are happy to go there or we call 101 hotline?”  Maybe that is the fastest way to sort our problem, 

because there are so many who are not referred yet to NRM. 

 

We need to do more because anywhere, anytime they could be arrested because of this stop and search policy.  

The ideal for them to be referred NRM if there is an immediate plan.  At the moment it is a big problem.  

Eighty-five only have been referred and 80 is in limbo.  We do not even know where they are now because 

they are trying to find work somewhere.  Some of them become undocumented because of that failure.  Yes, I 

think it is good for us to talk together in public so that they see us and [see] that they [the police] are not 

really scary. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  That is good.  That partnership approach is really strong, I would say.  Thank you, 

that is all from me, Chair. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Anyone else?  No.  Thank you for attending today and for your answers to our 

questions. 

 

Page 84



                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  
 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 15 October 2019 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out for noting actions arising from previous meetings of the Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed, ongoing and closed actions arising from 

previous meetings of the Committee, as listed in the report. 

 

 

Meeting of 19 September 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

4.  Modern Day Slavery 

 

The Committee agreed to delegate authority to 

the Chair, in consultation with the party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to 

agree any output from the discussion. 

 

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

Senior Policy Adviser 

 

 

 

 

Page 85

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Meeting of 4 September 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

5.  Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS)  

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner, MPS, undertook to: 

 Confirm whether the MPS would publish 

images of the weapons it had taken off the 

streets during Notting Hill Carnival; 

 Provide a breakdown by age profile of the stop 

and searches undertaken under Section 60 of 

the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 

during Notting Hill Carnival; 

 

 

 

 

In progress.  The 

Chair wrote to the 

Deputy 

Commissioner on 

18 September 

2019. 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Provide a copy of Sir Richard Henriques’ QC 

report reviewing Operation Midland with 

revised redactions; 

 Provide the total cost of Operation Midland 

with a breakdown of the costs; 

 Look into the number of sexual offences and 

rape cases that supervisors were managing; 

 Provide details and the context of a letter the 

MPS sent to a third-party legal firm in which 

the MPS rebutted that they were responsible 

for delays to the investigation of the 

VoteLeave/Leave.EU/BeLeave Campaign; 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Confirm when the MPS would publish its 

technical evaluation report on facial 

recognition technology; and 

 Write to Sian Berry AM concerning the report 

that a facial recognition van had been observed 

during the pro-democracy protest in Trafalgar 

Square and respond to her with details on how 

“watchlists” were compiled. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cont … 

Page 86



 

 

 In relation to the Rape Review, the Deputy Mayor 

for Policing and Crime was requested to: 

 Inform Members when the Justice Matters 

meeting which would discuss the Rape Review 

would take place; and 

 Provide a copy of the action plan to address 

the recommendations contained in the Rape 

Review. 

 

 

 

Completed – See 

Appendix 1. 

 

In progress.  The 

Chair wrote to the 

Deputy Mayor for 

Policing and Crime 

on 18 September  

2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MOPAC 

 During the course of the discussion, the Victims’ 

Commissioner for London undertook to explain 

how MOPAC would ensure that the Crown 

Prosecution Service and the MPS would act on 

the findings of Rape Review. 

Completed – See 

Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

6. Police and Crime Committee Work 

Programme Report 

 

The Committee agreed to delegate authority to 

the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree 

an Annual Report summarising the work of the 

Committee over the past year. 

 

 

 

 
In progress 

 

 

 

Senior Policy Adviser 

 

 

Page 87



 

 

Meeting of 3 July 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

7.  Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS)  

During the course of the discussion, the Assistant 

Commissioner, MPS, undertook to provide: 

 Confirmation about the number of posts that 

were vacant, and the number of posts where 

postholders were on maternity leave or            

long-term sick leave and which were not 

being covered in respect of the additional 300 

posts which had been created to deal with 

rape and sexual violence in Basic Command 

Units (BCUs), broken down by BCU; 

 

 

 

 

In progress.  The 

Chair wrote to the 

Assistant 

Commissioner on 

16 July 2019. 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Confirmation of how many of the current 

digital forensic kiosks were operational; 

 Confirmation about the timescales for the 

next generation of digital forensic kiosks to 

be fully operational in the BCUs; 

 Confirmation as to whether the next 

generation of kiosks to download evidence 

from electronic devices would be compatible 

with the MPS other systems (as highlighted in 

the report of Her Majesty’s Inspector of 

Constabulary, Fire & Rescue Services in 

February 2019) regarding child protection; 

 Confirmation about the MPS’s separate 

investment in digital capability; 

 Confirmation as to whether there were any 

plans to use facial recognition technology at 

Notting Hill Carnival; 

 Confirmation as to whether the MPS planned 

to collaborate with private companies to use 

their technology for facial recognition; 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cont … 

Page 88



 

 

 

 

 

 Confirmation as to whether there had been 

any discussions with companies about the 

future use of facial recognition technology in 

body worn cameras; and 

 Details of the MPS’s visit to Merseyside 

Police to learn about their work on  

 Trauma-informed policing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

… 

 

 During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to: 

 Provide the latest figure for the number of 

victims of rape and serious sexual assault who 

were referred to Havens during the last year; 

 

 Provide copies of the reports MOPAC had 

commissioned on the homicide and serious 

case review and strategic needs assessment to 

explore the underlying causes of violence 

once they had been published; 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Completed. In the 

calendar year 2018 

there were 2001 

referrals. 

These projects, 

commissioned by 

the Violence 

Reduction Unit, 

are being delivered 

by external 

organisations (The 

Social Care 

Institute of 

Excellence and 

Behavioural 

Insights Team) and 

are expected to be 

available by 

November 2019. 

 

 

Page 89



 

 

 
 Provide a table of progress against the 

Committee’s recommendations in its report, A 

Long Way from Home; 

 Provide details of the new women’s centre, 

funded by the Co-Commissioning Fund, 

which had opened in Islington; 

 Provide information about the pilot project to 

help divert women from the criminal justice 

system, which was due to start in August 

2019; and 

 Provide a briefing on the parts of the criminal 

justice system, which it was anticipated would 

be devolved to the Mayor. 

In progress.  A 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on  

10 September 

2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

Completed: The 

devolution 

agreement is 

currently being 

finalised. When it 

is completed it will 

be shared with the 

Committee. 

 

MOPAC 

 

 

Meeting of 4 June 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

8. 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS)  

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner, MPS, undertook to: 

 Provide the average time for the vetting 

process for Independent Custody Visitors; 

 Provide the average time for the vetting 

process in general; and 

 Look into whether it would be possible to 

extend the term for Independent Custody 

Visitors who were going through the renewal 

process. 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress - a 

follow up request 

for the actions was 

made on 

22 August 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



 

 

 During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to: 

 Consider the way violence data was shown on 

the Crime Dashboard and include an 

explanation about the data; 

 Discuss with the British Transport Police 

whether it would be possible to include their 

figures for Antisocial Behaviour on public 

transport on the Crime Dashboard; 

Completed – see 

Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

MOPAC has 

advised that this is 

a matter for the 

MPS. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Provide the number of Independent Custody 

Visitor visits by custody suite; and 

 Provide information on what MOPAC had done 

to support people who wanted to be 

Independent Custody Visitors but their usual 

custody suite had closed and provide the figure 

for how many Independent Custody Visitors 

had given up their role as a result of the 

closure of their usual custody suite. 

 

Completed – see 

Appendix 1. 

Completed – see 

Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of 23 May 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

6. 

 

 

 

Hate Crime  

 

 The Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion 

London, agreed to provide comments on 

whether housing providers had a role to help 

disabled people who were being exploited by 

gangs;  

 The Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop, 

agreed to share Galop’s proposal to the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime, which 

included different options to scale up CATCH; 

 The Superintendent, MPS, agreed to: 

 

 

Closed.  The Hate 

Crime report was 

published on  

30 September 

2019. 

Closed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



 

 

 
- Provide any statistics or achievements in 

relation to removing posts on websites 

which incited hate crime and comment on 

the speed with which those links and 

websites were taken down and from which 

platforms; and 

- Provide in due course the new risk 

assessment procedure being developed to 

help frontline officers deal with hate crime. 

 

Closed 

 

 

 

 

 

Closed 

 

 

 The Committee delegated authority to the Chair 

of the Committee, in consultation with party 

Group Lead Members and Caroline 

Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree any output from the 

discussion. 

 

Completed – see 

report at Agenda 

Item 5. 

 

 

 

Meeting of 14 May 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

8. 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS)  

 

  

 During the course of the discussion, the 

Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis 

undertook to:  

 Provide the action plan for providing digital 

forensic equipment and training on child 

protection for police officers in Basic 

Command Units, together with the timescale 

for that; and 

 Provide examples of materials and guidance 

provided to schools to raise awareness of 

hate crime. 

In progress - a 

follow up request 

for the actions was 

made on 

22 August 2019. 

MPS 

 

 During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to update 

the Committee on progress to ensure there were 

sufficient appropriate adults for children and 

vulnerable adults in custody. 

 

Completed – see 

letter attached at 

Appendix 2. 

MOPAC 

 

 

Page 92



 

 

Meeting of 6 March 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

6. 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS)  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner, MPS, undertook to provide: 

 Up to date figures for domestic homicides, 

and an explanation of any changes in the 

classification in relation to the figures; 

 Updates on Operation Dauntless Plus and 

Operation Athena, which were tackling 

domestic abuse;  

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 

22 August 2019. 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

  Figures on the MPS’s use of “Right to 

Know” under Clare’s Law; and 

 An explanation of the differences in the 

process at a local level for recording and 

investigating allegations of domestic abuse 

and then closing those cases when there are 

no further lines and screening out alleged 

crimes. 

 

  

 In addition, the Deputy Commissioner was 

requested to respond to the following questions: 

 

EU Exit 

 Is the MPS fully prepared for any additional 

operational pressures resulting from the 

UK’s exit from the European Union? 

 What preparations have been made in 
terms of abstractions, cancellation of rest 

days, and mutual aid? 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 Where does EU Exit sit on the MPS’s risk 

register?  

 

  

 

Cont … 

Page 93



 

 

 The Met’s ‘PartnershipPlus’ scheme 

 You have set out details of a new scheme, 

the PartnershipPlus scheme, to replace the 

current Met Patrol Plus scheme. Why have 

you chosen this new scheme and what other 

options were considered? 

 One of the reasons given for the review of 

the scheme is the pressures on borough 

budgets. Has there been evidence of 

boroughs pulling out of the current scheme 

on financial grounds? 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 

22 August 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  How many officers will be affected by 

changes to the scheme? 

 Prior to this announcement the Mayor said 

that officers coming to the end of Met 

Patrol Plus contracts would be reallocated 

to duties within the BCU.  Is that going to 

be the case for officers who do not transfer 

over to the new scheme? 

 Where Met Patrol Plus officers do not 

continue under the new scheme, will they 

be retained in the BCU in which they 

currently operate? 

 How many boroughs have registered an 

interest in the new scheme? 

 

  

 

 

Page 94



 

 

Meeting of 6 February 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS) 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner, MPS, undertook to: 

 Provide the percentage of complaints that had 

been withdrawn after seeing body-worn videos; 

and 

 Provide the number of complaints that were 

being upheld after the viewing of body-worn 

video, compared to those that were upheld 

before its introduction. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 

22 August 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of 10 January 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

6. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS) 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner, MPS, undertook to: 

 Update the Committee on the outcome of the 

Crown Prosecution Service examinations into 

three test cases related to demonstrations 

outside Parliament in the run up to the exit 

from the European Union;   

 

 

 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 

22 August 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 Brief the Committee in due course on the 

MPS’s examination of the use of “released 

under investigation” and bail measures, in the 

context of recent legislation;  

 Confirm the number of detectives currently 

employed by the MPS; 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 95



 

 

 
 Confirm whether the Equality Impact 

Assessment on the Gangs Matrix has been 

completed and if not, when it will be expected 

to be completed; 

 Inform the Committee about how the mental 

health investigation teams were helping 

frontline police officers deal with demand 

arising from persons with mental health issues; 

and 

 Confirm with the Committee the procedures for 

collecting data about sexual harassment within 

the MPS.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cont … 

 

7 Police and Crime Committee Work 

Programme 

 

The Committee delegated authority to the 

Chairman, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to make 

arrangements for site visits to the Metropolitan 

Police Marine Policing Unit and a police custody 

suite. 

 

 

 

 

In progress for the 

visit to the Marine 

Policing Unit.  The 

Committee has 

now decided not 

to undertake a visit 

to a police custody 

suite. 

 

 

 

Senior Committee 

Officer 

 

 

Meeting of 29 November 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS) 

 

During the course of the discussion, the 

Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis and 

Assistant Commissioner, MPS, undertook to 

provide the materials that the MPS provided to 

schools to educate young people about their 

rights in relation to stop and searches both under 

section 1 of the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 

1984 and section 60 of the Criminal Justice and 

Public Order Act 1994. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Partially 

completed: the 

PACE part has 

been answered 

through a response 

to a Mayor’s 

Question. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

Page 96



 

 

Meeting of 4 October 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

6. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and the Metropolitan Police 

Service (MPS) 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner undertook to provide: 

 An estimate, when available, of the cost of 

running the Airwave contract and the delayed 

Emergency Services Network (ESN) contract 

simultaneously, as part of a phased 

implementation of ESN. 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

was made on 

22 August 2019. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 The Committee also requested a response to the 

following question on antisocial behaviour: 

 

What progress has there been in assessing the 

Antisocial Behaviour Warning Notice Scheme in 

Tower Hamlets and piloting it in the Central North 

area? 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of 5 September 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime and 

the Metropolitan Police  

 

During the course of the discussion the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to: 

 Inform the Committee of the anticipated 

savings from the disposals of police stations 

and police front counters during this financial 

year. 

 

 

 

 

 

Completed:  

During 2018/19 

there were no 

disposals of police 

stations or police 

front counters. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 97



 

 

Meeting of 6 June 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime and 

the Metropolitan Police  

 

During the course of the discussion, the Assistant 

Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service (MPS), 

undertook to provide: 

 The number of times the MPS had applied for 

extensions of police bail in the last year, and 

how many individuals this accounted for. 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 

22 August 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

Meeting of 15 May 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and 

MPS 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Assistant 

Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service (MPS), 

undertook to provide: 

 Confirmation of how many trials concerning 

rape and serious sexual assault had been 

abandoned in the last year;  

 Confirmation of how many rape and serious 

sexual assault cases where a decision still 

needed to be made as whether to abandon the 

trial or not; 

 Confirmation of how many harassment and 

how many fraud cases had been reviewed; and 

 Confirmation as to whether any of the 

harassment and fraud cases, which had been 

reviewed for disclosure, had been abandoned 

as a result and how many decisions remained to 

be taken 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress - a 

follow up request 

was made on 

22 August 2019. 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 
 

Page 98



 

 
Complaints about the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime 
(DMPC) 

 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

Deadline, 

if 

applicable  

Complaints about the Mayor's 

Office for Policing and Crime and 

the Deputy Mayor for Policing and  

Crime (DMPC) 

   

The Committee agreed, inter alia, to 

delegate to the Monitoring Officer all of 

the powers and functions conferred on 

it by the Elected Local Policing Bodies 

(Complaints and Misconduct) 

Regulations, with the exception of the 

functions set out at Part 4 of the 

Regulations which may not be 

delegated; and guidance on the 

handling of complaints which requires 

the Monitoring Officer to report, on a 

regular basis, the summary details (such 

as can be reported in public), on the 

exercise of any and all of these 

functions to the Committee for 

monitoring purposes. 

 

 

The Monitoring Officer has 

made a referral to the 

Independent Office for Police 

Conduct (IOPC) regarding a 

conduct matter against the 

former occupant of the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing 

and Crime, The Rt Hon Boris 

Johnson MP.  The IOPC are 

currently assessing the 

matter. 

Monitoring 

Officer 

n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Transparency Procedure    

The Committee agreed Members 

disclose to the Executive Director of 

Secretariat or his nominated 

representative (within 28 days of 

the contact) details of any significant 

contact with the MPS and/or MOPAC 

which they consider to be relevant to 

the work of the Committee; and such 

disclosures be reported to the next 

meeting of the Committee. 

 

No disclosures to report for 

the period from  

10 September 2019 to  

4 October 2019. 

 

 

Executive 

Director of 

Secretariat 

n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



 

 

3. Legal Implications 
 

3.1   The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

 

Appendix 1 – Responses for requests for action from previous meetings of the Committee. 

 

Appendix 2 – Letter to the Chair from the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime dated 14 June 2019. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer  

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

  
 

 

 
 
 

Page 100

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


Appendix 1  

 

Police and Crime Committee – 15 October 2019 

Responses to Requests for actions from previous meetings of the 

Committee  

 

4 September 2019 

From the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime: 

In relation to the Rape Review, the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime was requested to 

inform Members when the Justice Matters meeting which would discuss the Rape Review would 

take place, the following response was received: 

On behalf of Sophie Linden, Deputy Mayor for Police and Crime and following the Deputy 

Mayor’s undertaking to inform you of the date and location of the next Justice Matters Round 

Table, I would like to welcome PCC members to attend the next Justice Matter’s roundtable 

event on Friday 11 October, 11.30 – 13.00 at City Hall.  This is a public event taking place in 

Committee Room 3.  It will be broadcast live and equally can be watched on line.  

The meeting will focus on The London Rape Review published in July 2019 by the Mayor’s 

Office for Police & Crime.  

At the meeting, partners will discuss the Rape Review and Victims’ Commissioner 

recommendations and seek to develop an action plan on how to address systemic issues 

identified in this report, including delays and timeliness in rape cases; disclosure and the 

intrusive access to victim personal data; barriers to accessing information; and support for 

victims.  

 

From the Victims’ Commissioner for London 

During the course of the discussion, the Victims’ Commissioner for London undertook to 

explain how the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) would ensure that the Crown 

Prosecution Service and the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) would act on the findings of 

Rape Review.  The following response was received: 

The Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime will continue to work with the Victims’ Commissioner 

to communicate the issues arising from the rape review to partners and table the 

recommendations for action at her regular meetings with both the MPS and Crown Prosecution 

Service.   

MOPAC will stay apprised of any developments and monitor progress on agreed actions through 

its VAWG [Violence against Women and Girls] Board which has representation from both 

agencies. We will be tabling this for discussion at the next VAWG board to agree next steps for 

working in partnership. 

 

  

Page 101



3 July 2019 

From the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to: 

 Consider the way violence data was shown on the Crime Dashboard and include an 

explanation about the data; 
 

The MOPAC dashboards do not show ranking by ward for any of the crime types featured 

within them nor does it show these crimes measured as a percentage change over time.   

For example, the MOPAC Crime dashboard (which includes information across London on 

violence with injury) allows users to view the volume or rates of the chosen crime type across 

the boroughs and, when a borough is selected, the peak wards for these crimes.  

The dashboards have user instructions which include descriptions of what each element 

within the dashboard shows to aid in the interpretation of this data. 

 

 Discuss with the British Transport Police whether it would be possible to include their figures 

for Antisocial Behaviour on public transport on the Crime Dashboard; 
 

MOPAC has advised that this is an issue for the MPS. 

 Provide the number of Independent Custody Visitor visits by custody suite; and 

 

London’s 22 ICV panels are made up of over 236 volunteers. Each Panel is expected to make 

weekly visits to the Custody Suites within their Panel boundaries throughout the year. For the 

year April 2018-March 2019 ICV panels two thirds of London’s 22 panels completed 90%  

(46 visits per year) of their schedule weekly visits. The reminding third of panels have 

completed between 70%- 80% (36-41 visits per year) of their visits. However MOPAC has 

identified that Sutton was closed due to the Custody Estate restructure part way through the 

year. MOPAC is also aware that two panels (Lewisham and Wandsworth) do not have 

sufficient volunteers to complete weekly visits and therefore have a reduced schedule of twice 

monthly, these panels have completed 100% of their scheduled visits. 

 

 Provide information on what MOPAC had done to support people who wanted to be 

Independent Custody Visitors but their usual custody suite had closed and provide the figure 

for how many Independent Custody Visitors had given up their role as a result of the closure 

of their usual custody suite. 

If someone applies to become an ICVs but the borough they live or work in does not have a 

24/7 suite we offer them the chance to join the nearest panel. E.G. If you live or work in 

Harrow you will be offered Brent or Barnet. 

Since 2018/19 there has been one closure of a 24/7 suites which has resulted in the 

disbanding of a panel – Sutton and of the 8 panel members 2 are exploring moving to 

Wandsworth or Croydon.  Therefore 6 have given up their role. 

 

Page 102



We are aware that Greenwich panel will close in 2019/20 and all six members have identified 

their desire to move to Bexley or Lewisham when the suite becomes a contingency. 

We have recently (this week) been informed that Hounslow will close to become a 

contingency suite in Summer 2020 and we will work with the panel members to encourage 

them to move to Heathrow or Acton. 

 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 104



Appendix 2

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 106



 

                                                                                                                                    

 

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 
 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  

 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 15 October 2019  

This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 

1. Summary  
 

1.1 This report outlines recent action taken by the Chair of the Police and Crime Committee in 

accordance with the delegated authority granted to him by the Police and Crime Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendation 
 
2.1 That the Committee notes the recent action taken by the Chair of the Police and Crime 

Committee under delegated authority, following consultation with the party Group Lead 

Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, namely to agree the Committee’s report on Hate 

Crime, and notes the report as attached at Appendix 1 of this report. 

 

 

3. Background  
 

3.1 At its meeting on 8 April 2019, the GLA Oversight Committee agreed that this Committee would 

undertake a scrutiny investigation on hate crime.  At its meeting on 23 May 2019, the Committee 

discussed issues relating to hate crime in London with invited guests.  The Committee then resolved: 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair of the Committee, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree any output from the discussion (on hate crime). 

 

3.2 Following that meeting, the Chair consulted with the Deputy Chairman and party Group Lead 

Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM about an output from the meeting.   

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 5



        

 

4. Issues for Consideration 
  

4.1 Following consultation, the Chair agreed the attached report on Hate Crime, which was published on 

30 September 2019, and is attached at Appendix 1 for Members and officers only but is available 

on the GLA’s website here1.   

.  
4.2 The report made the following recommendations: 

 The Mayor should report back to the committee by the end of October 2019 as to how he is 

specifically measuring whether more victims of hate crime are coming forward to report.  

 MOPAC’s Evidence and Insight Team should, by the end of this financial year, carry out an   

in-depth analysis into the reasons for the increase in recorded hate crime, similar to the 

analysis it carried out on domestic abuse and sexual offences. This research must be used to 

assess progress in encouraging victims to come forward and report, identify whether 

interventions around hate crime are fit for purpose and identify what level of resource will be 

required to deliver support services.  

 By the end of this calendar year, MOPAC should publish information on the level of repeat 

victimisation for each strand of hate crime as part of the regular updates to its hate crime 

dashboard.  

 

 The Mayor should step in to expedite the roll out of the Met’s school education programme on 

hate crime, and report back to this committee by the end of October 2019 on the detail about 

the programme, including how it will be delivered across all schools.  

 

 By the end of this year, the Mayor needs to put in place arrangements with CPS London and 

the Met to gather detailed data on the charging, prosecution and conviction rates for each 

specific strand of hate crime. This information should be published as part of the regular 

updates to MOPAC’s hate crime dashboard.  

 By the end of October 2019 the Mayor should provide this committee with information as to 

how he is regularly and proactively raising awareness of hate crime among all Londoners. In 

addition to this, the Mayor could consider:  

o  holding an annual London event to raise awareness of hate crime, increase community 

cohesion and celebrate London’s diversity.  

o  working more proactively with organisations such as sporting and cultural institutions to 

encourage them to promote awareness of hate crime and how to prevent it, and to counter 

divisive messages.  

o  renewing his commitment to initiatives like the #LondonisOpen campaign, in particular the 

use of social media in that campaign, given the recent rise in hate crime.  

 MOPAC should work with the Met, other police services in London and anti-hate crime 

organisations to improve the knowledge base around hate crime offenders, reporting back to 

this committee by the end of this financial year on its findings.  

 MOPAC should complete an assessment of what, if any, interventions are in place across 

London to work specifically with hate crime offenders. Using the results of the assessment and 

                                                 
1https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications?order=DESC 

Page 108

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications?order=DESC
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications?order=DESC


        

the improved knowledge base around hate crime offenders, MOPAC should set out how it will 

help to improve the level and quality of work with hate crime offenders across the capital.  

 

 By the end of the year MOPAC and the Met should review the provision of Hate Crime Liaison 

Officers in each BCU against the data available on hate crime and advice from anti-hate crime 

organisations, to identify whether BCUs need additional Liaison Officers.  

 The Met should ensure that frontline officers’ training on hate crime specifically covers the 

challenges of hate crime specific to their BCU.  

 The Mayor should, by the end of this year, make information available to Londoners about the 

organisations that are providing support to victims of hate crime. This includes projects funded 

by local authorities and the Government.  

 The improvements in the analysis and data around hate crime recommended in this report 

must be used to better determine the level of demand for a pan-London hate crime advocacy 

service prior to retendering. The Mayor must ensure that MOPAC commissions a properly 

funded pan-London hate crime advocacy service and should report back to this committee by 

the end of this year on his plans for the future of the advocacy service.  

 By March 2020, the Mayor should set out how he has used his powers and influence to 

contribute to an improvement in the practices of the criminal justice system in how it responds 

to the specific needs of hate crime victims.  

 

4.3 The report was launched at Chelsea Football Stadium on 30 September 2019, with speeches from 

Carlton Cole, former West Ham and Chelsea player and Unmesh Desai AM, Chair of this Committee. 

 

4.4 Members are asked to note the report on Hate Crime, attached at Appendix 1. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 

 

5.1  The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 

 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: Member Delegated Authority form 1072 (output from Hate Crime scrutiny).  

 

Contact Officer: Teresa young, Senior Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

E-mail: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 109

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


        

 

Page 110



September 2019 

London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 1

Police and Crime Committee 

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

Hate crime

Hate crime has no place in society, not 
least in as global and diverse a city as 
London. But, sadly, it is still a fact of life 
for many Londoners. 

When someone experiences a hate crime, it has the potential to affect 

not only that individual but surrounding communities, and can lead to 

isolation, a breakdown in relationships, and leave Londoners feeling 

unsafe. 

The Mayor has made tackling hate and intolerance one of the key 

priorities of his mayoralty. He has set City Hall goals to both protect 

Londoners from hate crime and improve the support that victims 

receive. Having passed the half way point in the Mayor’s Police and 

Crime Plan, we examined the progress being made in tackling hate 

crime and sought to find out what more Londoners want to see from 

City Hall, the criminal justice system and others to address these 

harmful crimes. 

We welcome that the Police and Crime Plan identified tackling hate 

crime and intolerance as one of the key priorities for the capital. But the 

evidence we heard suggests that, while some progress is being made, 

there are further steps that the Mayor needs to take to achieve his 

ultimate goal of a reduction in hate crime. 

Here, we set out our findings and recommendations that will help to 

ensure that no matter where someone lives in London, or who they are, 

if they experience hate crime they can have the confidence it will be 

dealt with and can rely on getting the support that they need.1  

- Unmesh Desai AM, Chairman, London Assembly Police and Crime 

Committee 

The London Assembly Police and Crime Committee 

The London Assembly is a crucial check on the powers of the Mayor of 
London. As the most powerful directly-elected politician in the UK, it is 
important the Mayor is held publicly and democratically accountable.   

The Assembly examines the decisions and actions of the Mayor to ensure 
promises to Londoners are delivered and the money he spends, collected 
from Londoners, is wisely spent. 

The London Assembly Police and Crime Committee examines the work of 
the Mayor and his Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC), to make sure 
that he is delivering on the promises made to Londoners in his Police and 
Crime Plan. We also investigate other issues relating to policing and 
crime in the capital. 

We welcome your comments on hate crime in London, to help us hold 
the Mayor and MOPAC to account. You can get in touch with the 
committee via policeandcrimecommittee@london.gov.uk. 

Appendix 1

P
age 111



September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 2  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

Londoners’ experiences of hate crime
 

Three quarters of Londoners say that their local area is a place where 

people from different backgrounds can get on together.2 But despite 

this, the Metropolitan Police is recording year on year increases in all 

types of hate crime, in line with a national trend.3 

What is a hate crime?   
“any criminal offence which is perceived by the victim or any other 
person, to be motivated by hostility or prejudice” based on a person's 
characteristic or perceived characteristic, such as race, religion, sexual 
orientation, disability or transgender.4 

Most of the hate crime that the Met records is classed as racist and 

religious hate crime. In 2018, there were just over 16,500 racist and 

religious hate crime offences, which includes faith, Islamophobic and 

antisemitic hate crimes. Other types of hate crime occur in smaller 

numbers, but the increase in these crimes over time is just as, if not 

even more, stark.5 What is not clear from the data, is how many of these 

offences involve repeat victims. 

Other police services in London are also recording an increase in hate 

crimes. The British Transport Police (BTP) told us, for example, that in 

London in 2018-19, it recorded 2,064 hate crime offences, a slight 

increase on the previous year. Around one in four of these offences are 

committed against railway staff and over half are reported on London 

Underground trains.6 

 
Source: Metropolitan Police, Hate crime or special crime dashboard 

 

Between 
2011 and 

2018...

disability hate crimes 
recorded by the Met 
increased by 215 per cent 

131 offences recorded in 
2011

413 offences recorded in 
2018

transgender hate crimes 
recorded by the Met 
increased by 261 per cent

59 offences recorded in 
2011

213 offences recorded in 
2018

homophobic hate crimes 
recorded by the Met 
increased by 81 per cent

1,276 offences recorded 
in 2011

2,307 offences recorded 
in 2018

racist and religious hate 
crimes recorded by the 
Met increased by 107 per 
cent

7,989 offences recorded 
in 2011

16,528 offences recorded 
in 2018

P
age 112

https://www.met.police.uk/sd/stats-and-data/met/hate-crime-dashboard/


September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 3  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

In 2018, there were just over 19,000 offences recorded by the Met with 

one or more hate crimes attached to them. This is a 78 per cent rise on 

the number of offences linked with hate crime in 2012 and averages 

around 50 offences a day.7 One offence recorded by the Met might have 

more than one hate crime attached to it: an assault for example, could 

have both a homophobic and disability element and so would be 

counted as a hate crime twice.8  

Hate crime is recorded across all parts of London, but many offences are 

concentrated within a few boroughs. Westminster, Camden, Tower 

Hamlets, Hackney and Barnet regularly appear in the top five boroughs 

in terms of the number of offences for the different strands of hate 

crime.9 

Hate crime takes place in both the public and private space, but this 

varies across different types of hate crime. Disability hate crime is more 

likely to occur in the home, while transphobic hate crime is more likely 

to happen on a public street. Only 18 per cent of race and 23 per cent of 

sexual orientation hate crimes occur within a domestic setting.10 

 

 

 

Source: Metropolitan Police, Hate crime or special crime dashboard 

 

 

Disability hate crime

Haringey - 26

Islington - 25

Westminster - 24

Camden - 24

Tower Hamlets - 18

Homophobic hate crime

Westminster - 257

Lambeth - 193

Hackney - 139

Southwark - 138

Camden - 115

Racist and religious hate crime

Westminster - 1,435

Barnet - 738

Tower Hamlets - 735

Camden - 690

Lambeth - 665

Transgender hate crime

Westminster - 39

Hammersmith & Fulham - 19

Camden - 15

Islington - 12

Hackney - 10

Boroughs with 
the most 

recorded hate 
crime offences 

in 2018

P
age 113

https://www.met.police.uk/sd/stats-and-data/met/hate-crime-dashboard/


September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 4  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

The location in which a hate crime takes place can 

heavily influence how the incident affects the victim 

and their family. In the more ‘familiar’ environments 

such as at work, in school or near the home, it is more 

likely that the victim will be acquainted with the 

perpetrator(s) and will, therefore, have to face them 

again 

- Written submission from the Centre for Hate Studies 

 

“ 

” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Most hate crime is linked to public order offences.11 But, worryingly, it 

was suggested to us that the level of violent and physical hate crime 

may be increasing. Iman Atta, Director of TellMAMA, said that “we are 

seeing more attacks that are demonstrated in physical aggression and 

more attacks on institutions, on mosques, whether it is vandalism, 

whether it is arson attacks.”12 Violence is also said to be increasing in 

relation to LGBT+ hate crime. Nick Antjoule, Head of Hate Crime 

Services at Galop told us that “an escalation in the scale and seriousness 

of hate crimes that we are seeing is very noticeable […] the types of 

issues that we are helping people with are far more extreme than we 

would have seen, say, three, four or five years ago.” He cited concerns 

for transgender individuals and bisexual women, who tend to 

experience more sexual violence.13 

 

What kinds of hate crime might someone experience? 
• Physical assault and violence. 

• Verbal abuse. 

• Harassment. 

• Incitement to hatred (when someone acts in a way that is 
threatening and intended to stir up hate). 

• Attacks on institutions.  

Hate crime can be either ‘aggravated’ or ‘motivated’. For example, if 
someone has been attacked purely because of their ethnicity (e.g. 

shouting racial abuse, online abuse or assault) these are ‘motivated’ 
offences. If someone has had an offence committed against them and 
during that offence the offender makes, for example, a racist 
comment then this would be an ‘aggravated’ offence. 

In London, most victims experience harassment, making up seven in 
ten of the hate crime offences recorded by the Met in 2018. This 
includes things like racially aggravated harassment, Public Order Act 

offences or malicious communications.14 

 

P
age 114



September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 5  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

LGBT hate crime 

In June 2019 two women were subject to a homophobic attack on a 
London night bus. It was reported that a group of young men 
harassed the couple, making sexual gestures. They then went on to 
physically attack the couple, leaving them with facial injuries. Four 
male teenagers aged between 15 and 18 were arrested and charged 
on suspicion of robbery and aggravated grievous bodily harm.15 

 

 

Disability hate crime 
Most victims of disability hate crime experience verbal abuse, but 
Inclusion London has suggested that there are increasing reports of 

face to face and online abuse. It says that “what can start as 
‘disrespect’ and so called ‘minor incidents’ that disabled people 
experience daily, such as neighbours parking in a person’s disabled 
parking bay so the disabled person cannot reach their house from 

their car, or wheely bins placed in front of a disabled person’s front 
door so it is difficult to get in and out, can develop into physical 
attacks and even result in murder”.16  

 
  

P
age 115



September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 6  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

To intervene effectively, there needs to be a greater 
understanding of why recorded hate crime has 
increased

 

We welcome the Mayor’s commitment to encourage more victims of 

hate crime to come forward and report. With recorded hate crime 

offences rising, on the face of it progress is being made. But simply 

looking at the number of recorded crimes is insufficient to judge 

success. It is considered by some as a ‘blunt’ measure that is unhelpful 

for determining whether policy and interventions have been 

successful.17 

Part of the issue is in knowing to what extent the rise in hate crime can 

be attributed to victims coming forward, better recording of hate crime 

by officers, or a genuine rise in the number of offences taking place. This 

debate has played out recently in response to the national rise in 

transphobic hate crime: the police attribute the rise to greater trust and 

better reporting; the Home Office suggests it is a mix of reporting and 

better recording by the police; but Stonewall suggests that “transphobia 

is everywhere” and there has been an increase in the number of 

offences taking place.18 

 

How can someone report a hate crime? 

Hate crimes can be reported directly to the police; via organisations 
such as Crimestoppers; or through ‘third party’ reporters. These are 
organisations that can report an incident to the police on a victim’s 
behalf and provide advice and support to that victim.19 Third party 
reporters include, for example, TellMAMA (Islamaphobic hate crime), 
the Community Security Trust (antisemitic hate crime) and Galop 
(LGBT+ hate crime). 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

We heard positive indications that there are more Londoners—both 

victims and witnesses—coming forward to report hate crime. Third 

party reporters and other organisations are playing a big part in this and 

P
age 116



September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 7  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

should be commended for the work they do with victims who may not 

feel comfortable reporting to the police in the first instance.  

We also heard that, broadly, the Met is getting better at recognising and 

recording hate crime, although there were some concerns that 

recording can still be inconsistent.20 Changes in the awareness and 

recording of hate by the police can have an impact on recorded crime 

levels: the introduction of the Disability Hate Crime Matters programme 

in 2016, a Met initiative which raised awareness among officers of 

disability hate crime, resulted in an 800 per cent increase in recorded 

disability hate crimes that year: going some way towards demonstrating 

the real number of victims of that specific crime.21 It is disappointing 

that such a scheme stopped, the suggested reason being that “a key 

member of MPS staff retired and then the MPS restructured”,22 

resulting in the number of recorded disability hate crimes dropping 

again in subsequent years.  

But, most worryingly, it has also been suggested that the number of 

offences is “ramping up”, with trends and patterns in some types of 

hate crime leading organisations to believe “that there is genuinely an 

increase in the number of incidents taking place.”23 We heard that with 

incidents of antisemitism, Islamophobia and disability hate crime that 

the current political climate of polarisation of views can embolden 

individuals who wish to commit hate crime and are also acutely aware 

of the impact that local, regional and world events can have on 

Londoners’ experiences of hate crime.24 We have seen this most starkly 

in the short periods following events such as the EU Exit referendum 

and terror attacks.25 

Spikes in racist and religious hate crime occurred following events like 

the EU referendum and London Bridge terror attack 

 
Source: Metropolitan Police, Hate crime or special crime dashboard 

 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

Racist and religious hate crime

EU Referendum London Bridge 
terror attack 

P
age 117

https://www.met.police.uk/sd/stats-and-data/met/hate-crime-dashboard/


September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 8  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

 

All of this means it is increasingly difficult to know what is driving the 

increase in recorded hate crime and whether the proportion of victims 

who report is increasing. This problem is not unique to hate crime. 

MOPAC has carried out work on other areas of crime to understand why 

the number of offences is changing. Its recent research on the reasons 

for the increase in domestic abuse and sexual offences, for example, 

concluded that there could have been as many as 151,000 people who 

experienced rape or sexual assault in the year to March 2018, in 

comparison to the 20,000 offences that were recorded by the Met.26  

The Mayor has said that he will use crime statistics, data from the 

Ministry of Justice (MoJ) and MOPAC research to judge progress on 

whether more victims are coming forward to report. To go some way in 

making this assessment more robust, this kind of analysis needs to be 

replicated for hate crime and is something that MOPAC should carry 

out.  

There also needs to be greater transparency around the level of repeat 

victimisation, one of the other measures the Mayor is looking for 

progress in. For many victims, the hate crime they experience can be 

persistent, and for some it becomes a daily occurrence. The Crime 

Survey for England and Wales (CSEW) suggests that between 2015-16 

and 2017-18, nearly one in five (18 per cent) victims of personal hate 

crime were repeat victims, and nearly four in ten (38 per cent) victims of 

household hate crime were repeat victims.27 We heard, for example, 

that victims of disability hate crime can suffer verbal abuse on a near 

daily basis, with many perceiving it “as part of everyday life”.28  

It is not clear as to what progress has been made to date against the 

Mayor’s goal of reducing repeat victimisation: the data available 

through MOPAC and the Met provides no insight into this. Not only does 

We are in very divisive times and very difficult times and 

that does really worry me in terms of increases in hate 

crime […] I hope it will not push us off course, but it may 

mean that there are more people and more communities 

who feel threatened and who feel that they need the 

services of our advocacy programmes as well as the 

services of the Met 

- Sophie Linden, Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime, 14 May 

2019 

“ 

” 

P
age 118

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b18491/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20QA%2014%20May%202019%20Tuesday%2014-May-2019%2010.00%20Police%20and%20Crime%20Co.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b18491/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20QA%2014%20May%202019%20Tuesday%2014-May-2019%2010.00%20Police%20and%20Crime%20Co.pdf?T=9


September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 9  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

this make judging progress and success difficult, but it adds to the lack 

of clarity about the increase in recorded hate crime.  

Recommendations  

• The Mayor should report back to the committee by the end of 

October 2019 as to how he is specifically measuring whether more 

victims of hate crime are coming forward to report. 

• MOPAC’s Evidence and Insight Team should, by the end of this 

financial year, carry out an in-depth analysis into the reasons for 

the increase in recorded hate crime, similar to the analysis it 

carried out on domestic abuse and sexual offences. This research 

must be used to assess progress in encouraging victims to come 

forward and report, identify whether interventions around hate 

crime are fit for purpose and identify what level of resource will be 

required to deliver support services. 

• By the end of this calendar year, MOPAC should publish 

information on the level of repeat victimisation for each strand of 

hate crime as part of the regular updates to its hate crime 

dashboard. 

  

P
age 119



September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 10  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

Better knowledge and awareness of hate crime will 
encourage more victims to come forward and report

 

Hate crime is still significantly under-reported. The CSEW suggests that, 

nationally, only around half of CSEW reported hate crimes are reported 

to the police.29 We heard that general awareness raising of what hate 

crime is and how to report it has helped to improve reporting, but this is 

an area where more progress needs to be made.  

Why don’t people report hate crime to the police?30 

• The person did not think anything would happen as a result.   

• Fear of wasting police time. 

• Incidents happen so often that it becomes ‘normalised’, and a 
person believes there is no point in reporting. 

• A lack of understanding of what hate crime is. In respect of 
disability hate crime, offences are often not identified until 
disclosed to organisations who may be helping the individual with 
other issues. 

• There is a lack of trust in authority and a lack of awareness of how 
to report a crime, particularly among new migrant communities.   

• The initial police response may not be appropriate, particularly for 
people with learning difficulties or mental health support needs.   

 

 

There are dangers with awareness raising of the issues around hate 

crime. We heard that “any publicity about the existence of hate crime 

risks actually affecting community confidence”, and there are examples 

where “in proactive publicity campaigns about hate crime […] posters 

have then become targets for hate crime themselves.” But there were 

also suggestions that these risks can be carefully managed through the 

use of “the right language and the right message”.31  

Knowledge and understanding of hate crime within schools and among 

young people is a concern. The Mayor has committed to work with the 

Met, local authorities and educators in schools to help increase 

awareness of hate crime.32 We were disappointed to hear that a schools 

programme being developed by the Met and partner organisations had 

We do need to encourage people to come forward and 

report so that we get a truer reflection of what happens 

in London  

- Superintendent Waheed Khan, Metropolitan Police, 23 May 

2019 

“ 

” 

P
age 120

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b18504/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Hate%20Crime%20Thursday%2023-May-2019%2010.00%20Police%20and%20Crime%20Commit.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b18504/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Hate%20Crime%20Thursday%2023-May-2019%2010.00%20Police%20and%20Crime%20Commit.pdf?T=9


September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 11  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

yet to be finalised and rolled out, over two years on from the Mayor’s 

commitment being made. In May we were told that the education 

programme being developed by the Met’s Hate Crime Diamond Group 

was “imminent” and would be rolled out “in the next month or so”.33 If 

it has not been rolled out by now, it is unlikely to be embedded into 

school practices in this academic year. 

Awareness raising is important not only in helping people understand 

when they may have been the victim of a hate crime and how to report, 

but in letting them know that hate crime is being dealt with effectively. 

This kind of work is taking place within anti-hate crime organisations, 

such as TellMAMA, which shares success stories with victims who might 

be reluctant to report to the police, “to showcase that the police have 

acted on this and there has been an arrest at the end of the day or an 

apology”.34  

It is encouraging that anti-hate crime organisations are doing this kind of 

work but raises a question as to whether awareness of these successes 

needs to reach more Londoners, not just those already in touch with 

specialist support services. 

 

 

Part of this is about having the right information to provide to people 

and ensuring that Londoners receive that message. Information 

available from the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS), for example, 

provides high level prosecution and conviction rates on hate crime, but 

does not provide detail that would be most helpful to specific 

communities, such as Jewish or Muslim communities. The Mayor has 

committed to publish information on hate crime and its outcomes. But 

other than proceedings by the police against perpetrators, there is little 

information available on outcomes that demonstrates he is delivering 

on this commitment. Looking more closely at prosecutions and 

conviction data will help to make information readily available to 

It is not just about raising awareness of the existence of 

hate crime. It is about raising awareness of what benefits 

a person to report it.  

- Dave Rich, Community Security Trust, 23 May 2019 

“ 

” 

P
age 121

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b18504/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Hate%20Crime%20Thursday%2023-May-2019%2010.00%20Police%20and%20Crime%20Commit.pdf?T=9


September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 12  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

organisations and the public about the action being taken in respect of 

hate crime and where improvements need to be made.  

In our investigation we repeatedly heard how important leadership was 

in tackling hate crime. The Mayor is in the unique position to enable 

effective awareness raising, not just among specific communities, or 

among victims, but among all Londoners. We welcome that he has 

championed the benefits of a diverse London through campaigns such 

as #LondonisOpen and the publication of a Social Integration Strategy 

but believe there is more he can do in this context to focus on hate 

crime.  

Recommendations  

• The Mayor should step in to expedite the roll out of the Met’s 

school education programme on hate crime, and report back to 

this committee by the end of October 2019 on the detail about the 

programme, including how it will be delivered across all schools. 

• By the end of this year, the Mayor needs to put in place 

arrangements with CPS London and the Met to gather detailed 

data on the charging, prosecution and conviction rates for each 

specific strand of hate crime. This information should be published 

as part of the regular updates to MOPAC’s hate crime dashboard. 

• By the end of October 2019 the Mayor should provide this 

committee with information as to how he is regularly and 

proactively raising awareness of hate crime among all Londoners. 

In addition to this, the Mayor could consider:  

o holding an annual London event to raise awareness of hate 

crime, increase community cohesion and celebrate London’s 

diversity 

o working more proactively with organisations such as sporting 

and cultural institutions to encourage them to promote 

awareness of hate crime and how to prevent it, and to counter 

divisive messages 

o renewing his commitment to initiatives like the #LondonisOpen 

campaign, in particular the use of social media in that 

campaign, given the recent rise in hate crime 

 

  

P
age 122



September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 13  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

To eradicate hate crime, the attitudes and actions of 
offenders must be challenged

 

The Mayor has said he intends “to challenge hate crime robustly”.35 We 

welcome that as well as raising awareness and ensuring Londoners 

know how to report hate crime, he has recognised the need to consider 

how to prevent it from occurring and, when it does, to prevent 

offenders from committing a hate crime again.  

The Deputy Mayor for Social Integration, Sociality Mobility and 

Community Engagement, has spoken about some of the “very small-

scale” projects taking place within the community cohesion sphere to 

prevent hate and intolerance.36 But one striking omission around the 

prevention of hate crime is work with offenders. It was suggested to us 

that “for all of those people who have been found guilty of committing 

hate crimes, there is no work with them to challenge the reasons why 

they have committed them.”37 We recognise that this is primarily a 

matter for the MoJ and probation services. Nonetheless, the absence of 

hate crime specific rehabilitation initiatives will be disappointing for 

those victims who are motivated to report hate crime because they 

want to prevent their experience happening to someone else.38 

 

 

 

As with any preventative approach, there is no quick win solution. But 

there is a need to look at how the prevention of hate crime can be as 

effective as possible, and work with offenders is one way to achieve this. 

There is merit in exploring how further understanding, investment and 

effort can be put into working directly with offenders.  

Firstly, we agree with the suggestion from the BTP that further work 

could be carried out across the capital to improve what is known about 

hate crime offenders.39 Secondly, there would be merit in exploring and 

testing interventions that could be most effective in challenging and 

changing the motivations of those that commit hate crime. We heard 

This person hated this community so much that they were 

motivated to commit acts of violence and abuse against 

them. There is nothing thinking about how to unpick that. 

How do we go on to work with that person to prevent 

them from committing hate crimes again?  

– Nick Antjoule, Galop, 23 May 2019 

“ 

” 

P
age 123

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b18504/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Hate%20Crime%20Thursday%2023-May-2019%2010.00%20Police%20and%20Crime%20Commit.pdf?T=9


September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 14  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

two suggestions: better use of restorative justice “where it is risk-

assessed and victim-led”; and offender workshops, similar to those that 

are used for domestic violence offenders and which “can be very useful 

in terms of helping challenge prejudicial opinions.”40 We were told by 

Stop Hate UK that the London Probation Service had effective 

intervention programmes for hate crime offenders, but “this work 

ceased with the introduction of the CRC [Community Rehabilitation 

Company]”.41 In the longer term, if progressed, the Memorandum of 

Understanding with the MoJ on devolution of the criminal justice system 

may provide the Mayor with the opportunity to intervene further. 

Recommendations  

• MOPAC should work with the Met, other police services in London 

and anti-hate crime organisations to improve the knowledge base 

around hate crime offenders, reporting back to this committee by 

the end of this financial year on its findings. 

• MOPAC should complete an assessment of what, if any, 

interventions are in place across London to work specifically with 

hate crime offenders. Using the results of the assessment and the 

improved knowledge base around hate crime offenders, MOPAC 

should set out how it will help to improve the level and quality of 

work with hate crime offenders across the capital.  

P
age 124



September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 15  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

The Met’s response to hate crime is improving, but 
there is further to go

 

The Mayor has said he wants to improve the satisfaction of victims in 

respect of the Met’s handling of hate crime. It was encouraging to hear 

that the Met is considered by some to be one of the better police 

services in the country for dealing with hate crime. However, victim 

satisfaction in the Met’s response to hate crime continues to fall, in line 

with overall victim satisfaction.42 

 

The Mayor launched the Met’s Online Hate Crime Hub in April 2017. The 

aim of the hub was to “improve the police response to online hate by 

gathering intelligence, improving understanding and testing new 

investigation methods” and offer victims a referral to specialist support 

services.43 The hate crime hub is now part of the Met’s mainstream 

business, and covers both online and offline hate crime.44 This move 

should help to make any links between offline and online hate crime 

and provide the Met with a single source of insight into the ‘whole 

picture’ of hate crime in the capital.  

 

Organisations we spoke to raised concerns about the ability of the Met 

to tackle hate crime under the new Basic Command Unit (BCU) model, 

particularly in respect of frontline officers investigating aggravated hate 

crimes.45 Iman Atta, Director of TellMAMA, said that although improved, 

We are going to be vigorous and we are going to 

ruthlessly follow up those people who offend, attack or 

in any way denigrate other people for something they 

cannot effect, which is what the definition of hate crime 

is, how they are, whether it is by race, gender or any of 

the other things that people select people out for in an 

unfair way  

– Cressida Dick, Commissioner, Metropolitan Police, 6 July 

2016 

“ 

” 

the online world is increasingly integrated into everyday 

life, meaning that the distinction between offline/online 

hate crime is often blurred 

– Galop, Online hate crime report 2017 

“ 

” 

P
age 125

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=179&MId=6046
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=179&MId=6046
https://www.galop.org.uk/online-hate-crime-report-2017/


September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 16  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

the training and awareness of officers on hate crime is “patchy and 

inconsistent”, suggesting that “it is not that every single police officer in 

the Met knows what hate crime is and addresses it equally as the 

other.”46 Inclusion London told us, for example, that there are instances 

in which officers will categorise a disability hate crime as antisocial 

behaviour and treat it as such, passing the incident on to housing 

associations to be dealt with.47 

We welcome that the Met has said it is improving its training of frontline 

officers around hate crime, having taken much of its learning from the 

2016 Disability Hate Crime Matters programme. We heard that 1,700 

call handlers will be trained by September 2019 and that a hate crime 

training package is being developed for all front-line staff and officers, 

including a checklist for officers attending incidents to identify whether 

a hate crime may have taken place.48 We are hopeful that this will 

improve the consistency of the approach officers take throughout 

London. However, it is disappointing that it has taken over two years to 

implement that learning.49 The training package should form part of an 

officer’s initial training as well as ongoing development and we will 

watch closely and follow up on this to examine the impact on the 

number of recorded hate crimes and on victim experience.  

The Met has also ensured that there is a Hate Crime Liaison Officer 

available in every BCU, whose role is to form relationships with people 

and organisations in an area to raise awareness of hate crime and 

encourage reporting. It is aiming to deliver greater consistency in its 

approach to hate crime across boroughs and suggests that these officers 

are “becoming a very tried, tested and trusted local people whom many 

groups are contacting.”50  

 

 

But concern has been raised that, because of the BCU model, Hate 

Crime Liaison Officers “have much more ground to cover”.51 Iman Atta 

suggested that “each borough has got its unique fingerprint, its unique 

We learned from the pilot that we were not good at 

identifying the vulnerabilities when people get in touch 

with us in the first instance. We have to ask more 

questions and we have to be more victim-focused in 

relation to that. […] We have also realised that our 

responding officers do not always recognise when they 

see it and so we are now enhancing their training  

– Sir Stephen House, Deputy Commissioner, 

MetropolitanPolice, 4 June 2019 

“ 

” 

P
age 126

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b18526/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20QA%20on%204%20June%202019%20Tuesday%2004-Jun-2019%2010.00%20Police%20and%20Crime.pdf?T=9


September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 17  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

population that lives in there, its unique problems and issues”, so there 

is a need to make sure boroughs and communities “are not losing that 

local expertise from a different borough by lumping them together 

under the BCUs.”52 We heard similar concerns from others on specific 

types of hate crime, with one LGBT+ hate crime worker raising her 

concern about the “removal of officers who are more likely to get 

pronouns correct, understand slang without needing to explain or be 

questioned on lifestyle”.53 The Met told us that “the concerns that have 

been expressed are something that we are absolutely alive to” and 

noted that some BCUs have gone beyond having one Liaison Officer.54  

Recommendations 

• By the end of the year MOPAC and the Met should review the 

provision of Hate Crime Liaison Officers in each BCU against the 

data available on hate crime and advice from anti-hate crime 

organisations, to identify whether BCUs need additional Liaison 

Officers. 

• The Met should ensure that frontline officers’ training on hate 

crime specifically covers the challenges of hate crime specific to 

their BCU. 

 
  

P
age 127



September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 18  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

The demand for support from victims outweighs that 
provided through MOPAC funding arrangements

 

MOPAC commissions a Hate Crime Victim Advocates Scheme called 

Community Alliance to Combat Hate (CATCH). The consortium offers 

specialist and targeted support for high risk victims of hate crime, 

including “helping the people they work with to cope, helping them to 

recover from their experiences and helping to empower them, giving 

them the tools and support to get things that they need.” Organisations 

within the consortium provide advice and accompany victims through 

the reporting and criminal justice process.55 

The evidence we gathered during this investigation shows that the kind 

of advocacy work that CATCH is delivering, alongside the ongoing work 

of anti-hate crime organisations, is having a positive impact in 

supporting victims of hate crime.56 We heard that in depth advocacy 

was provided to just over 400 victims of hate crime in the last financial 

year, including those who did not report to the police. Specifically, on 

attrition rates, MOPAC suggests that nearly two-thirds of cases fall 

because of non-attendance of the victims at court: CATCH suggests that 

through its advocacy work the rate at which those victims and witnesses 

drop out, is considerably lower.57 But with the number of recorded hate 

crime offences in much larger numbers and growing, only a small 

proportion of victims are receiving support. 

The Mayor’s commitment to extend the provision of a Hate Crime 

Victims’ Advocates scheme was a welcome one. And it is 

understandable that MOPAC aimed to open up the CATCH service 

beyond the two pilot boroughs to every borough in London. But it is 

disappointing that this was not backed up with the resource to make the 

best of such a service. It is only very recently that MOPAC has agreed an 

uplift in the amount of funding it gives to the CATCH service, which will 

provide for around six extra specialist Hate Crime Advocates.58 It is still 

possible that the demand for support from victims of hate crime 

outweighs that which can be provided through MOPAC’s commissioned 

advocacy service.  

We question why MOPAC extended the remit of CATCH initially without 

increasing its capacity, particularly when the DMPC has said herself that 

the current context and the impact of local, regional and national events 

“may mean that there are more people and more communities who feel 

threatened and who feel that they need the services of our advocacy 

programmes as well as the services of the Met.”59  

P
age 128



September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 19  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

 

We are pleased that since our investigation MOPAC has decided to take 

the first step in rectifying this issue of under-resourcing. This will provide 

much-needed support to an extra 400 victims of hate crime in London. 

But we need to be reassured that between now and October 2020, 

when the contract ends, CATCH can deliver to its full potential as a pan-

London service and that the future of any advocacy service is based on a 

sound evidence base from the start.  

 

Recommendations 

• The Mayor should, by the end of this year, make information 

available to Londoners about the organisations that are providing 

support to victims of hate crime. This includes projects funded by 

local authorities and the Government. 

• The improvements in the analysis and data around hate crime 

recommended in this report must be used to better determine the 

level of demand for a pan-London hate crime advocacy service 

prior to retendering. The Mayor must ensure that MOPAC 

commissions a properly funded pan-London hate crime advocacy 

service and should report back to this committee by the end of this 

year on his plans for the future of the advocacy service. 

  

Even though CATCH partners are doing their best to be 

able to cover pan-London with whatever capacity they 

have right now, it is worthwhile knowing that is within 

that very limited capacity and still keeping to very careful 

in-depth work. What we would love to be able to do is to 

be able to offer CATCH properly and to be able to 

promote CATCH and give the best opportunity to 

everyone who needs it, to be able to access it 

– Nick Antjoule, Galop, 23 May 2019 

“ 

” 

P
age 129

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b18504/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Hate%20Crime%20Thursday%2023-May-2019%2010.00%20Police%20and%20Crime%20Commit.pdf?T=9


September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 20  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

The criminal justice system needs to better account 
for the specific needs of different hate crime victims

 

Conviction rates for hate crime in London are among the lowest across 

England and Wales. In 2017-18, 78 per cent of the prosecutions for hate 

crime in London’s courts resulted in a conviction, against a national 

average of nearly 85 per cent. Comparable force areas had higher 

conviction rates than in London and the capital has seen little change in 

its conviction rate over the past four years.60 It is disappointing that 

MOPAC and the CPS have not made more progress in this area. 

We heard concerns about the “patchy” knowledge of hate crime and its 

application by the judiciary as well as the need for better training. This 

risks leaving victims feeling that the decisions taken by the courts are 

not robust. We also heard concerns that victims of hate crime are not 

having their needs met when it comes to court processes, with the 

Centre for Hate Studies suggesting that one of the reasons victims 

disengage with the justice system is because of a disregard for their 

needs and rights to reasonable adjustments.61 

 

 

CPS prosecutions and convictions for hate crime  
 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 

London 
Prosecutions 3,369 3,509 3,643 3,209 

Convictions 2,676 (79%) 2,720 (76%) 2,645 (77%) 2,511 (78%) 

Greater Manchester 
Prosecutions 932 954 780 732 

Convictions 830 (89%) 818 (86%) 664 (85%) 638 (87%) 

West Yorkshire 
Prosecutions 677 818 764 665 

Convictions 563 (83%) 720 (88%) 656 (86%) 592 (89%) 

West Midlands 
Prosecutions 964 1,380 1,605 1,471 

Convictions 802 (83%) 1,179 (85%) 1,366 (85%) 1,283 (87%) 

National  
Prosecutions 14,738 15,442 14,480 14,151 

Convictions 
12,220 
(83%) 

12,846 
(83%) 

12,072 
(83%) 

11,987 
(85%) 

Source: Crown Prosecution Service, Hate crime reports 

The poor experiences of, and outcomes for, hate crime victims is most 

starkly evidenced in terms of disability hate crime. We heard that “the 

court process can be really traumatising for disabled people” with 

physical access issues; a lack of British Sign Language interpreters or 

P
age 130

https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/hate-crime-reports


September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 21  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

specially trained officers to take the statements; and no easy to read 

documents to understand the process. Inclusion London has suggested 

that victims sometimes must wait in the same area as a defendant and 

that they have experienced continued abuse from perpetrators while 

waiting to go to court.62 We acknowledge that these issues are not 

within the direct power of the Mayor to resolve. Nonetheless, these are 

fundamental issues that the courts in London need to address. 

Prosecution and conviction rates for disability hate crime are particularly 

low, with around 57 per cent of 68 prosecutions in 2017-18 resulting in 

a conviction.63 Disability hate crime allows for an uplift in sentence and 

it was suggested that courts are “unwilling to uplift sentences for DHC 

[Disability Hate Crime] even though the legislation exists” with research 

showing that “many judges are not even aware of the potential for 

uplift”.64 The disparity in the law around hate crime is something we will 

explore as part of the Law Commission’s hate crime consultation 

expected later this year, and we hope that the Mayor and MOPAC will 

do the same.  

The Mayor has said he will monitor satisfaction rates across the criminal 

justice system for hate crime victims. But it is not clear what he intends 

to do with this information and how he will leverage his unique position 

to lobby the Government and work with the CPS in London to make a 

positive difference to the wider criminal justice response to hate crime 

and experiences of victims who choose to pursue their case through the 

courts.  

Recommendation 

• By March 2020, the Mayor should set out how he has used his 

powers and influence to contribute to an improvement in the 

practices of the criminal justice system in how it responds to the 

specific needs of hate crime victims. 

 

  

P
age 131



September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 22  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

Conclusion
 

We are acutely aware of the current challenges in terms of tackling hate 

crime, and the impact that local, regional and world events can have on 

Londoners’ experiences of hate crime. This only makes the need for 

effective prevention, response and support for victims even more 

important.  

The evidence we heard suggests that, while some progress is being 

made, there are further steps that the Mayor needs to take to achieve 

his ultimate goal of a reduction in hate crime. This includes awareness 

raising, working with offenders and providing suitable funding to 

support as many victims as possible. He also needs to better 

demonstrate the difference that is being made by the police, courts and 

specialist support services, so that, ultimately, no matter where 

someone lives in London, or who they are, if they experience hate crime 

they can have the confidence it will be dealt with and can rely on getting 

the support that they need. 

 

 

 

Our recommendations: 

• The Mayor should report back to the committee by the end of 

October 2019 as to how he is specifically measuring whether more 

victims of hate crime are coming forward to report. 

 

• MOPAC’s Evidence and Insight Team should, by the end of this 

financial year, carry out an in-depth analysis into the reasons for 

the increase in recorded hate crime, similar to the analysis it 

carried out on domestic abuse and sexual offences. This research 

must be used to assess progress in encouraging victims to come 

forward and report, identify whether interventions around hate 

crime are fit for purpose and identify what level of resource will be 

required to deliver support services. 

 

• By the end of this calendar year, MOPAC should publish 

information on the level of repeat victimisation for each strand of 

hate crime as part of the regular updates to its hate crime 

dashboard. 

 

• The Mayor should step in to expedite the roll out of the Met’s 

school education programme on hate crime, and report back to 

this committee by the end of October 2019 on the detail about the 

programme, including how it will be delivered across all schools. 

P
age 132



September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 23  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

 

• By the end of this year, the Mayor needs to put in place 

arrangements with CPS London and the Met to gather detailed 

data on the charging, prosecution and conviction rates for each 

specific strand of hate crime. This information should be published 

as part of the regular updates to MOPAC’s hate crime dashboard. 

 

• By the end of October 2019 the Mayor should provide this 

committee with information as to how he is regularly and 

proactively raising awareness of hate crime among all Londoners. 

In addition to this, the Mayor could consider:  

o holding an annual London event to raise awareness of hate 

crime, increase community cohesion and celebrate London’s 

diversity 

o working more proactively with organisations such as sporting 

and cultural institutions to encourage them to promote 

awareness of hate crime and how to prevent it, and to counter 

divisive messages 

o renewing his commitment to initiatives like the #LondonisOpen 

campaign, in particular the use of social media in that 

campaign, given the recent rise in hate crime 

 

• MOPAC should work with the Met, other police services in London 

and anti-hate crime organisations to improve the knowledge base 

around hate crime offenders, reporting back to this committee by 

the end of this financial year on its findings. 

 

• MOPAC should complete an assessment of what, if any, 

interventions are in place across London to work specifically with 

hate crime offenders. Using the results of the assessment and the 

improved knowledge base around hate crime offenders, MOPAC 

should set out how it will help to improve the level and quality of 

work with hate crime offenders across the capital. 

 

• By the end of the year MOPAC and the Met should review the 

provision of Hate Crime Liaison Officers in each BCU against the 

data available on hate crime and advice from anti-hate crime 

organisations, to identify whether BCUs need additional Liaison 

Officers. 

 

• The Met should ensure that frontline officers’ training on hate 

crime specifically covers the challenges of hate crime specific to 

their BCU. 

 

P
age 133



September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 24  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

• The Mayor should, by the end of this year, make information 

available to Londoners about the organisations that are providing 

support to victims of hate crime. This includes projects funded by 

local authorities and the Government. 

 

• The improvements in the analysis and data around hate crime 

recommended in this report must be used to better determine the 

level of demand for a pan-London hate crime advocacy service 

prior to retendering. The Mayor must ensure that MOPAC 

commissions a properly funded pan-London hate crime advocacy 

service and should report back to this committee by the end of this 

year on his plans for the future of the advocacy service. 

 

• By March 2020, the Mayor should set out how he has used his 

powers and influence to contribute to an improvement in the 

practices of the criminal justice system in how it responds to the 

specific needs of hate crime victims. 

 

  

P
age 134



September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 25  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

Our investigation
 

 

The committee’s investigation aimed to:  

• assess the Mayor’s progress in protecting Londoners from hate 

crime 

• assess the Mayor’s progress in delivering better support for victims 

of hate crime 

• examine the effectiveness and impact of the MPS’s operational 

response to hate crime 

• examine the role third sector organisations can play in assisting the 

Mayor and Met’s response to hate crime 

The committee held a meeting in public with the following guests on 23 
May 2019: 

• Dave Rich, Head of Policy, Community Security Trust 

• Henrietta Doyle, Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London  

• Iman Atta, Director, TellMAMA 

• Jemma Levene, Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate           

• Louise Holden, Hate Crime Partnership Manager, London Deaf & 

Disabled People Organisation’s Hate Crime Partnership 

• Nick Antjoule, Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop  

• Superintendent Waheed Khan, Metropolitan Police 

The committee also gathered written evidence from organisations 
working to tackle hate crime. Our thanks go to those who contributed 
their views to our work: 

• British Transport Police 

• Campaign against Antisemitism 

• Centre for Hate Studies 

• David Wilkin, Lead Coordinator: Disability Hate Crime Network 

• Galop 

• Inclusion London 

• Merton Centre for Independent Living 

• Redbridge Equalities and Community Council 

• Stop Hate UK 

• Susan Hailes 

Copies of the evidence the committee received can be found at 

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-

assembly-committees/police-and-crime-committee      

P
age 135

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-committees/police-and-crime-committee
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-committees/police-and-crime-committee


September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 26  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

The London Assembly Police and Crime Committee
 

 

Contact 

For media enquiries about this report, please contact Aoife Nolan, 
External Communications Officer: 

Aoife.Nolan@london.gov.uk / 020 7983 4067  

For inquiries about this report or the Police and Crime Committee, 

please contact the Assembly’s Scrutiny team: 

policeandcrimecommittee@london.gov.uk / 020 7983 4760 

 
  

Len Duvall AM 
Labour 

Florence 
Eshalomi AM 
Labour 

Susan Hall AM 
Conservative 

Andrew Dismore 
AM 
Labour 

Caroline Pidgeon 
MBE AM 
Liberal Democrat 

Unmesh Desai 
AM (Chair) 
Labour 

Steve O’Connell 
AM (Deputy 
Chairman) 
Conservative 

Sian Berry AM 
Green  

Peter Whittle AM 
Brexit Alliance 
Group 

Tony Arbour AM 
Conservative 

P
age 136

mailto:Aoife.Nolan@london.gov.uk
mailto:policeandcrimecommittee@london.gov.uk


September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 27  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

References 

1 Peter Whittle of the Brexit Alliance Group dissented from this report, stating: ‘We 
have fundamental concerns about the subjective nature of the definition of hate crime 
- a criminal offence which requires no evidence. We believe that existing laws are 
sufficient to address this issue. Consequently, we do not support this report.’ 
2 GLA, Survey of Londoners Headline findings, June 2019 
3 Metropolitan Police, Hate crime or special crime dashboard; and Home Office, Hate 
Crime, England and Wales 2017/18, 16 October 2018  
4 Metropolitan Police, What is hate crime; and Crown Prosecution Service, Hate crime  
5 Metropolitan Police, Hate crime or special crime dashboard 
6 Written submission from the British Transport Police.  
7 Metropolitan Police data, A count of Hate Crime Offences and Victims for the period 
2012 to 2018, extracted July 2019       
8 Mayor’s Questions, 2019/3850, February 2019   
9 Metropolitan Police, Hate crime or special crime dashboard 
10 MOPAC, Justice matters presentation on hate crime, March 2019 
11 Metropolitan Police data, A count of Hate Crime Offences and Victims for the period 
2012 to 2018, extracted July 2019  
12 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019 
13 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019 
14 MOPAC, Justice matters presentation on hate crime, March 2019 
15 BBC News, London bus attack: Arrests after gay couple who refused to kiss beaten, 7 
June 2019; and BBC News, Homophobic night bus attack: Four teens charged, 25 July 
2019 
16 Written submission by Inclusion London 
17 See, for example, comments made in written submissions by Stop Hate UK and 
Susan Hailes  
18 BBC News, Transgender hate crimes recorded by police go up 81%, 29 June 2019  
19 True Vision website 
20 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019 

 
21 MOPAC, Justice matters presentation on hate crime, March 2019 
22 Written submission from Inclusion London 
23 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019. See also written 
submission from Galop 
24 See, for example, meetings of the Police and Crime Committee, 14 May 2019 and 23 
May 2019; and written submission from the Campaign against antisemitism 
25 The Met has said that shortly after the referendum the Met saw a 10 per cent 
increase in racist and religious hate crime incidents. See Meeting of the Police and 
Crime Committee, 19 July 2016; and House of Commons Library, Hate Crime Statistics, 
March 2019. The Home Office notes that there have been spikes in recorded hate 
crime following terrorist attacks. See Home Office, Hate Crime England and Wales, 
2017/18, October 2018 and MOPAC, Justice matters presentation on hate crime, 
March 2019; and Metropolitan Police, Hate crime or special crime dashboard 
26 MOPAC, Beneath the Numbers: An exploration of the increases of recorded 
Domestic Abuse and Sexual Offences, 27 February 2019 
27 See Home Office, Hate Crime England and Wales, 2017/18, October 2018. Personal 
crimes are defined by the Home Office as those against the individual and only relate 
to the respondent’s own personal experience (not that of other people in the 
household). Household crimes cover property crimes which target the household more 
generally (for example, burglary, criminal damage, or vehicle-related theft) 
28 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019 
29 Home Office, Hate Crime England and Wales, 2017/18, October 2018  
30 See, for example, Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019; and 
written submissions from David Wilkin, Lead Coordinator: Disability Hate Crime 
Network, Campaign against Antisemitism, Merton Centre for Independent Living; 
Redbridge Equalities and Community Council and Inclusion London 
31 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019 
32 Mayor of London, A Safer City for All Londoners, March 2017 
33 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019 

                                                      

P
age 137

https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/survey-of-londoners-headline-findings?utm_campaign=Survey%20of%20Londoners%3A%20Headline%20findings&utm_source=emailCampaign&utm_content=&utm_medium=email
https://www.met.police.uk/sd/stats-and-data/met/hate-crime-dashboard/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748598/hate-crime-1718-hosb2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748598/hate-crime-1718-hosb2018.pdf
https://www.met.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/hco/hate-crime/what-is-hate-crime/
https://www.cps.gov.uk/hate-crime
https://www.met.police.uk/sd/stats-and-data/met/hate-crime-dashboard/
https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2019/3850
https://www.met.police.uk/sd/stats-and-data/met/hate-crime-dashboard/
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mopac_justice_matters_hate_crime_-_13_march_2019_-_presentation.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mopac_justice_matters_hate_crime_-_13_march_2019_-_presentation.pdf
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-london-48555889
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-london-49119947
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-48756370
http://www.report-it.org.uk/home
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mopac_justice_matters_hate_crime_-_13_march_2019_-_presentation.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b14619/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%204%20Tuesday%2019-Jul-2016%2010.00%20Police%20and%20Crime%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8537
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748598/hate-crime-1718-hosb2018.pdf#page=7
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748598/hate-crime-1718-hosb2018.pdf#page=7
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mopac_justice_matters_hate_crime_-_13_march_2019_-_presentation.pdf
https://www.met.police.uk/sd/stats-and-data/met/hate-crime-dashboard/
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/201902_beneath_the_numbers_-_an_exploration_of_the_increases_of_recorded_domestic_abuse_and_sexual_offences_v1.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/201902_beneath_the_numbers_-_an_exploration_of_the_increases_of_recorded_domestic_abuse_and_sexual_offences_v1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748598/hate-crime-1718-hosb2018.pdf#page=7
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/748598/hate-crime-1718-hosb2018.pdf#page=7
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mopac_police_and_crime_plan_2017-2021.pdf


September 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Police and Crime Committee I 28  

Police and Crime Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Hate crime 

                                                                                                                                  
34 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019 
35 Mayor of London, A Safer City for All Londoners, March 2017 
36 Meeting of the GLA Oversight Committee, 1 July 2019 
37 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019 
38 NatCen, The experiences of victims of hate crime, October 2018 
39 Written submission from the British Transport Police 
40 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019 
41 Written submission by Stop Hate UK  
42 MOPAC, Hate Crime Dashboard 
43 Mayor of London, Mayor launches new unit to tackle online hate crime, 
24 April 2017 
44 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 14 May 2019 
45 See, for example, written submission by Redbridge Equalities and Community 
Council  
46 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019 
47 Written submission by Inclusion London  
48 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 4 June 2019 
49 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 4 June 2019 
50 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 14 May 2019 

51 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019 
52 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019 
53 Written submission by Susan Hailes  
54 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019 
55 MOPAC, Justice Matters transcript on hate crime, 13 March 2019 
56 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019. See also written 
submission from Galop 
57 MOPAC, Justice Matters transcript on hate crime, 13 March 2019 
58 DMPC Decision PCD 623, September 2019 
59 Meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 14 May 2019 
60 Greater Manchester’s conviction rate was 87 per cent; West Yorkshire 89 per cent; 
and the West Midlands 87 per cent. See Crown Prosecution Service, Hate Crime Annual 
Report 2017–18, 16 October 2018  
61 Written submission by the Centre for Hate Studies 
62 Written submission from Inclusion London  
63 Crown Prosecution Service, Hate crime reports 
64 See written submission by the David Wilkin, Lead Coordinator: Disability Hate Crime 
Network. Also see meeting of the Police and Crime Committee, 23 May 2019; and 
written submission from Inclusion London 

P
age 138

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mopac_police_and_crime_plan_2017-2021.pdf
http://natcen.ac.uk/our-research/research/the-experiences-of-victims-of-hate-crime/
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/mayors-office-policing-and-crime-mopac/data-and-statistics/hate-crime-dashboard
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-launches-unit-to-tackle-online-hate-crime
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mopac_justice_matters_-_13_march_2019_-_hate_crime_-_transcript.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mopac_justice_matters_-_13_march_2019_-_hate_crime_-_transcript.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/mayors-office-policing-and-crime-mopac/governance-and-decision-making/mopac-decisions-0/uplift-funding-support-victims-hate-crime
https://www.cps.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/publications/cps-hate-crime-report-2018.pdf
https://www.cps.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/publications/cps-hate-crime-report-2018.pdf
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/hate-crime-reports


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Question and Answer Session with the 
Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and the 
Metropolitan Police Service  

 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 15 October 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report serves as a background paper to the monthly question and answer session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) and the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS).  

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 

2.1 That the Committee notes the monthly report from the Mayor’s Office for Policing and 

Crime, attached at Appendix 1 to the report, as background to the question and answer 

session with the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime and the Metropolitan Police 

Service.    

 

2.2 That the Committee notes the answers given by the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime 

and the Metropolitan Police Service to the questions asked by Members. 

 
 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Committee has agreed that it will hold monthly question and answer sessions with the         

Head of MOPAC and invite representation from the MPS.   

 

3.2 MOPAC produces a monthly report providing an update on policing operational and financial 

performance, as well as the activities and decisions of MOPAC.  The report is used to inform 

questions to MOPAC and the MPS at monthly question and answer sessions.  The latest report is 

attached at Appendix 1. 
 

Page 139

Agenda Item 6



        

4. Issues for Consideration 

 

4.1 Sophie Linden, the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime, will be joined by Sir Stephen House QPM, 

Deputy Commissioner, MPS, to answer questions on the following topics: 

 MOPAC Annual Report, published in August, under its key themes: 

o A better police force for London; 

o A better justice service for London; 

o Tackling violence against women and girls; 

o Keeping children and young people safe; 

o Tackling violence against women and girls;  

o Standing together against hatred, tolerance and extremism; and 

o A better justice system for London; and  

o MOPAC’s budget. 

 

 Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary, Fire and Rescue Services PEEL report, 

published on 27 September 2019. 

 

 Update on preparations for Brexit.  

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

Appendix 1 – MOPAC Monthly report  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None. 

 

Contact Officer: Tanya Lightfoot-Taylor, Policy Adviser 

Telephone: 020 7983 2598 

E-mail: tanya.lightfoot-taylor@london.gov.uk 
 

Page 140

mailto:tanya.lightfoot-taylor@london.gov.uk


   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Report to the Police and Crime Committee 
 

 
Tuesday 15 October 2019 
10am 
City Hall 
 
 
Sophie Linden  
Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime 
 
 

Appendix 1

Page 141



   

 

 
 

1 INTRODUCTION 
 
This report is provided to the Police and Crime Committee (PCC) for its 15 October 2019 meeting, to assist 
the Committee to exercise its function in scrutinising and supporting the Mayor’s Office for Policing And 
Crime (MOPAC) and to hold it to account. 
 
This report covers the period from 24 August 2019 to 3 October 2019.  
 
In addition to the range of regular meetings and briefings with key stakeholders, including senior 
Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) officers, below are the main activities I have been involved in and/or 
where MOPAC has been represented.  
 
2 MOPAC ACTIVITY REPORT 
 
Knife Crime and Violence 

Throughout the reporting period I have continued to focus on tackling knife crime and violence in London. 

The Mayor and I received regular updates from the Commissioner concerning the Violent Crime Taskforce’s 

activities as well as wider MPS activity. During this time, I have been working closely with the Mayor and the 

Violence Reduction Unit Director Lib Peck. 

On 28 August 2019, I met with Patrick Green (CEO, Kinsella Trust) to discuss the work of the Kinsella Trust 

and the work of City Hall to reduce violent crime. 

On 3 September 2019, I chaired the Violence Reduction Board (VCRB) where I discussed the development of 
the work programme of the VRU and the emerging trends of violence in London. 
 
On 5 September 2019, I visited the Peabody Gloria House project where I was shown how their service assists 
vulnerable adults discharged from the Royal London Hospital. 
 
On 5 September 2019, the Mayor and I attended the City Hall event “An evening with Redthread” hosted by 
Caroline Pidgeon AM. The Mayor spoke in support of celebrating the past fifteen years of work this charity 
has undertaken to empower young people to thrive as they navigate the challenging transition to adulthood 
by integrating trauma-informed youth work into the health sector. 
 
On 6 September 2019, I met with the Bishop of Edmonton, Rob Wickham, to hear about the work of the 
diocese in London and to discuss opportunities for collaboration concerning violence reduction. 
 
On 11 September 2019, I spoke at the Trading Standards event on knife crime during Trading Standards 
Week 2019. The event launched a new toolkit for retailers to tackle the illegal sale of knives. The Responsible 
Retailers’ toolkit was part-funded by City Hall. The toolkit includes online video training for knife retailers, 
the pan-London Responsible Retailer’s Agreement and other guidance to help small businesses to store and 
sell knives safely.  
 
On 18 September 2019, Claire Waxman (London’s Victims’ Commissioner) and I attended the Government 
Roundtable on the Support for Victims which focused on Rape Crisis Centre. This was an opportunity to 
highlight some of the many issues rape victims are facing in London and discuss Government funding of 
those services working to support them. 
 
On 24 September 2019, I met with Dr Tirion Havard (Southbank University) to discuss domestic abuse and 
the phenomenon of coercive control through mobile phones.  
 
On 25 September 2019, I met with meet Julie Bentley (Chief Executive for Action for Children), Paul Carberry 
(Director for Service Development) and Colin Wilson (Head of the Commodities, Communities and 
Engagement Unit for the Home Office). They shared their learning from their Serious Organised Crime Early 
Intervention Service in Glasgow 

 Page 142



   

 

 
 

 
Visits 
 
On 13 September 2019, I visited the Arsenal in the Community Hub in Islington. I met with Cllr Richard Watts 
(Leader), Cllr Kaya Comer-Schwartz (Executive Member for Children, Young People and Families) and Cllr 
Andy Hull (Executive Member for Finance, Performance & Community Safety). Alongside other community 
partners we attended a roundtable on Islington’s approach to reducing youth crime and violence. 
 
On 13 September 2019, I met with senior Met officers, Camden Council Leader Georgia Gould and 
community groups. We discussed how all of us can work together to bring those responsible to justice and 
support the community. 
 
On 17 September 2019, I made a borough visit with Tulip Siddiq MP to Camden. We visited local areas of 
concern and then had a Q&A session with local residents 
 
On 20 September 2019, I visited the Fight for Peace Academy in Newham to see the sessions they run for 
young people to divert them away from crime. The Fight for Peace Academy receive funding from the 
Mayor’s Young Londoner’s Fund. 
 
On 27 September 2019, the Mayor and I met with the leaders of Black Majority Churches to discuss matters 
affecting their communities. 
 
On 3 October 2019, I visited Haringey to meet with Cllr Mark Blake (Cabinet Member for Communities and 
Equalities), David Lammy MP and Catherine West MP to discuss policing in the borough. 
 
Drive Forward 
 
On 16 September 2019, I hosted and spoke at the Conference on the Criminalisation of Young People in 
London’s Care System organised by Drive Forward. I spoke about our shared commitment to Drive Forward’s 
agenda to promote existing work to support care-experienced people and to reduce unnecessary 
criminalisation of young people.  
 
Ministry of Justice 
 
On 3 September 2019, I attended the MOJ Victims Panel, chaired by the Victims Minister Edward Argar MP. 

There were discussions on the Government’s delivery against the commitments in the Victims Strategy, the 

Domestic Abuse Bill and support for young victims of serious violence. 

CONTEST BOARD 
 
On 25 August 2019, I chaired the London CONTEST BOARD. The aim of the London CONTEST Board is to 

provide a strategic lead in addressing London’s threat, risks and vulnerabilities in relation to counter-

terrorism. The board looks across the CONTEST strategy, encompassing Protect, Prepare, Pursue and 

Prevent. 

Empowering Women, Transforming Lives 
 
On 4 September 2019, I spoke at the Empowering Women, Transforming Lives event at the Supreme Court. I 

spoke about the work City Hall is doing to support women with a focus on London’s Blueprint for a Whole 

Systems Approach to Women in Contact with the Criminal Justice System. 

Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) 
On 5 September 2019, I had a meeting with the ICO to discuss information sharing and continuing activity 
following the Gangs Matrix review. 
 
London BIDs (Business Improvement Districts) Against Crime {LBAC} 

Page 143

https://twitter.com/Georgia_Gould
https://twitter.com/Georgia_Gould


   

 

 
 

 
On 5 September 2019, I met with LBAC London BIDs Against Crime to discuss the recommendations in their 
report “Safe and Secure”. LBAC is a group of BIDs Business Improvement Districts and BCRPs (Business 
Crime Reduction Partnerships) across London who come together to work on initiatives that reduce crime in 
town centres and improve security across the capital through investment, partnerships and sharing of best 
practice 
 
HMICFRS 
 
On 17 September 2019, I had my regular meeting with Matt Parr (HM Inspector of Constabulary and HM 
Inspector of Fire & Rescue Services). This is a quarterly meeting where I discussed recent inspections and Met 
performance.  
 
Tell MAMA and Faith Matters 
 
On 18 September 2019, I met with Fiyaz Mughal (Founder of Tell MAMA and Director of Faith Matters) and 
Iman Atta (Director of Tell MAMA and Deputy Director of Faith Matters) to hear about Tell MAMA and Faith 
Matters’ views on current extremism trends and to discuss the protective security of places of worship. 
 
EduKit 
 
On 19 September 2019, I met with Nathalie Richards (Director, Edukit) to discuss school leavers and 
recruitment to the Met. 
 
London Child Protection Policing Improvement Oversight Group 
 
On 19 September 2019, I chaired the London Child Protection Policing Improvement Oversight Group. 
 
Victims’ Commissioner for England and Wales 
 
On 19 September 2019, I met with Dame Vera Baird (Victims’ Commissioner for England and Wales) to 
discuss her new role and opportunities for collaboration. 
 
NACRO 
 
On 19 September 2019, I met with Campbell Rob (CEO, Nacro) to hear about the work and plans of NACRO. 
It is also an opportunity to introduce the VRU to Nacro and to discuss potential areas of collaboration 
between NACRO, MOPAC and the VRU. Nacro is a national social justice charity with more than 50 years’ 
experience of changing lives, building stronger communities and reducing crime. They work with a broad 
range of young people and adults across education, resettlement and rehabilitation, health and wellbeing, 
and housing services. 
 
Barclays UK 
 
On 19 September 2019, I met with Kirstie Mackey (Managing Director, Citizenship & Consumer Affairs, 
Barclays UK) to discuss how MOPAC and the VRU can work collaboratively with Barclay’s Lifeskills 
Programme.  
 
National Learning Network 
 
On 24 September 2019, I spoke at the police National Learning Network Event at City Hall. I stated MOPAC’s 
commitment to delivering an improved experience and better outcomes for the public by investing in the 
workforce so that they have the capabilities to meet current and future demand. The project led by MOPAC 
is a collaboration with academics and policing practitioners designed to support all 43 Home Office forces to 
transform their Learning and Development functions so that they can increase workforce capability to meet 
the increasing and complex demands 
 Page 144



   

 

 
 

 
Met Black Police Association (BPA) 
 
On 26 September 2019, I spoke at the Met BPA 25th Anniversary Celebration to show support for the Met 
BPA and their role as a staff support association. 
 
190 years of the Metropolitan Police Service celebration 
 
On 27 September 2019, I spoke at the 190 years of the Metropolitan Police Service celebration to show 
continued support for the Met and their mission. 
  

Page 145



   

 

 
 

3 MPS PERFORMANCE  
Police data are now fully updated on the London data store. In addition, more police and crime data and 
information and interactive dashboards can be found a.   An overview of key crime types is below. 

 

Sept - Aug 2018/19 2019/20 % change

Total Notifiable Offences (TNO) 830,886 890,233 7.1%
TNO Victim Based 763,596 815,667 6.8%

ASB Anti-Social Behaviour Calls 241,347 267,045 10.6%
Violence Against the Person 207,951 217,412 4.5%
Violence with Injury 77,693 77,401 -0.4%
Homicide 142 131 -7.7%
Youth Homicide 30 30 0.0%
Serious Youth Violence 8,008 8,074 0.8%
Non Domestic Abuse VWI 53,646 53,598 -0.1%
Violence without Injury 130,116 139,880 7.5%
Domestic Abuse Notifiable 82,786 88,061 6.4%
Domestic Abuse Incidents 141,365 142,663 0.9%
Domestic Abuse VWI 24,047 23,803 -1.0%
Total Sexual Offences 20,576 20,103 -2.3%
Rape 8,310 7,930 -4.6%

Other Sexual Offences 12,266 12,173 -0.8%
Total Robbery 33,369 37,081 11.1%
Business Robbery 2,377 2,608 9.7%
Personal Robbery 30,992 34,473 11.2%
Total Burglary 79,370 80,929 2.0%
Burglary - Residential 59,181 59,807 1.1%
Burglary - Business and Community 20,189 21,122 4.6%
Total Vehicle 108,433 121,548 12.1%
Aggravated Vehicle Taking 976 990 1.4%
Theft from MV 62,785 73,424 16.9%
Theft or Taking of MV 30,306 31,047 2.4%
Total Theft Offences 219,259 244,927 11.7%

Theft from Person 43,982 51,240 16.5%
Bicycle Theft 19,486 20,707 6.3%
Shoplifting 45,376 43,884 -3.3%

Criminal Damage Arson and Criminal Damage Offences 5,146 4,185 -18.7%

Drugs Total Drugs Offences 35,983 43,563 21.1%
Possession of Weapons 7,802 7,340 -5.9%
Knife Crime Offences 14,932 14,847 -0.6%
Knife Crime With Injury 4,635 4,013 -13.4%
Knife Crime With Injury victims under 25 (non DA) 0 0 0.0%
Knife Crime with Injury Personal Robbery 632 579 -8.4%
Knife Possession 5,501 5,367 -2.4%
Gun Crime Offences 2,459 2,157 -12.3%
Gun Crime Lethal Discharge 385 336 -12.7%
Gun Crime Personal Robbery 643 510 -20.7%
Racist and Religious Hate Crime 16,188 17,649 9.0%
Faith Hate Crime 2,153 2,237 3.9%
Anti-Semitic 513 624 21.6%
Islamophobic 1,305 1,225 -6.1%
Sexual Orientation Hate Crime 2,248 2,586 15.0%
Transgender Hate 202 278 37.6%
Disability Hate Crime 428 423 -1.2%

Jun-18 Jun-19
p.p 

difference

Satisfaction Overall Satisfaction 68% 59% -9.0%

The police do a good job in the local area 65% 59% -6.0%

The police can be relied upon to be there when needed 74% 71% -3.0%
The police treat everyone fairly regardless of who they are 76% 76% 0.0%

The police are dealing with the things that matter to this community 68% 64% -4.0%

The police listen to the concerns of local people 71% 68% -3.0%

Feels well informed about local police activities over the last 12 months 42% 36% -6.0%

Public Attitude

Burglary

Vehicle

Theft

Weapons

Hate Crime

TNO

VAP

Domestic Abuse

Sexual Offences

Robbery

Page 146



     

 

 
4. Finance and Performance Report  

The financial reporting of MOPAC is on a quarterly basis, with any exceptional items to be noted on a 
monthly basis. The quarter two report will be annexed to the following PCC report dated 1384 
November 2019. 
 

Exceptional items: 

The Spending Round was delivered to Parliament on the 04/09/2019. Key announcements included: 

• Additional funding of £750m for the policing budgets with a headline figure of £750m allocated 
for 20/21. This is to meet a commitment to recruit 20,000 more officers by 2023 and to deliver 
an increase of 6,000 officers in 20/21. 

• An additional £45m of spend will take place in 19-20 to kickstart recruitment of new officers. 
This money will be split between funding for a national recruitment campaign and funding to 
recruit 2000-2500 officers by the end of the current financial years.  

• The 19/20 baseline has been secured which means that the 20/21 settlement includes both the 
pensions grant and the £100m for SV. They are not secured in the general grant baseline which 
means that HO will need to bid for them again in the next SR for 21/22 onwards. 

• The allocation of this funding across police forces has yet to be announced; the Home Office is 
responsible for providing this split. This applies to the £750m for 20/21 and the additional £45m 
for 19/20. 

• No announcements were made for new capital spend. Further capital announcements are 
expected in the autumn. 

  

Page 147



     

 

5. CORRESPONDENCE AND MAYOR’S QUESTIONS  
 
MOPAC manages and prioritises all Mayor’s Questions and correspondence received to ensure that it is 
meeting its obligation to respond in a timely manner and to a high standard 
 
5.1 Mayor’s Questions (MQs)  

Mayor’s 
questions           

Total received Responded to within 
the GLA agreed 
timeframe 

In percentage 
terms 

September 2018 126 110 87% 

October 2018 110 90 82% 

November plenary 2018 25 25 100% 

November 2018 183 129 70% 

December 2018 132 62 47% 

January 2019 82 73 89% 

February 2019 108 71 66% 

March 2019  62 56 90% 

April 2019  No MQs 

May 2019 187 146 78% 

June 2019 68 40 54% 

July 2019 97 53 58% 

August 2019 No MQs 

September 2019 84 58 69% 

  

Page 148



     

 

 
 
5.2       Correspondence received and responded to within 20 days 

Month Correspondence 
received 

Number responded 
to within 20 working 
days 

In percentage 
terms   

September 2018 158 148 94% 

October 2018 179 158 88% 

November 2018 307 279 91% 

December 2018 173 144 83% 

January 2019 187 164 88% 

February 2019 196 165 84% 

March 2019 233 200 86% 

April 2019 193 189 98% 

May 2019 193 182 94% 

June 2019 104 66 63% 

July 2019 177 167 94% 

August 2019 345 342 99% 

September 2019 180 168 93% 

  

Page 149



     

 

 
 
6. MOPAC BUSINESS AND MEETINGS 
 
In the last month, my office and I have had a range of meetings with key stakeholders and MPS officers 
in support of the Mayor.  
 
6.1 Regular Meetings with: 

• the Mayor and his Team 

• the Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner  

• MPS Senior Officers 

• Partners including local authorities, criminal justice agencies, government departments, policing 
bodies, service providers and community groups. 
 

Meetings are covered in section 3.  

  

Page 150



     

 

6.2 Decisions 
The following formal decisions have been published since the last report: 
 

Policing 
and Crime 
Decision 

(PCD) 
Number 

Formal Decisions published 

PCD 477 

Specialist Crime Target Operating Model and 

Specialist Crime Tasking and Co-ordination 

Centre Outline Business Case 

PCD 484 
Intelligence Target Operating Model Phase 1 

Outline Business Case 

PCD 492 Police Property Act Fund  

PCD 542 Stakeholder and Community Campaigns  

PCD 568 
Children and Young People’s Victim Service in 

2019 - 2020 

PCD 604 Treasury Management Outturn 2018/19  

PCD 623 
Uplift in funding to support victims of hate 

crime 

PCD 624 Write off of irrecoverable debts 2018/19 

PCD 630 

Request for financial assistance made by the 

Applicant for separate representation in Inquest 

proceedings   

PCD 631 Countering Violent Extremism Small Grants 

PCD 632 

Funding to the London Safeguarding Children 

Board, and borough Children and Adult 

Safeguarding Boards 

 
  

Page 151



     

 

 
6.3 Future MOPAC meetings 
 

 
 

7. Annexes 
 

None. 

 

 

 
  

 
 

Date  MOPAC Meeting 

11/10/2019 Justice Matters: Rape Review 

24/10/2019  London Crime Reduction Board  

30/10/2019 Violence Reduction Board 

02/12/2019 Delivery Management Group (DMG) 

09/12/2019 London CONTEST Board 

17/12/2019 Justice Matters: (Theme TBC) 

14/01/2020 London Crime Reduction Board 

Page 152



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Police and Crime Committee Work 
Programme  

 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 15 October 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out progress on the Police and Crime Committee’s work programme. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1  That the Committee notes the progress on its work programme as set out in the report. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Committee’s work programme is intended to enable the Committee to effectively fulfil its roles 

of holding the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) to account and investigating issues 

of importance to policing and crime reduction in London.  The Committee’s work involves a range of 

activities, including formal meetings with MOPAC, the Metropolitan Police Service (the MPS) and 

other stakeholders, site visits, written consultations and round table meetings. 

 

3.2 The Committee will usually meet twice a month (it will meet three times in October 2019).  One of 

the monthly meetings is usually to hold a question and answer (Q&A) session with the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime.  The Commissioner of the MPS has been invited to these meetings.  

The Committee will primarily use Q&A meetings to investigate topical issues and review MPS 

performance, including consideration of MOPAC’s approach to holding the MPS to account.  

 

3.3 The Committee’s other monthly meeting is used to consider a particular topic or aspect of policing 

and crime in greater detail.  These investigations will be conducted either by the full Committee or 

working groups.  Working groups will have delegated authority to prepare reports on the 

Committee’s behalf in consultation with party Group Lead Members.  Full reports will be approved 

and published by the full Committee. 
 

Page 153

Agenda Item 7



        

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
  

4.1  The work programme has been designed to proactively examine issues of interest but also allows for 

flexibility to respond to topical issues and for the Committee to react to MOPAC’s work programme. 

Topics will be added to the timetable for Q&A meetings as they arise.  The Committee may choose 

to use its thematic meeting slot for roundtables, briefings and site visits as well as formal committee 

meetings.  

 

4.2 The Committee’s programme currently includes the meeting slots set out in the table below: 

 

Meeting Date 
 

Type of Meeting 

Thursday, 3 October 2019 at 10am 
 

Briefing on Domestic abuse 
 

Tuesday, 15 October 2019 at 10am 
 

Q&A (3 PCC meetings in October) 
 

Wednesday, 30 October 2019 at 10am Domestic Abuse 
 

Wednesday, 13 November 2019 at 10am Q&A session 
 

Wednesday, 27 November 2019 at 10am 
 

Thematic 
 

Wednesday, 4 December 2019 at 10am Q&A session 
 

Thursday, 9 January 2020 at 10am 
 

Q&A session 

Wednesday, 22 January 2020 at 10am Thematic 
 

Wednesday, 5 February 2020 at 10am 
 

Q&A session 

Wednesday, 12 February 2020 at 10am 
 

Thematic 

Wednesday, 4 March 2020 at 10am  
 

Q&A session 

Wednesday, 18 March 2020 at 10am 
 

Thematic 

 

 

Site Visits and Briefings 

4.3 From time to time the Committee undertakes site visits to support its work.  The Committee has 

previously agreed that it will undertake site visits to the MPS’s Basic Command Units and the 

Metropolitan Police Marine Policing Unit.  Members have also expressed an interest in visiting the 

Metropolitan Police Dog Support Unit.  These site visits will be arranged during the 

2019/20 Assembly year. 

 

 Legal Implications 

 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

Page 154



        

 

6. Financial Implications 

 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  None 

 

Contact Officer: Janette Roker, Senior Policy Adviser 

Telephone: 020 7983 6562 

E-mail: janette.roker@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 155

mailto:becky.short@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 156


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	PCC Minutes - Appendix 1 Transcript of Q&A
	PCC Minutes - 19 September 2019
	PCC Minutes - Appendix 1 - Transcript of Modern Slavery

	4 Summary List of Actions
	Appendix 1 - Actions from PCC meetings
	Appendix 2- Letter from DMPC to Chair re 14 May Q&A

	5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority
	Appendix 1 - PCC report - Hate crime

	6 Question and Answer Session with the Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service
	06b - Appendix 1 - MOPAC monthly report to PCC 15 October 2019

	7 Police and Crime Committee Work Programme



